
 

 

Meeting: Supportive Housing Services Tri-County Planning Body Meeting 

Date:  February 14th, 2024 

Time: 4:00pm-6:00pm 

Place: Metro Council Chambers, 600 NE Grand Ave, Portland, OR 97232 and Zoom 
Webinar  

Purpose: The Tri-County Planning Body (TCPB) will receive a presentation on the Supportive 
Housing Services Audit, discuss the Regional Landlord Recruitment and Retention 
goal and learn about the HMIS Strategic Sourcing Analysis report. 

 
 
 
4:00pm Welcome and Introductions   
 
4:10pm Public Comment   
 
4:15pm Supportive Housing Services Audit  
 
4:35pm Regional Landlord Recruitment and Retention Goal 
 
5:15pm HMIS Strategic Sourcing Analysis Update – Multnomah County 
 
5:55pm Closing and Next steps 
 

• Next meeting: March 13th, 2024  
 
6:00pm Adjourn  
 



Tri-County Planning Body Meeting Summary         

Page 1 
 

 
Meeting: Supportive Housing Services Tri-County Planning Body Meeting 
Date: Wednesday, January 10, 2024 
Time: 4:00 PM – 6:00 PM  
Place: Metro Council Chambers, 600 NE Grand Ave, Portland, OR 97232 and Zoom Webinar 
Purpose: The Tri-County Planning Body (TCPB) will receive an update and provide feedback 

on the progress of the Healthcare Systems Alignment work. 
 

 
Member attendees 
Co-chair Eboni Brown (she/her), Co-chair Matt Chapman (he/him), Zoi Coppiano (she/her), 
Mercedes Elizalde (she/her), Nicole Larson (she/her), Michael Ong Liu (he/him), Cristina Palacios 
(she/her), Steve Rudman (he/him), Mindy Stadtlander (she/her) 
Absent members 
Yvette Hernandez (she/her), Monta Knudson (he/him), Sahaan McKelvey (he/him) 
Elected delegates 
Washington County Chair Kathryn Harrington (she/her), Metro Councilor Christine Lewis 
(she/her), Multnomah County Chair Jessica Vega Pederson (she/her) 
Absent delegates 
Clackamas County Chair Tootie Smith (she/her), 
County staff representatives 
Clackamas County – Vahid Brown (he/him), Multnomah County – Breanna Flores (she/they), Kanoe 
Egleston (she/her), Washington County – Nicole Stingh (she/her), Jes Larson (she/her)  
Metro 
Abby Ahern (she/her), Melia Deters (she/her), Liam Frost (he/him), Emily Lieb (she/her), Valeria 
McWilliams (she/her), Patricia Rojas (she/her) 
Kearns & West Facilitators 
Ben Duncan (he/him), Ariella Dahlin (she/her) 
 
Note: The meeting was recorded via Zoom; therefore, details will be mainly focused on the 
discussions, with less detail regarding the presentations. Presentation slides are included in the 
archived meeting packet. 
 
Welcome and Introductions 
Ben Duncan, Kearns & West, welcomed the Tri-County Planning Body (TCPB) to the meeting, 
facilitated introductions between TCPB members, and reviewed the agenda. 

The TCPB approved the December Meeting Summary. 

 
Public Comment 
No public comment was received.  

 



Tri-County Planning Body Meeting Summary         

Page 2 
 

Staff Updates 
Nicole Stingh, Washington County, stated that Governor Tina Kotek’s Executive Order 2302 ended 
today and that Washington County exceeded all its goals. She added that Just Compassion Resource 
Center had its groundbreaking recently and that Washington County is hiring an equity coordinator 
for its housing department. She shared that for the Regional Landlord Recruitment and Retention 
Goal, county leadership from all three counties is narrowing down and prioritizing the 
recommendations and will develop a memo to share with the TCPB in February.  

Breanna Flores, Multnomah County, thanked the TCPB for their patience as they developed the 
memo. She shared that Multnomah County’s behavioral health department released a notice of 
funding award (NOFA) for a stabilization center with over 20 beds. She stated that last night the 
capacity building work group from the Supportive Housing Services (SHS) Advisory Committee is 
moving their recommendations forward to the SHS Advisory Committee.  

Vahid Brown, Clackamas County, shared that all three counties exceed their Executive Order goals, 
which is cause for celebration. He thanked community partners for their work in exceeding the 
goals and shared that Clackamas County released a NOFA for city-led initiatives to meet housing 
service needs in rural areas. He stated that Stacy Boom has joined Clackamas County’s housing 
department as the equity and engagement lead.  

Patricia Rojas, Metro, shared that 2023 was a year of growth for SHS, and is eager to make progress 
and address the housing crisis. She stated that Metro has hired four new staff to start in the next 
four weeks and several positions are still open. She shared that the Metro Auditor released the SHS 
audit which should be in TCPB members’ emails and that Metro leadership has drafted a response. 
She elaborated that the auditor will present to the TCPB at the next meeting and that the audit 
includes improvement areas.  

 

Progress Update: Homeless/Healthcare Systems Alignment Regional Goal   

Presentation  

Abby Ahern, Metro, reviewed the Homeless and Healthcare Systems Alignment Regional Goal 
timeline of work completed to date and work anticipated through 2024. She highlighted that Metro 
has been working with Homebase and convening with counties and healthcare systems 
stakeholders to identify alignment opportunities, including the Medicaid Waiver.   

Gillian Morshedi, Homebase, introduced herself and shared Health Share has been working on the 
Medicaid Waiver, Housing Benefit Pilot, and medical case conferencing pilots.  

Alyssa Craigie, Health Share, introduced herself and reminded the TCPB of Health Share’s August 
presentation that discussed the Medicaid Waiver. She shared that Health Share’s Housing Benefit 
Pilot program piloted a Medicaid housing benefit concept using health-related services funding, 
which resulted in 545 individuals enrolled in the program. She shared that the implementation of 
the housing benefit program has been postponed until November 2024 and the population has 
shifted to individuals at risk of houselessness.  

Gillian Morshedi, Homebase, shared a graphic that showed the structure of the regional systems 
alignment coordination, which includes three focus areas: Medicaid Waiver implementation, data 
integration, and systems integration implementation.  She stated that the regional leadership team 
provides oversight and coordination of healthcare/housing alignment work and will provide 
updates to the TCPB.  



Tri-County Planning Body Meeting Summary         

Page 3 
 

Acacia McGuire Anderson, Clackamas County, introduced herself and highlighted that Clackamas 
County has begun case conferencing with health providers, has received a grant from Kaiser to do 
respite care, and has been working to identify how to support those looking for housing or are 
newly housed.   

Lori Kelley, Multnomah County, shared they have begun a healthcare case conferencing pilot and 
chat team, and have moved the Frequent Users Systems Engagement (FUSE) project into the 
implementation phase, which has identified frequent users of the healthcare, criminal, and 
houseless systems and how to better address their needs.  

Allie Alexander Sheridan, Washington County, introduced herself and shared they have launched 
their Low Acuity Transitional Services (LATS) program at their Hillsboro site and have hired a new 
health and housing coordinator. She highlighted that they have added Care Oregon to their 
healthcare case conferencing program.  

Gillian Morshedi, Homebase, shared that members for the data integration work group have been 
identified and outreached and the group has been identified as key to moving alignment priorities 
forward. She stated that Homebase is developing a regional landscape of ongoing and planned 
healthcare/housing projects and priorities to identify common themes. She shared that this work 
would lead to recommendations that the counties will bring back to the TCPB. She stated that 
emerging priorities include Medicaid Waiver implementation, data sharing, respite/recuperative 
care, cross-system care coordination, and service integration.  

Valeria McWilliams, Metro, added that the SHS Oversight Committee recommendations overlap 
with some of these priorities.  

 

Questions and Answers 

Cristina Palacios shared that she has heard some workers are losing their health insurance because 
they are sick and because they are sick, they lose their employment and cannot get into housing. 
She asked what was being done about that and suggested extending their health insurance.  

Abby Ahern, Metro, replied that is a challenge across the country and they are currently 
working at a systems level. She reflected that continuity of care and accessing the services 
people need when they are eligible is integral to this work.  

Nicole Larson noticed that systems integration and substance use disorder are listed separately 
from case conferencing, and wondered if behavioral and mental health providers were included in 
case conferencing.  

Acacia McGuire Anderson, Clackamas County, replied that Clackamas County includes 
behavioral health in case conferences and Care Oregon.  

Allie Alexander Sheridan, Washington County, added that Care Oregon has joined the case 
conferencing table, but there are no substance abuse partner organizations at the table. She 
shared that there are care coordinators at the table and most case conferencing is done for 
specific individuals.  

Mercedes Elizalde asked what is meant by housing systems, and if it included all funding sources or 
just SHS.  

Abby Ahern, Metro, replied that they mean county housing leads and entities at the systems 
level that receive all funding sources.  



Tri-County Planning Body Meeting Summary         

Page 4 
 

Mercedes Elizalde noticed that housing providers weren’t at the table and asked when they would 
be engaged.  

Abby Ahern, Metro, replied that the question is being considered and the initial version of the 
leadership group was very large and included providers. She elaborated that when the priority 
population shifted, the leadership group shifted.  

Mercedes Elizalde stated that she is concerned that without providers at the table, there will 
be recommendations that aren’t doable in the suggested timeline and would slow the process 
down.  

Zoi Coppiano shared her excitement and concern for work groups, including unintended 
consequences with information exchange. She suggested being thoughtful when creating intake 
forms that are inclusive to communities.  

Nicole Larson stated that she is interested in the real-life application from a client perspective and 
reflected on her experience as a clinical case manager making multiple phone calls to access care. 
She assumed that after the case conferencing pilot stage it would expand to those experiencing 
homelessness.  

Abby Ahern, Metro, replied that they are trying to solve that scenario of administrative burden. 
She clarified that the case conferencing is not for those at risk of homelessness, that is the 
Medicaid Waiver’s population focus.  

Allie Alexander Sheridan, Washington County, added that what Nicole described is what they 
are trying to mitigate and over half of those in the case conferencing program have been 
unhoused for an average of six years. She shared that case conferencing creates notes for 
certain transactions such as who their primary care physician is, so when an individual 
disappears from a system and then appears at a shelter several months later, that data follows 
them.  

Nicole Larson asked if there is help for those who visit the emergency department in hospitals.  

Allie Alexander Sheridan, Washington County, responded that is a theme they see and case 
conferencing notes significant health engagement information. She shared there was a case 
where an individual had 90 emergency department visits and was connected to a primary care 
physician to mitigate those visits.  

Valeria McWilliams, Metro, circled back to Mercedes Elizalde’s comments regarding 
healthcare/housing systems recommendations and shared that they want to ensure there is enough 
time for feedback on the practicability of recommendations. She assured the TCPB that work would 
be adjusted to reflect their considerations and that timelines would be flexible as long as the work 
is moving forward correctly. 

Ben Duncan, Kearns & West, asked if he heard correctly there was a connection to the justice 
system with case conferencing.  

Lori Kelley, Multnomah County, replied that was part of the Frequent Users Systems 
Engagement (FUSE) program which includes justice-involved data, which is in the design 
phase.  

Washington County Chair Kathryn Harrington added that Washington County’s community 
corrections team is starting to link directly with the SHS team so that as folks are exiting the 
correction center, they have a connection to housing and support services. 



Tri-County Planning Body Meeting Summary         

Page 5 
 

Nicole Larson suggested adding case managers as folks to include at the table to identify any 
barriers and provide advice. 

Co-chair Eboni Brown shared that in Washington County there are weekly programs that meet with 
county staff and communicate what is and isn’t working.  

Cristina Palacios asked how Greater Good Northwest is getting input for what is and isn’t working 
for each system. 

Co-chair Eboni Brown replied that they receive information from case managers on what is and 
isn’t working and relay that information back to county staff at county-hosted regular meetings.  

Mercedes Elizalde reflected that everyone will have to change and try new things and wanted to 
clarify that feedback from providers would include things that are possible to implement within the 
current structure and also things that will require new structures and investments such as training. 
She added that specificity would be helpful as the TCPB moves towards determining the uses of the 
Regional Investment Fund (RIF).  

Co-chair Eboni Brown agreed and stated that medical input and case managers sharing information 
will be a positive game changer and lead to more trauma-informed practices.  

 

Health Share Substance Use Disorder / Mental Health Ecosystem Analysis 
Liam Frost, Metro, shared that the next presentation details the intersection of housing stability and 
the mental health ecosystem.  

Dr. Maggie Bennington-Davis, Health Share, introduced herself and shared that the ecosystem 
analysis focused on the nexus of substance use disorders, mental illness, and social determinants of 
health, specifically housing insecurity and homelessness. She shared that the goal of the analysis 
was to understand acuity and develop strategies to close service gaps and improve outcomes.  

Dr. Andy Mendenhall, Central City Concern, introduced himself and detailed key themes of the 
analysis including modest behavior health diagnosis growth and that 10% of the Health Share 
population of the behavioral health cohort is driving 38% of the total annual cost.  

Dr. Maggie Bennington-Davis, Health Share, shared an 18-month analysis of seven cohorts of Health 
Share members and how they touch various systems of care. She stated that they are just beginning 
to understand the overlap of homelessness and housing insecurity and emphasized that they do not 
have HMIS data, and labels of housing insecurities are at the discretion of clinicians.  

Dr. Andy Mendenhall, Central City Concern, detailed graphs that showcase data from Health Share 
cohort members and non-cohort members and how they compared inpatient admissions and 
population size to cost. 

Cristina Palacios noted that some folks aren’t able to receive help since there are not enough health 
care providers, and asked if that is included in the statistics.  

Dr. Andy Mendenhall, Central City Concern, replied they are just starting to scratch the surface 
of how cohorts are using the healthcare system broadly and stated that their team has been 
advancing recommendations for beds and workforce.  

Mercedes Elizalde asked if the data could be disaggregated for race and age.  

Dr. Andy Mendenhall, Central City Concern, replied they are committed to reporting on race, 
age, and ethnicity as they continue to go through the data. 



Tri-County Planning Body Meeting Summary         

Page 6 
 

Dr. Maggie Bennington-Davis, Health Share, reviewed the methodology used to collect behavioral 
health data and noted that the data represents behavioral health referrals/authorizations. She 
detailed graphs showing cohorts with no behavioral health authorization and shared they can 
disaggregate this data in a variety of ways including by geography and provider in the coming 
months.  

Dr. Andy Mendenhall, Central City Concern, highlighted that the Housing Benefit pilot had a marked 
difference in behavioral health needs. He shared strategies and ongoing alignment from the 
analysis, emphasizing that the nexus between homelessness and housing insecurity is critical and 
that their goal is for the Health Share collaborative partners to work together to focus on the high-
risk pool for high-acuity Medicaid members.  

Washington County Chair Kathryn Harrington shared that it is exciting to see this data and 
information and has hope that it will better inform practices in years ahead.  

Multnomah County Chair Jessica Vega Pederson agreed that the data is exciting and looked forward 
to seeing the disaggregated data. She shared it was nice to see that the individuals in the Medicaid 
waiver trial had better connections and looked forward to implementing key learnings.  

Michael Liu circled back to the statistic that 10% of the Health Share behavioral health cohort is 
driving 38% of the total annual cost. He asked how they can help that population get out of the cycle 
of relapse and what representation of that 10% has made it through the other side with positive 
outcomes. 

Dr. Andy Mendenhall, Central City Concern, replied that who is succeeding is the next phase of 
data analysis. He shared that getting access to the right levels of services for acuity would help 
that population and detailed examples of what that would look like for those with severe 
psychosis and substance abuse. 

Mindy Stadtlander thanked the presenters for sharing this information and looks forward to the 
opportunity to do better in both the housing and healthcare systems.  

 
Closing and Next Steps 
Ben Duncan, Kearns & West, began listing the next steps and detailing agenda topics for February’s 
meeting.  
Washington County Chair Kathryn Harrington noted that there were also going to be updates on the 
living wage goal on the agenda and that the agenda seems very full. She stated that the March 
meeting may need to be rescheduled if it falls on spring break.  

Liam Frost, Metro, replied that there were a number of intended February agenda items, and 
their team will determine priority topics for a healthy meeting time.  

Ben Duncan, Kearns & West, replied that they would follow up with more information on the 
agenda and confirm meeting dates.  

Ben Duncan, Kearns & West, shared that the next steps are: 
• Metro to follow up with a post-meeting survey to capture any additional questions and 

reflections.  
• Metro to follow up with February agenda items and confirm the March meeting date. 

o Next meeting: February 14th, 4-6pm. Possible agenda topics include: 
 Auditor Report 
 Landlord recruitment and retention recommendation updates 



Tri-County Planning Body Meeting Summary         

Page 7 
 

 Living wage goal updates 
• County leadership to develop a landlord recruitment and retention prioritization memo to 

share with the TCPB in February. 
• Health Share and Central City Concern to share disaggregated data once available. 

 

Adjourn 
Adjourned at 6:00 p.m. 



January 2024 
A Report by the Office of the Auditor 

 Supportive Housing Services: 
Shared oversight reduces transparency and accountability  

 

Brian Evans 
Metro Auditor 

 

David Beller 
Senior Management Auditor 

 

Paoa Wandke 
Senior Management Auditor 



Supportive Housing Services                                                                                             2                                                                                    The Office of Metro Auditor  
January 2024                                                                                                                        

 

 

Metro Accountability Hotline 
 
The Metro Accountability Hotline gives employees and citizens an avenue to report misconduct, 
waste or misuse of resources in any Metro or Metro Exposition Recreation Commission (MERC) 
facility or department. 
 
The Hotline is administered by the Metro Auditor's Office. All reports are taken seriously and 
responded to in a timely manner. The auditor contracts with a hotline vendor, EthicsPoint, to 
provide and maintain the reporting system. Your report will serve the public interest and assist 
Metro in meeting high standards of public accountability.  

To make a report, choose either of the following methods:  

Dial 888-299-5460 (toll free in the U.S. and Canada)  
File an online report at www.metroaccountability.org  



 

3   The Office of Metro Auditor                                                                                                                                                                                     Supportive Housing Services 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               January 2024 

 
MEMORANDUM  

 
January 10, 2024 
 
To:   Lynn Peterson, Council President  
   Ashton Simpson, Councilor, District 1  
   Christine Lewis, Councilor, District 2  
   Gerritt Rosenthal, Councilor, District 3  
   Juan Carlos Gonzalez, Councilor, District 4  
   Mary Nolan, Councilor, District 5  
   Duncan Hwang, Councilor, District 6 
 
From: Brian Evans, Metro Auditor  
 
Re: Audit of Supportive Housing Services Program  
 
This report covers the second audit of the Supportive Housing Services Program. The purpose was to 
follow up on audit recommendations made in May 2021, and assess the governance structure and 
performance processes. 
 
Metro made progress on the three previous recommendations. One was fully implemented, and two 
were in process. Although progress was made, the audit identified opportunities to strengthen oversight 
by reducing duplication in some areas and clearly assigning responsibility in others. 
 
The audit also identified weaknesses in the performance measurement system. Each part of the system 
needs to be aligned toward the same goals. Reliable data is needed to assess progress towards those 
goals. Decision-makers and the public need to be able to understand what the data means. Reliable data 
is important not only for current efforts, but to inform future actions. The region is likely to invest over 
$2.5 billion through the program. This level of funding provides a valuable learning opportunity to plan 
for the future. 
 
We have discussed our findings and recommendations with Marissa Madrigal, COO; Holly Calhoun, 
Deputy COO; Patricia Rojas, Housing Director; Liam Frost, Housing Deputy Director; Yesinia 
Delgado, Supportive Housing Services Program Manager; and Rachael Lembo, Finance Manager, 
Finance and Regulatory Services. I would like to acknowledge and thank all the people who assisted us 
in completing this audit. 
 
 

 

B r i a n  E v a n s  
Metro Auditor 

600 NE Grand Ave 
Portland, OR   97232-2736 

TEL 503 797 1892 



Supportive Housing Services                                                                                             4                                                                                    The Office of Metro Auditor  
January 2024                                                                                                                        

 

 

Summary In May 2020 voters in the Metro region approved a ballot measure to 
establish a region-wide supportive housing services program. The measure 
was intended to generate about $250 million annually to address the needs 
of people experiencing, or at risk of experiencing, homelessness.  
 
This is the second performance audit of Supportive Housing Services (SHS) 
implementation by the Office of the Metro Auditor. It follows up on 
recommendations made in 2021 and provides updated analysis of the 
oversight structure and performance measurement system.  
 
Metro made progress on the three recommendations made in the May 2021 
audit. One was fully implemented, and two were in process. Additional 
work on the first in process recommendation will be critical to create a 
performance measurement system that provides reliable and relevant 
information about program outcomes. Further oversight of administrative 
spending by the Regional Oversight Committee would help fully implement 
the second in process recommendation.  
 
The audit identified opportunities to strengthen oversight by reducing 
duplication in some areas and clearly assigning responsibility in others.  
Regional oversight and accountability are a shared responsibility. When 
multiple parties have broad responsibility over a program there is a risk that 
some responsibilities could be duplicated or overlooked. Specifying how 
each role relates to the others, and what timelines are needed to ensure 
timely alignment would enhance program oversight.  
 
Although the performance management system improved since 2021, gaps 
remain. We found variation in definitions, reports, and calculations that 
made it difficult to understand how the program had progressed. Ensuring 
reports are accurate and complete is an important element of accountability 
to the public. In addition, Metro will use monthly and quarterly data to 
monitor compliance with any corrective action plan, so data reliability is 
important to ensure agreements are followed.  
 
Reliable data is important not only for current efforts, but to inform future 
actions. The Tri-County Planning Body is tasked with creating a regional 
plan and fostering coordination between the counties. Starting to think 
about the long-term plan now will be critical to ensure that the region has a 
data-driven strategy to inform priorities when SHS taxes sunset at the end 
of 2030.  
 
The audit includes 18 recommendations. Seven were designed to ensure 
timely and ongoing program oversight. Six focus on improving the reliability 
and consistency of program performance data and reporting. The other five 
recommendations were made to identify programs that provide efficient, 
effective, and equitable services to inform long-term planning.  
 



 

5   The Office of Metro Auditor                                                                                                                                                                                     Supportive Housing Services 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               January 2024 

Background 

Exhibit 1      Supportive Housing Services were prioritized for two groups  

Source: Metro Supportive Housing Services Workplan.  

This is the second performance audit of Supportive Housing Services (SHS) 
by the Office of the Metro Auditor. The purpose of the first audit in 2021 
was to take an early look at performance measures for the SHS program. It 
included three recommendations to improve performance management, 
regional coordination, and financial oversight. This report includes 
information about the status of previous audit recommendations, and new 
analysis to address the program’s needs after two years of development.   
 
Metro distributes SHS funds to Clackamas, Multnomah, and Washington 
counties to provide services. Each county’s SHS programs are overseen by 
the elected Boards of County Commissioners and their respective advisory 
bodies. 
 
Metro provides oversight of the regional program and supports the Regional 
Oversight Committee and Tri-County Planning Body. The Regional 
Oversight Committee (ROC) reviews adherence to the SHS guiding 

In May 2020 voters in the Metro region approved a ballot measure to 
establish a region-wide supportive housing services program. The measure 
was intended to generate about $250 million annually to address the needs 
of people experiencing, or at risk of experiencing, homelessness. Program 
documents stated that 5,000 people experiencing long-term homelessness 
would be served, and 10,000 people experiencing short-term homelessness 
would be served. 
 
Seventy five percent of funds were expected to be spent on services for 
people experiencing long-term homelessness who also had one or more 
disabling conditions (Population A). The other 25% was intended for 
individuals experiencing, or at risk of experiencing, homelessness 
(Population B).  

Population A 

(75% of  funding) 

 

Population B 

(25% of  funding) 

 
• Extremely low-income; AND 
• Have one or more disabling 

conditions; AND 
• Are experiencing or at 

imminent risk of experiencing 
long-term or frequent episodes 
of homelessness 

• Individuals experiencing 
homelessness or have a 
substantial risk of 
experiencing 
homelessness 



Supportive Housing Services                                                                                             6                                                                                    The Office of Metro Auditor  
January 2024                                                                                                                        

 

 

Sources: Auditor ‘s Office visualization of  SHS governance structure based on program documents. 

Within Metro, the Housing Department (Metro Housing), the Chief 
Operating Officer’s Office (COO), and Finance and Regulatory Services 
(FRS), are involved in the SHS program. Metro Housing conducts most of 
Metro’s administrative responsibilities, while FRS provides financial review, 
oversees tax collection, and disburses revenue to counties. The COO’s 
Office is involved in resolving disputes between Metro and its partners.  
 
SHS was initially managed by Metro’s planning and development 
department. In fall 2022, Metro Housing became a separate department. It  
manages implementation of SHS and a separate program funding affordable 
housing construction.  
 

principles and counties’ implementation plans. The Tri-County Planning 
Body (TCPB) facilitates cooperation between counties through a series of 
regional strategies. The ROC is made of up of volunteers. TCPB members 
are appointed by each county and includes a mix of elected officials, public 
sector employees, and some volunteers. The City of Portland collects SHS 
taxes on behalf of Metro. 

Exhibit 2     SHS governance includes multiple layers of oversight,    
       implementation, and accountability  



 

7   The Office of Metro Auditor                                                                                                                                                                                     Supportive Housing Services 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               January 2024 

Revenue for the SHS program is generated from a marginal tax on personal 
income (1%) and business profits (1%) above certain thresholds. Metro 
reserves 5% of funds, after tax collection costs, for administrative expenses. 
Clackamas (21.33%), Multnomah (45.33%), and Washington (33.33%) 
counties receive the remaining revenue. 
  
Counties are expected to use their funding to cover administrative costs for 
their programs. Metro’s agreements with each partner do not limit their 
spending but recommend counties not exceed 10% for the long-term rental 
assistance voucher programs and 5% of all other programs. Based on 
current estimates, about 90% of SHS funds will go to the counties. 
 
The SHS tax began in January 2021 and is set to expire after ten years unless 
renewed by voters. Each county’s Local Implementation Plan guides how 
their funding will be used. The plans were reviewed by the ROC and 
approved by Metro Council in the spring of 2021. The first funds were 
distributed to counties in July 2021, but the intergovernmental agreements 
between each county and Metro were not signed until February 2022. Each 

Source: Auditor’s Office analysis of PeopleSoft data. Adjusted for inflation. 

SHS expenditures totaled about $272 million (adjusted for inflation) in the 
first three years of the program. County spending accounted for 76% of 
spending. About 10% went to the City of Portland for tax collection. The 
other 14% was spent on Metro’s personnel, materials and services, and 
debit service to implement the regional program. Metro’s staffing for the 
program averaged 5.4 FTE during the first two years. Budgeted FTE 
increased to 16 in FY 2022-23. An additional 18.7 FTE were approved in 
the FY 2023-24 budget, which may bring the total to about 35 FTE.  

Exhibit 3     The majority of SHS funds were distributed to the three   
       counties  

Type FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 Total 

Personnel $337,951  $692,540 $1,038,071 $2,068,562 

Materials  

& Services 
$3,313,902 $732,689 $3,470,276 $7,516,867 

Debit  

Service 
$4,254,325 $12,809,991 $12,034,845 $29,099,161 

Tax  

Collection 
$3,466,304 $15,130,235 $8,252,522 $26,849,060 

Counties $1,114,990 $59,525,526 $146,015,458 $206,655,974 

Total $12,487,472 $88,890,980 $170,811,173 $272,189,625 



Supportive Housing Services                                                                                             8                                                                                    The Office of Metro Auditor  
January 2024                                                                                                                        

 

 

year, counties are required to present a new budget and workplan to Metro 
and the ROC. 
 
There was uneven preparedness to use the funding among the three 
counties. The FY 2021-22 annual report stated that the program required a 
ramp up in capacity for all counties. Clackamas and Washington counties 
began the program with limited supportive housing programs compared to 
Multnomah County. Counties and their service providers had workforce 
shortages and other challenges that limited their ability to make use of 
available funds. 
  
About $592 million in SHS taxes was collected during the first three fiscal 
years. First year collections were relatively low. The tax generated 
significantly more revenue in its second ($243 million) and third fiscal years 
($348 million). 
  
Spending has not matched revenue in the first three fiscal years. In the first 
year, spending was more than available tax revenue. Metro issued bonds to 
cover the gap. Spending grew during the second ($89 million) and third years 
($171 million), but revenue exceeded expenditures. As a result, only 40% of 
the tax revenue collected in the first three fiscal years was spent, which has 
resulted in a large fund balance ($354 million). Metro predicts that it will take 
three to four years for county spending to match available revenues. During 
the audit, there were discussions within each county, and between Metro and 
the counties, about how to use the unspent revenue.  

Exhibit 4     Revenue has exceeded expenditures, resulting in a growing  
       fund balance  

Source: Auditor’s Office analysis of  data for the Supportive Housing Services Fund in Metro’s Annual  
Consolidated Financial Reports. 



 

9   The Office of Metro Auditor                                                                                                                                                                                     Supportive Housing Services 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               January 2024 

Exhibit 5     Services focus on different needs 

SHS also faced other challenges. Some taxpayers were issued fines in 2023 
for not paying the tax but were unaware of it. The fines were ultimately 
waived. 
  
In May 2023, Metro began a process to implement a corrective action plan 
with Multnomah County. The plan was intended to address underspending 
by Multnomah County as FY 2022-23 came to an end. Metro and 
Multnomah County reached agreement on the corrective action plan in 
August 2023, which will require more frequent and detailed reporting 
requirements moving forward. 
 
County programs provide a variety of supportive housing services. In SHS 
reports, the types of services appear to be based on the names created by 
the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). For 
example, HUD’s permanent supportive housing is a type of service funded by 
SHS, but it is not the only one. Rapid re-housing, eviction prevention, and 
shelter beds are also funded by SHS.   

Service Type Description 

Permanent  
Supportive 
Housing 

Wrap-around housing services; includes housing,  
long-term rent assistance, and long-term social and 
health services 

Rapid  
Re-Housing 

Short-term services for people who have recently  
fallen into homelessness to help them find and  
maintain stable housing. 

Eviction  
Prevention 

Short-term services to help people who are already 
housed avoid homelessness. Includes services like rent 
assistance and legal support. 

Shelter Beds Emergency shelter capacity that was either created or 
sustained using SHS funding. 

Source: Auditor’s Office summary of  Supportive Housing Services program areas reported by counties.  

Each county is required to report the number of people served by each 
program. The data they use for reporting comes primarily from the 
Homeless Management Information System (HMIS), which is the same 
database used to meet HUD reporting requirements. Metro created 
reporting templates in partnership with each county to monitor progress. 
These reports include participant information on race and ethnicity, 
disability status, and gender identity. Reports also include the number of 
people served in each of the two SHS groups, Population A and B.  



Supportive Housing Services                                                                                             10                                                                                    The Office of Metro Auditor  
January 2024                                                                                                                        

 

 

Service 
Type 

Clackamas Multnomah Washington Total 

Permanent  
Supportive  
Housing 

794 1,753 1,314 3,861 

Rapid  
Re-Housing 

46 1,340 383 1,769 

Eviction  
Prevention 

643 14,536 1,203 16,382 

Shelter Beds 240 772 497 1,509 

Exhibit 6     People served by service type (FY 2021-22 & FY 2022-23)  

Source: Auditor’s Office summary of data reported in “Regional Annual Report July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022” and 
county fourth quarter reports for fiscal year 2022-2023.  

Exhibit 7    People served by population type (FY 2022-23*)  

Priority Clackamas Multnomah Washington Total 

Population A 1,099 934 809 2,842 

Population B 209 5,647 1,656 7,512 

Source: Auditor’s Office summary of  data reported in county fourth quarter reports for fiscal year 2022-2023.  
*Data about who was served in each of the priority populations was not included in the “Regional Annual Report July 1, 

2021 to June 30, 2022”.  



 

11   The Office of Metro Auditor                                                                                                                                                                                     Supportive Housing Services 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               January 2024 

Results 

Metro made 
progress on 

previous 
recommendations  

The Supportive Housing Services ballot measure requires coordination 
among a variety of oversight groups to ensure it delivers on its promises. 
After two years of implementation, now is an opportune time to assess what 
has been accomplished and what more is needed. This audit follows up on 
recommendations made at the beginning of the program’s implementation 
and provides updated analysis of the oversight structure and performance 
measurement system. 
  
Since our first audit of the program in May 2021, Metro made progress on 
the three audit recommendations. One was fully implemented, and two were 
in process. Additional work on the first in process recommendation will be 
critical to create a performance measurement system that provides reliable 
and relevant information about program outcomes. Further oversight of  
administrative spending by the Regional Oversight Committee would help 
fully implement the second in process recommendation.  
  
This audit identified opportunities to strengthen oversight by reducing 
duplication in some areas and clearly assigning responsibility in others. 
Because there are many parties involved it is important that oversight 
responsibilities are clear and well defined. Shared responsibilities can result in 
lack of accountability and transparency to the public, and the individuals who 
are intended to be helped by the program. Gaps or duplication in oversight 
can result in too much attention being paid to some issues, and not enough 
attention being paid to others. 
  
This audit also identified weaknesses in the performance measurement 
system related to data reliability, goal clarity, and communication. Each part 
of the system needs to be aligned toward the same goals. Reliable data is 
needed to assess progress towards those goals. Decision-makers and the 
public need to be able to understand what the data means. 
  

Reliable data is important not only for current efforts, but to inform future 
actions. The region is likely to invest over $2.5 billion through the program. 
This level of funding provides a valuable learning opportunity to plan for the 
future. The Tri-County Planning Body is tasked with creating a regional plan 
and fostering coordination between the counties. Starting to think about the 
long-term plan now will be critical to ensure the region has a data-driven 
strategy to inform priorities when the funding sunsets at the end of 2030.  

The 2021 audit found opportunities to improve oversight and accountability 
for SHS. At that time, there were uncertainties about how many people 
would need services, the types of services that would be provided, and the 
amount of revenue that would be available. These unknowns, combined 
with weaknesses in performance measures, led us to recommend an 
incremental approach to developing goals and targets. We also highlighted a 
potential misalignment around Metro’s commitment to minimizing 
administrative costs. The 2021 audit included three recommendations.  



Supportive Housing Services                                                                                             12                                                                                    The Office of Metro Auditor  
January 2024                                                                                                                        

 

 

Recommendation Status 

To be responsive to uncertainty about the measure’s 
inputs and to ensure accountability for funding levels, 
Metro should:  

1. Set annual performance goals and targets for the 
outputs and outcomes expected to be achieved by each 
county during the first two years of  the program  

 
 
 
Implemented     

To strengthen oversight and accountability for the 
program, Metro should:  

2. Convene the tri-county planning group as soon as 
possible to:  

a. Develop regional strategies 
b. Continue development of  the performance 

measurement system including performance goals 
and targets for each county and service type   

c. Create regional data collection and evaluation plan 
that takes into account the ease of  collection, 
alignment with adopted regional outcomes and 
costs  

 
 
In Process 
 
(Implemented) 
(In Process)  
 
 
(In Process) 

To ensure compliance with the program’s requirements, 
the COO and the department should:  

3. Seek guidance from Metro Council and the Oversight 
Committee about how to balance the policy goal to 
maximize funding for direct services with 
administrative funding to dedicated to Metro, tax 
collection, local implementation partners, and the 
regional tri-county planning fund  

 
 
In Process 
 
 
 

Exhibit 8     Progress was made on audit recommendations made in 2021    

Source: Auditor’s Office summary of  the status of  recommendations made in 2021 audit report.  

The 2021 recommendation to set annual performance goals and targets for 
the first two years of the program was implemented. Annual goals for each 
county were established. Progress on first year goals was included in Metro’s 
FY 2021-22 annual report. 
  
In 2021, we understood that the Tri-County Planning Body (TCPB) would 
be responsible for the regional performance measurement system, but 
Metro Housing ended up taking on this responsibility. According to Metro, 
the TCPB will only be responsible for measuring progress on regional 
strategies, not the overall SHS program. This change, combined with the 
convening of the TCPB and their development of a set of regional 
strategies, effectively implemented the first part of the second 
recommendation (2a). 



 

13   The Office of Metro Auditor                                                                                                                                                                                     Supportive Housing Services 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               January 2024 

The other parts of recommendation two were in process. The ballot measure 
did not include expected outcomes or performance measures. An advisory 
group identified performance measures after the measure was approved by 
voters, but those measures had weaknesses. Some areas identified in the 
ballot measure, such as expanded case management, were not covered by the 
performance measures. The measures did not identify data sources, which 
made it difficult to evaluate progress. 
  
We recommended that the performance measurement system continue to be 
developed incrementally, with performance goals and targets set for each 
service type (2b). Metro created a quarterly reporting template that specifies 
service areas such as permanent supportive housing, rapid rehousing, and 
eviction prevention. The annual county budgeting and workplan process 
included setting goals around these service areas. Although progress was 
made, there are still gaps in the performance management system. They are 
discussed in detail later in this report.  

It is important to understand what challenges projects face before 
construction took place between concept endorsement and final approval. 

Exhibit 9      Some county goals were met during FY 2021-22^  

  Program Category Goal Actual  
Outcome 

Clackamas Supportive housing 
services 

200  
households 

125 households 

Long-term rent  
assistance 

250 units 202 units 

Short-term rent  
assistance 

130  
households 

0 households* 

Eviction  
prevention 

110  
households 

0 households* 

Housing placement 200  
households 

125 households 

Emergency housing 65 units 100 units 

Outreach 500  
households 

0 households* 

Multnomah Housing  
placements 

1,300 people 1,129 people 

Preventions 600+ people 9,156 people 

Shelter/temporary 
housing 

Up to 400 
new beds (all 
funding 
sources) 

150 SHS-funded 
(407  
system-wide) 

Outreach/
engagement 

1,500 people 2,640 people 

Employment 100 people 
engaged in 
low-barrier 
employment 

359 people  
received  
employment 
training 



Supportive Housing Services                                                                                             14                                                                                    The Office of Metro Auditor  
January 2024                                                                                                                        

 

 

The 2021 audit identified challenges with regional data collection and 
evaluation. We recommended a regional data collection and evaluation plan 
to address challenges around data privacy, cost and ease of collection, and 
alignment with program outcomes (2c). Metro Housing was in the process of 
implementing this recommendation during this audit. We were informed of a 
draft scope of work for a consultant that was expected to begin work in fall 
2023 with evaluation expected to begin in spring 2024. Depending on the 
duration of the evaluation, results may not be available until year five of the 
10-year tax.  
  
The originating legislation for SHS stated that administrative costs should be 
minimized. As such, we recommended program staff seek guidance on 
balancing funding for direct services with administrative costs (3). This 
recommendation was in process. Metro Council  provided input on Metro’s 
administrative costs and tax collection agreement. However, additional 
oversight of  county administrative costs and implementation of  the tri-
county planning fund is still needed.  
 
Based on the allocations identified in intergovernmental agreements, we 
estimated Metro and county administrative costs were between $12 and $58 
million total for FY 2021-22 and FY 2022-23. This does not include potential 
administrative costs for service providers, or the cost of tax collection. There 
are no guidelines for service provider administrative costs, and they have not 
been a part of any financial reports to date. The Metro SHS workplan states 
that the ROC will review service provider administrative costs annually and 
recommend changes in allocations to Metro Council. That responsibility does 
not appear in any other program documents. The analysis did not appear in 
the FY 2021-22 annual report. 
 
We found the ROC considered administrative spending on a limited basis. 
The ROC often lacked the information necessary to make judgements and, 
when presented with this information, seemed unaware of their responsibility 
to do so. This issue is discussed in more detail later in this report. 

Washington Supportive  
housing 

500 placements 305 placements 

Housing stability 500 households 0 households* 

Year-round shelter 100 new beds 102 new beds 

Winter shelter 150 new beds 212 new beds 

Culturally specific 
provider  
partnerships 

Network of cul-
turally  
specific  
providers  
established 

4 culturally  
specific  
providers under 
contract 

 Source: Auditor summary of information included in “Regional Annual Report July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022”. 

^The annual report for FY 2022-23 was not finalized when this audit was complete.   

*Metro reported that these programs would begin in FY 2022-23.  



 

15   The Office of Metro Auditor                                                                                                                                                                                     Supportive Housing Services 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               January 2024 

We identified opportunities to strengthen SHS oversight. Regional oversight 
and accountability are a shared responsibility between Metro Council, the 
Regional Oversight Committee (ROC), Tri-County Planning Body (TCPB), 
and Metro Housing.  When multiple parties have broad responsibility over a 
program there is a risk that some responsibilities could be duplicated or 
overlooked. Specifying how each role relates to the others, and what 
timelines are needed to ensure timely alignment would enhance program 
oversight.  

There were gaps 
and duplication in 
program oversight  

Metro Council’s oversight role is to monitor program outcomes. However, 
establishing timely processes to fulfill that role is complicated by the 
structure of the program. Three other bodies oversee performance of county 
programs. The ROC advises Council on county performance and alignment 
with implementation plans. The TCPB is tasked with developing a regional 
plan and strategies. Metro Housing and the COO administer the regional 
program and work with county partners to resolve disputes. Each of these 
groups has operated on different timelines.  
 
Council did not appear to have a public process to track program results in a 
timely manner. The first Regional Annual Report was presented to Council 

Exhibit 10     Shared responsibilities increase the need for coordination  

Party Potentially Overlapping Oversight Responsibilities 

Metro Council • Monitoring of program outcomes, with guidance 
from the Regional Oversight Committee and Tri-
County Advisory Body 

Tri-County 
Planning Body 

• Provide guidance to implement SHS values at the 
regional level 

• Develop a Regional Plan for approval by the 
Regional Oversight Committee that incorporates 
regional strategies, metrics, and goals as identified in 
the Metro SHS Workplan and counties’ Local 
Implementation Plans 

Regional  
Oversight  
Committee 

• Review annual reports for consistency with approved 
Local Implementation Plans 

• Monitor financial aspects of program administration, 
including program expenditures 

• Provide annual reports assessing performance, 
challenges, and outcomes to Metro Council and 
Clackamas, Multnomah and Washington County 
Boards of Commissioners 

Metro COO 
and Staff 

• Ensure program implementation upholds promises 
to voters 

• Develop and coordinate systems to provide robust 
oversight and accountability to ensure transparency 
of public funds 

Source: Auditor’s Office summary of SHS documents.  



Supportive Housing Services                                                                                             16                                                                                    The Office of Metro Auditor  
January 2024                                                                                                                        

 

 

in June 2023, which was almost a full year after the data summarized in the 
report. As a result, if they needed to issue guidance or make changes based 
on FY 2021-22 performance, they would not have had a mechanism to do 
so until after FY 2022-23 ended.  
 
Given the complexity of oversight, it will be important for Council to 
establish processes to ensure accountability to the public while also 
respecting the other oversight processes that are in place. Considering the 
high-profile, public nature of the program and the significant public 
investment, Council should consider more regular reviews of program 
progress. Quarterly reports, annual reports, and annual workplan reviews are 
all opportunities for Metro Housing to give more timely updates to Council 
between annual reports. Intergovernmental agreements give Metro the 
authority to monitor up to 25% of counties’ SHS program activities per year 
with reasonable written notice. This provision could also be a useful tool for 
Council but will require more planning to determine the purpose and timing 
of such monitoring.   
 
Another challenge for effective oversight is a potential gap between 
responsibility and authority. For example, the ROC is responsible for 
reviewing the financial aspects of program administration and can make 
recommendations.  Though the ROC is responsible for monitoring program 
administration, they do not have the authority to implement corrective 
action plans, nor are they specifically tasked with recommending corrective 
action when necessary. Authority to implement corrective actions is based 
on the intergovernmental agreements between Metro and the counties.   
 
Metro initiated a corrective action plan in May 2023 when it identified a 
material deviation in spending for Multnomah County. The definition of 
material deviation in IGAs may not be specific enough to ensure consistency. 
The definition says: 
 

 “a material deficiency arises where the Program Funds spent 
in a given fiscal year cannot be reconciled…to the degree that 
no reasonable person would conclude that Partner’s spending 
was guided by or in conformance with the applicable spend-
down plan or CAP [corrective action plan].”  

 
Establishing consistent expectations of counties before issues arise may 
reduce disputes. Preparing for these types of issues ahead of time is critical 
to ensure each county is being held to the same standard.  
 
Similarly, intergovernmental agreements specify that Metro and the counties 
will establish a process to review the allocation of revenue between counties 
after FY 2022-23. We did not find an indication that this process was 
established. It is not clear if this process is meant to involve Metro Council, 
TCPB, ROC, or Metro staff. 
 
 



 

17   The Office of Metro Auditor                                                                                                                                                                                     Supportive Housing Services 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               January 2024 

Although the ballot measure stated that the funds would be allocated based 
on estimated revenue collection, IGA provisions state that a process to 
reevaluate initial allocations should be established but does not state that it 
needs to be based on revenue collection. Metro and counties may be able to 
reevaluate if  the allocations should be based on where revenue is generated, 
where need is highest, or where resources are lowest.  
 
During the first two years of  the program, Clackamas and Washington 
counties received significantly more funding for each person experiencing 
homelessness compared to Multnomah County. The vastly different levels of  
funding per person makes it difficult to compare county performance. The 
long-term ability of  Multnomah County to address homelessness may be 
hindered by this allocation, but they may not need as much SHS funding if  
they receive more funding than the other two counties from other sources.  

Exhibit 11     Funding allocations for each county are not aligned with their 
      share of people experiencing chronic homelessness in the   
      region  

Source: Auditor’s Office analysis of  SHS Workplan, IGAs and 2022 Point In Time Count.  

This is important because the initial allocation was based on an estimate of 
the proportion of taxes that would be generated in each county, not the 
level of need in each county. For example, Multnomah County receives 
45.33% of SHS funds, but had 85.2% of the individuals experiencing 
chronic homelessness in the region according to the 2022 Point in Time 
Count. Clackamas had 7.9% of the regional total of those experiencing 
chronic homelessness but receives 21.33% of SHS funds. Washington 
County had 6.8 % and receives 33.33% of SHS funding. 



Supportive Housing Services                                                                                             18                                                                                    The Office of Metro Auditor  
January 2024                                                                                                                        

 

 

We identified opportunities for the ROC to strengthen its oversight roles by 
reviewing administration expenses, refocusing on some charter 
responsibilities, and diversifying the types of experiences members bring to 
the committee. 
  
The ROC did not appear to evaluate administrative spending. The measure 
states that they are to consider whether administrative costs for Metro and 
the counties should be adjusted at least annually. As part of that role, they 
are required to recommend ways for Metro to limit tax collection and 
administrative costs. Our review found that the ROC may not be aware of 
this role and may lack the data to do it. 
  
A review of ROC meetings and minutes found limited discussions of 
administrative spending. In one case, potential issues with administrative 
spending were identified by staff but not discussed by the committee. Metro 
Housing’s review of first year annual reports found that recommended 
administrative spending amount was exceeded by Clackamas and 
Multnomah counties. Washington County did not report on administrative 
spending in year one.  Though Metro provided this information to the ROC 
there is no record of the committee discussing it. 
 
The responsibility to review Metro, county, and service provider 
administrative spending was stated in the ballot measure, the SHS workplan, 
and intergovernmental agreements. The requirement to review 
administrative expenses and make recommendations to Metro Council does 
not appear in the ROC charter. As a result, the ROC may not be aware of 
their responsibility. 
  
Even if it were known, the ROC may not be able to fulfill this responsibility 
for county administrative expenses due to lack of information. Financial 
reports have two line items for county administrative spending; 
administrative costs and administrative costs for Regional Long-Term Rental 
Assistance. This may not be enough detail to make recommendations.  A 
breakout of spending on staffing versus materials and contracted services, 
could be useful. Additionally, annual reports will need to include 
information on service provider administrative spending to meet the SHS 
workplan requirement for the ROC to review it. 
  
More detail was available for Metro’s administrative expenses. Metro 
provided information on tax collection costs and Metro’s administrative 
spending to the ROC. Quarterly reports on Metro spending appear to have 
sufficient detail to enable discussion of spending. 
  
Tax collection and administrative costs may total $569 million or more over 
the life of the program. Adjusting tax collection costs would require a new 
IGA between Metro and City of Portland, so about $140 million of these 
costs may be difficult to change. Even so, between $200 million and $429 
million in potential administration costs requires oversight. Ensuring there is 

Opportunities 
exist to refine 

ROC’s focus and 
membership  



 

19   The Office of Metro Auditor                                                                                                                                                                                     Supportive Housing Services 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               January 2024 

Adding other 
perspectives could 
improve oversight  

To ensure the ROC is providing independent oversight of the program, it 
would be valuable for Metro to assess adding members or areas of expertise  
such as public finance. The SHS measure identified a list of criteria for ROC 
membership to ensure it includes diverse perspectives. Current members 
bring leadership experience from fields identified in the measure’s criteria, 
such as supportive housing, social justice, and healthcare. However, around 
70% of ROC members stated close interests in the supportive housing field, 
including being employed by, or serving on boards of entities that receive 
SHS program funding.  

a consistent process to review it could be an important factor in fostering 
public trust and keeping the promise to maximize the amount of funds that 
go towards direct services.  
 
We found the ROC spent more time on some of  its responsibilities than 
others in 2023. For example, the following three topics were discussed 
frequently:  

• improving communication about the value and success of the program 
to the public 

• shortening the length of time for service providers to get paid by 
counties  

• increasing wages and ensuring sufficient workforce for service 
providers 

 
Time spent on these topics might limit discussions of  core oversight roles by 
using meeting time and staff  resources on topics addressed by other groups. 
For example, half  the time on the July agenda was reserved for a discussion 
of  shortening the time it takes for providers to receive payment from 
counties.  Though the ROC has a responsibility to identify issues that may 
hinder program progress, discussing these issues in depth may duplicate the 
work of  other groups. Identifying issues and then handing them off  to other 
bodies to act could be more efficient.  
 
In contrast, reviewing the spending allocation between the two priority 
groups (Population A and B) is an example of an ROC responsibility that has 
not occurred. The SHS measure requires that at least 75% of program funds 
should be used for Population A. None of the counties reported Population 
A and B spending in their FY 2021-22 annual report. Staff reported to the 
ROC that this information was not available, which suggested the ROC did 
not have data to provide oversight of one of the key program requirements. 
 
Stronger oversight is needed to ensure counties are making progress. Metro’s 
assumption is that Population A and B funding distribution may not strictly 
adhere to the requirement on an annual basis but will do so by the end of the 
10-year program. Waiting until the end of the program increases the risk that 
those in greatest need of services may not receive them. An annual increase 
in proportional spending on Population A could provide an indication that 
the regional program, and its component parts, are on track to achieve the 
spending requirement.  



Supportive Housing Services                                                                                             20                                                                                    The Office of Metro Auditor  
January 2024                                                                                                                        

 

 

There are gaps in 
performance 

measures and 
reporting  

 
Recommended practices for oversight bodies state that they should offer 
constructive criticism to program management and utilize critical thinking, 
problem solving and professional skepticism. The Federal Strategic Plan to 
End Homelessness recommends that all sectors should be involved with 
efforts to reduce homelessness.  

The SHS performance management system improved since the 2021 audit. 
Ongoing performance reporting now includes input and output measures, 
but gaps remain. As the program develops, it will be important to continue 
to strengthen data reliability and ensure there are ways to evaluate progress. 
  
The current system lacks the ability to measure the quality of services and 
efficient use of funds. Some metrics that could address these gaps were 
identified in Metro’s SHS workplan. Now that reporting templates have been 
established, metrics required in the SHS workplan are expected to appear in 
annual reports. Metro should consider adding these metrics to quarterly 
reporting templates to improve the ROC’s ability to provide timely and 
consistent oversight. 
  
Current reports include data about the number of people served, but not the 
quality of services. This could incentivize programs to provide low-quality 
service in high numbers. Though not an SHS-funded example, Sandy 
Studios shows the potential risk. Sandy Studios was a supportive housing 
complex for veterans that closed in 2021 due to unsafe living conditions. 
  
Oversight bodies and the public could benefit from being able to compare 
regional capacity to regional needs. Including data on regional capacity to 
deliver housing and services alongside the most recent counts of the number 
of people experiencing homelessness would help stakeholders understand 
the size of the program’s impact. 
  
Another way to improve understanding among stakeholders and set realistic 
expectations would be to add data about retention and returns to 
homelessness. Some individuals may exit permanent supportive housing and 
return to homelessness, increasing the total number of people requiring 
services. Those individuals may also re-enter permanent supportive housing 
later. This data is already being collected by counties, so adding it to reports 
may not be resource intensive. The net number of people exiting 
homelessness—the total number of people who achieved stable housing 
subtracting the returns to homelessness—is a key metric. Reporting and 
relying only on the number of people served does not capture the actual 
reduction in overall homelessness. 
  
Some communities use the Built for Zero approach to assess progress. This 
approach uses functional zero to measure whether a community has 
measurably solved homelessness. For chronically homeless individuals, 
functional zero is defined as the greater of two numbers: 

• either fewer than three people, or 
• 0.1% of the total number of individuals experiencing chronic 

homelessness in the most recent point-in-time count. 



 

21   The Office of Metro Auditor                                                                                                                                                                                     Supportive Housing Services 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               January 2024 

  
To achieve functional zero, the Built for Zero framework recommends using 
a by-name list which is a list of every person experiencing homelessness. 
Implementing a by-name list could help the counties measure how the region 
is progressing towards functional zero. 
  
Other tools can support transparent communication and tracking of results. 
The 2021 audit discussed the importance of logic models to help the public, 
stakeholders, and decision makers understand how each part of the program 
is connected to deliver on desired outcomes. Exhibit 12 contains a model 
that shows how SHS population goals and service types align. Adding actual 
numbers for each of the circles could help the program put performance 
data in context to show the overall impact of SHS investments.  

Exhibit 12     Logic models can help visualize how each data point impacts  
      program outcomes  

Source: Auditor’s Office model of  how current data could be combined to show program outcomes.  

Housing stability 

Reporting inconsistencies made it difficult to understand how the program 
has progressed over the first two fiscal years. We found variation in 
definitions, reports, and calculations that reduce clarity. Increasing 
consistency would help the public and oversight bodies evaluate progress. 
  
The program committed to provide services to 5,000 people experiencing 
prolonged homelessness with complex disabilities, and 10,000 households 
experiencing short-term homelessness or at risk of homelessness. It seems 
likely that the two goals were created to set expectations about the number 
of people or households that should be served in Populations A and B. 
However, it is unclear whether the goals align fully with those populations. 
 
The descriptions of the 5,000 and 10,000 goals are not the same in key 
program documents. Inconsistent definitions create a barrier to 
understanding program goals and appear to shift from year to year without 
explanation. The inconsistencies are not minor word variations, they have a 
direct effect on what is expected and what data points are appropriate to 
evaluate progress. 
  

Inconsistent 
reporting makes 

progress difficult to 
understand  



Supportive Housing Services                                                                                             22                                                                                    The Office of Metro Auditor  
January 2024                                                                                                                        

 

 

There were multiple inconsistencies for each goal. For example, three 
different sources provide three different definitions for the second goal. One 
says as many as 10,000, one says at least 10,000, and one says an additional 
10,000. Each phrasing suggests a different number of people will be served. 
 
There are other variations that shift expectations. The SHS Workplan and 
website list 5,000 people, but the budget says households. Individuals and 
households are tracked separately in homeless information systems. Metro’s 
budget lists specific service types to evaluate the 10,000 goal, while the other 
two sources refer to the populations being served and don’t specify the type 
of  services they receive.  

Exhibit 13     Inconsistent language reduces clarity about SHS goals  

Source Goal 

Metro SHS 
Workplan 

Provide services for as many as 5,000 people 
experiencing prolonged homelessness with complex 
disabilities, and as many as 10,000 households 
experiencing short-term homelessness or at risk of 
homelessness. 

Metro SHS 
Website 

Connect at least 5,000 people experiencing chronic 
homelessness to permanent supportive housing. 
Stabilize at least 10,000 households at risk of or 
experiencing homelessness in permanent housing. 

FY 2023-24 
Housing 
Department 
Budget 

House at least 5,000 households experiencing 
homelessness into permanent supportive housing and 
serve an additional 10,000 households with eviction 
prevention and rapid rehousing services over ten years. 

Source: Auditor’s Office analysis of SHS Workplan, SHS website, and Metro’s Adopted FY 2023-24 Budget  

Another significant inconsistency is how service types align with the 5,000 
and 10,000 goals, and Population A and B funding goal. We were unable to 
find documentation to explain how each of the service types, such as 
permanent supportive housing and eviction prevention, were used to report 
on SHS goals. For example, if eviction prevention services are part of the 
10,000 goal, then this goal was already met before end of FY 2022-23. 
 
Another example was related to reporting about housing placements on Metro’s 
website. Housing placements were a combination of at least two service 
types: permanent supportive housing and rapid re-housing services. Data 
about housing placements was used in the FY 2021-22 annual report and 
Metro website, but not in most other reports or presentations to the ROC. 
The calculation of this metric appears to vary between the regional report 
and the Metro website, as well as between FY 2021-22 and FY 2022-23 on 
the SHS website. In FY 2021-22, housing placements only includes 
permanent supportive housing, but FY 2022-23 included both permanent 
supportive housing and rapid re-housing. The use of the term housing 



 

23   The Office of Metro Auditor                                                                                                                                                                                     Supportive Housing Services 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               January 2024 

placements in the regional report only appears to refer to permanent 
supportive housing. 
 
Combining these two distinct service types into a single metric creates 
unnecessary confusion, particularly because these two program types may 
serve different populations.  It may also make it more difficult to compare 
progress against goals set in LIPs, which track supportive housing and rapid 
rehousing separately. Progress reports should define how measures were 
calculated and how they relate to program goals. Creating new categories 
reduces the public’s ability to understand how county performance aligns 
with annual goals. 
  
Metro’s Population A and B definitions present a similar challenge. Both 
definitions include people who are currently experiencing homelessness and 
people who are at risk of experiencing homelessness. The inclusion of these 
distinct groups reduced the usefulness of these metrics, as each group is 
likely to need different types of services. For example, people experiencing 
homelessness could not receive eviction prevention assistance because this 
would require that they have housing. As such, program goals could 
technically be achieved without serving anyone who is actually experiencing 
homelessness. 
 
Another inconsistency is that reports for the FY 2021-22 and FY 2022-23 
are not comparable.  Financial, quarterly, and annual reporting templates 
were not established in FY 2021-22. Counties used templates for FY 2022-
23, which increased consistency between counties but not with the data 
reported for year one. Updated information for first-year outcomes has been 
provided in the annual regional report, but some gaps remain. Financial data 
and information on contracted service providers were not comparable 
between counties for FY 2021-22 even after the update. 
  
We also found misalignment in the structure of outcomes and financial 
reporting. This created a barrier to understanding the costs of each service 
type.  For example, financial reports group rapid re-housing and eviction 
prevention spending into one line item called short-term housing assistance. 
This makes it difficult to see how much was spent on each service type. To 
help oversight bodies and the public evaluate efficiency and effectiveness, 
financial report categories should be aligned with the number of people, or 
households, who received each type of service.  

Consistent data 
definitions are 

needed  

County-reported SHS performance data appears to come from the 
Homeless Management Information System (HMIS), a data system required 
by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). Metro 
assumes that county data adheres to HUD’s data standards, but there does 
not appear to be a process to verify this. 
  
Even if each county is following HUD data standards consistently, SHS 
definitions do not always align with these standards. For example, the HUD 
definition of permanent supportive housing only includes people who are 
experiencing homelessness. Metro’s definition of Population A also includes 



Supportive Housing Services                                                                                             24                                                                                    The Office of Metro Auditor  
January 2024                                                                                                                        

 

 

Procedures for 
data reliability 

were 
underdeveloped  

Metro’s procedures to ensure data reliability were underdeveloped. The data 
in quarterly reports appeared to be regularly incomplete or inconsistent.  
These reports are available to the public and are a main method for counties 
to communicate their progress throughout the year. In addition, Metro will 
use monthly and quarterly data to monitor compliance with any corrective 
action plan, so data reliability is critically important to ensure the agreement 
is followed. Ensuring that quarterly reports are accurate and complete is an 
important element of  accountability.  
 
Metro Housing stated that  data completeness increases throughout the year. 
While staff  may expect updates to previous quarterly report totals, those 

expectations may not be known to the public. Ensuring reporting templates 
clearly indicate that totals are subject to change, and establishing acceptable 
thresholds for those changes, will be an important part of  maintaining 
public trust.  
 
In FY 2022-23, as of the third quarter, 21 of the 30 population and service 
data points we analyzed contained inconsistencies between the individual 
quarters and the year-to-date total.  These differences occurred in all three 
counties but their size varied. The average difference was 8% for service data 
and population data, but as high 53% for certain categories. For services, 
supportive housing had the biggest difference, around 13%. Multnomah and 
Washington county data had the greatest difference between quarterly and 
year-to-date data for both service and population data.  
 
By the end of  the fourth quarter counties had reconciled the inconsistencies 
in the data. This suggested that they had methods in place to provide 
consistent totals by year-end. Multnomah County’s data did not match, but 
they provided an explanation that data was not captured for some people 
who received services. Reporting got more accurate by year end, but it 

people at risk of experiencing homelessness. The SHS template definition of 
permanent supportive housing includes the term “service-enriched housing”, 
which does not appear in HUD standards. Metro’s reporting template also 
identifies transitional recovery housing as a potential permanent supportive 
housing program, which is not classified as permanent housing in HUD 
standards. The inconsistency between SHS definitions and HUD standards 
could result in inconsistent reporting among counties, or for the same 
county between HUD and SHS reports. 
 
These risks are why we recommended creating a regional data collection and 
evaluation plan in the 2021 audit (recommendation 2c). Because some SHS 
definitions vary from HUD definitions, it is critical to reach agreement about 
how to address data in the regional program. To align with SHS definitions, 
new data collection methods and considerable investment are likely  needed. 
If HUD’s definitions are sufficient, then additional spending for data 
collection may not be needed, but the SHS definitions should be updated to 
align with the data that is being used to evaluate progress.  



 

25   The Office of Metro Auditor                                                                                                                                                                                     Supportive Housing Services 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               January 2024 

indicated that quarterly data may be less reliable. Without consistent and 
complete data in quarterly reports, the program appeared to lack a 
mechanism to monitor progress throughout the program year.  
 
Stronger quality control processes are needed to ensure quarterly reports are 
as accurate and consistent as possible. We did not find documentation that 
Metro Housing completed a thorough check of data in quarterly reports. 
Staff stated that they reviewed reports after receiving them to make sure they 
were complete with no obvious data errors, and sometimes asked the 
counties clarifying questions. However, the number of inconsistencies in the 
first three quarters indicated that these processes were underdeveloped. 
 
The three counties do not appear to be using the same methodology to 
calculate who was served in each of the priority population groups. For 
example, Clackamas County reported serving significantly higher 
proportions of Population A than Multnomah and Washington counties. 
This suggested that the counties may be using different assumptions in how 
they make categorizations with population data. Metro allows counties to use 
their own methodologies for Population A and B reporting. Metro’s 
population definitions are distinct but could be interpreted similarly. 
Population A includes an imminent risk of homelessness while Population B 
includes a substantial risk. An important role for Metro is to ensure that the 
counties use similar enough data reporting methods that the data can be 
aggregated to report the overall impacts to the public.  
 
Another way county data may not be comparable is how non-SHS funded 
services were reported. In the FY 2021-22 annual report Multnomah County 
included services provided by non-SHS funds. Washington and Clackamas 
counties did not. This could overstate the impacts of SHS or set unrealistic 
expectations for future performance. It could also be misleading to the 
public about the impacts and efficiency of SHS funds. 
 
Data from ECOnorthwest, an independent research firm, and county 
budgets show that spending for county homeless services came from other 
sources including county, state, and federal funds. For example, in FY 2021-
22,  ECOnorthwest  estimated that SHS funding accounted from between 
13% and 54% of  county spending related to homelessness. Multnomah 
County’s FY 2023-24 budget showed it expects about 45% to come from 
SHS. SHS reports noted that Multnomah County utilized non-Metro funds 
to help exceed their eviction prevention goal in FY 2021-22 and FY 2022-23. 
If  services provided by non-SHS funds continue to be in reports, it would 
overstate SHS program performance.  



Supportive Housing Services                                                                                             26                                                                                    The Office of Metro Auditor  
January 2024                                                                                                                        

 

 

Long-term 
planning is needed  

 Looking ahead, serving people experiencing, or at risk of experiencing 
homelessness, will require long-term planning. Successfully meeting program 
goals could result in the need to provide ongoing support for at least 5,000 
individuals. Some portion of individuals may require SHS services for the 
rest of their lives. The Tri-County Planning Body (TCPB) is tasked with 
regional planning and identifying the most effective strategies to the meet 
the region’s needs. They will need to understand the number of people who 
will require ongoing funding to inform planning for current, and future, 
programs. 
  
Metro anticipates that as the program matures, and permanent supportive 
housing participation goes up, other service types will likely need to be 
reduced to match available funds. Growth in the number of permanent 
supportive housing participants may limit the ability to serve populations 
that benefit from the other service types offered by the program. Metro 
plans to begin work on a long-term financial plan in FY 2023-24. 
  
One consideration is how many people will need long-term or permanent 
housing support versus the number who may move toward partial or full 
financial independence. Counties' data shows that people experiencing 
homelessness reported substance use disorders, serious mental illness, or 
other conditions, which may limit their ability to move towards 
independence. Understanding the costs to provide services for individuals 
with these needs will be critical to design an effective response. 
  
One risk is that if the funding is not renewed, as many as 5,000 people 
receiving assistance could suddenly lose their housing or services. 
Contingency planning may help mitigate future challenges if funds are 
insufficient or if voters do not renew the measure. In that case, other funds 
may be needed to maintain service levels. 
 
Permanent supportive housing is likely to be the costliest type of  service to 
provide per person because of  the ongoing commitment to support people 
with disabling conditions. For permanent supportive housing, reports 
indicated that Multnomah County spent about $24,000 per person while 
Clackamas and Washington counties spent about $6,000 per person. 
Counties reported people were enrolled in permanent supportive housing  
throughout the program year. Calculating the annual costs of  service per 
person and why Multnomah County’s per person spending was about four 
times that of  the other counties could be valuable information.  

One of the SHS guiding principles is funding proven solutions. Research can 
help identify the programs that are best able to meet the needs of unhoused 
people. This type of information will likely be relevant to the TCPB as they 
work with the counties to develop implementation plans for regional 
strategies. 
  
Research shows the challenge of providing emergency rental assistance to 
the people with the greatest need. A controlled study conducted in Chicago 

Reaffirm 
commitment to 

proven solutions  



 

27   The Office of Metro Auditor                                                                                                                                                                                     Supportive Housing Services 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               January 2024 

 of over 4,000 people showed that participants who sought short-term rental 
assistance sometimes became homeless whether or not funding for services 
was available. The study suggested that short-term rental assistance may not 
necessarily target people who would become homeless without the 
assistance and could be a challenging method of providing the right type of 
assistance at the right time. 
  
The findings of the study contrast with Metro’s reporting which suggests 
that eviction prevention is synonymous with preventing homelessness. 
These types of studies indicate SHS reports should be careful about the 
language used to describe program outcomes. Setting realistic expectations 
will be critical for increasing trust with the public. If the region decides to 
seek voter approval to continue the SHS program beyond 2030, it will need 
to provide an accurate assessment of what has been accomplished. Learning 
from the current program provides an invaluable opportunity to increase 
trust with the public. 
  
Another example comes from research on shelters. It suggests that certain 
types of shelters are less effective. The SHS program funds shelters and 
tracks shelter beds created and sustained as a program metric but does not 
delineate between the different types of shelters. Additional detail about the 
outcomes of different shelter types would provide valuable data to inform 
SHS strategies. 
 
Shelter arrangements that offer individual sleeping arrangements (non-
congregate shelters), have multiple documented benefits including higher 
acceptance than arrangements where people sleep together (congregate 
shelters). Some counties’ work plans mention the goal of utilizing both 
congregate and non-congregate shelters. Data collection on non-congregate 
versus congregate shelter would provide a valuable indicator of shelter 
quality. This could help ensure SHS funds are used for the shelters with the 
highest acceptance rates. 
 
Research states that shelters can help people stabilize and move toward 
housing. However, individuals who have behavioral health needs, or trauma, 
can find a shelter environment to be intimidating, overwhelming, and 
unsafe. For these individuals, living on the streets may feel like a better 
option than navigating the complex structure of shelter environments. 
  
Research shows emergency shelters have an important role to play as a short
-term safety net for households who have lost their housing. However, the 
Oregon Statewide Shelter Study found that most people experiencing 
homelessness reported not using shelter for various reasons. The barriers 
they cited were: 

• Personal safety concerns 
• Personal privacy concerns 
• Restrictive check in and check out times 
• Overcrowding 
• Unsanitary conditions 



Supportive Housing Services                                                                                             28                                                                                    The Office of Metro Auditor  
January 2024                                                                                                                        

 

 

Recommendations 
To ensure timely and ongoing program oversight, the COO’s Office and Metro Housing should: 

1. Set up a process to ensure each oversight body gets timely information about each other’s 
work. 

2. Increase the frequency of program updates to Metro Council. 
3. Get input from Metro Council, Tri-County Planning Body, and Regional Oversight 

Committee about the variety of experience needed to provide independent oversight 
among the members of the Regional Oversight Committee. 

4. Document criteria and processes for monitoring up to 25% of county program activities. 
5. Document criteria and processes for implementing corrective action plans. 
6. Ensure the Regional Oversight Committee can fulfill its responsibilities by: 

a. Providing a full list of responsibilities assigned to it. 
b. Providing sufficient data to evaluate administrative spending and make 

recommendations. 
c. Providing sufficient data to evaluate spending on Populations A and B. 
d. Including data and recommendations about administrative spending and spending on 

Populations A and B in the annual report to Council. 
7. Establish an annual process for Metro Council, Tri-County Planning Body, and Regional 

Oversight Committee to review the funding allocations for each county and adjust if 
needed. 

  
To improve the reliability and consistency of program performance data, Metro Housing should: 

8. Clarify the goals related to serving 5,000 people and 10,000 households. 
9. Define which service types are used to report on progress towards the 5,000 and 10,000 

goals. 
10. Develop a performance measure to evaluate the quality of services provided. 
11. Use existing data to provide more context for county and regional performance by adding 

the following to quarterly and annual reports: 
a. Retention and returns to homelessness compared to the number of people served 
b. The capacity of permanent supportive housing compared to the overall need  

12. Create a process to check the accuracy of county quarterly and annual reports and require 
counties to identify if they have revised data reported previously. 

13. Update reporting templates to: 
a. Add data about the percentage of the counties’ total spending that comes from SHS. 
b. Add line items for spending on each service type provided. 

  
To identify programs that provide efficient, effective, and equitable services to inform long-term 
planning, the Tri-County Planning Body should: 

14. Research relevant studies of the program impacts on SHS’ target populations. 
15. Research best practices for communicating program results to increase understanding 

among decision-makers and the public. 
16. Advise Boards of County Commissioners, Metro Council, and Metro Housing periodically 

on the results of the research. 
17. Advise the Regional Oversight Committee and Metro Housing about best practices for 

communicating program results to ensure understanding. 
18. Use research, program data, and financial projections to inform strategies for the regional 

program.  
 



 

29   The Office of Metro Auditor                                                                                                                                                                                     Supportive Housing Services 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               January 2024 

Scope and    
methodology 

The purpose of this audit was to follow up on previous audit 
recommendations and assess the governance structure and performance 
processes. The objectives for this audit were: 

1. Determine if there are gaps or redundancies in program governance. 
2. Determine if processes are sufficient to ensure accurate reporting on 

program performance. 
3. Conclude on status of 2021 audit recommendations. 

 
To familiarize ourselves with the program we interviewed Metro staff, 
management, and committee members of the Regional Oversight 
Committee and Tri-County Planning Body. We also reviewed Metro 
legislation, quarterly and annual reports, Local Implementation Plans, 
Intergovernmental Agreements, committee charters, and the Supportive 
Housing Services workplan. We attended oversight committee and planning 
body meetings. 
  
To review program governance, we documented the responsibilities for 
each party in the SHS governance framework by reviewing authorizing 
documents. The primary documents used were the ballot measure and the 
intergovernmental agreements, workplans, and charters.  We identified 
potential gaps and overlaps by comparing those responsibilities to progress 
reports and meeting minutes. 
  
Our evaluation of data reliability and reporting included an analysis of the 
information provided in annual and quarterly reports, as well as the 
information required in reporting templates. We analyzed reports for 
accuracy and consistency. We compared templates and reports to reporting 
requirements established in authorizing documents. 
  
Financial analysis included data from PeopleSoft, Metro’s financial reporting 
software, as well as financial information provided publicly in oversight 
meetings and quarterly and annual reports. We analyzed financial data for 
internal consistency and consistency with reporting requirements. 
 
This audit was included in the FY 2022-23 audit schedule. We conducted 
this performance audit in accordance with generally accepted government 
auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis 
for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe 
that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and 
conclusions based on our audit objectives.  
  
 
 

 

  



Supportive Housing Services Audit- Management Response 

Date: January 5, 2024 
To:   Brian Evans, Metro Auditor 
From:  Marissa Madrigal, Chief Operating Officer 

Patricia Rojas, Housing Director 
Subject:  Management Response to Supportive Housing Services Audit  

Auditor Evans: 

Thank you for the opportunity to respond to the 2023 Supportive Housing Services Audit. 
We have been anticipating your feedback and recommendations as we look to improve 
implementation of this important program.  Your review prompts a reflection not just on 
the recommended improvements you have suggested, but about whether the fundamental 
structure and governance of this three-year-old, nationally unique regional homeless 
services program matches expectations of how this program should function.  

While this new program requires honest and earnest review, it is also important to 
acknowledge its incredible successes. Counties and providers have served many thousands 
of people with Metro SHS funds: 5,776 people have been placed in housing, while more 
than 18,149 individuals have avoided homelessness all together through eviction 
preventions - actions which have no doubt saved lives. But when tens of millions of dollars 
sit unspent across the region while thousands of people are still sleeping outside, we know 
there should be an unflinching re-examination of the fundamental assumptions underlying 
the program and its governance structures, such as the intergovernmental agreement 
between Metro and the Counties. 

As the largest per capita investment in the nation dedicated to addressing homelessness, 
the SHS Program is uncharted territory. Governing a groundbreaking program like this in 
good faith with the public requires persistent critique of the challenges it faces, and an 
unwavering commitment toward improving the overall system for better outcomes. To that 
end, management believes there are opportunities to improve and clarify Metro’s role in 
overseeing this vital regional program. Some of these opportunities have already been in 
progress – for example, the Metro Council added capacity in quality oversight and data 
collection for the housing program in the 2023-24 budget. Your recommendations have 
helped shape and refine our concepts for additional opportunities. 

Many of the challenges the SHS program faces can be traced back to the design of its well-
intentioned, but sprawling and complex governance structure. The values at the center of 
its design are strong – center stakeholders with lived experience in decision-making, listen 
to the service providers on the ground, engage in collaboration and allow for local 
governments to make decisions tailored to their communities. While we remain fully 
committed to these values, the structures designed to facilitate the application of those 
values have come with unintended consequences. The program currently navigates long, 
complex pathways to planning and goal setting; ambiguous and overlapping oversight 
responsibilities; and a lack of avenues for Metro to appropriately course correct when 

Management response



Page 2 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

partners do not deliver the services or outcomes targeted in their budgets, work plans, or 
local implementation plans. This multi-layered complexity is at odds with the Region’s 
need to address the homelessness crisis with urgency, transparency, and clarity.  

Management believes that the recommendations outlined in the audit to improve the 
program should also be followed by a discussion among policy makers about whether the 
program would be better served by making changes to the governance structure or 
maintaining the status quo established by the measure, Metro Code language, and IGAs. 
Architects of the initial measure concept envisioned Metro as a “pass-through” entity, 
responsible for collecting and distributing a regional high-income tax to counties – where 
then the counties, with their experience and authority in homeless service provision, would 
have largely unlimited latitude in determining how best to use the funds.  

Metro’s role was to be focused on administration and facilitation. When the measure was 
being drafted in January and February 2020, there was some logic to that arrangement. 
Today, Metro’s capacity to provide expert oversight is vastly different - and stronger. Most 
importantly however, the way the program was developed has arguably led to ambiguity in 
the relative roles of the governments and the meaning of oversight and accountability in 
this context. This ambiguity is itself a threat to the program as it undermines public trust 
and wastes time and resources on arguments about where responsibility and authority lie.  

Also critical is that we be more nimble in responding to lessons learned. For instance, pre-
pandemic assumptions about the homeless service system’s resilience and ability to scale 
were wrong. The measure was referred to voters in February 2020, before the COVID-19 
pandemic exacerbated systemic fractures and changed the landscape, including hiring 
practices, the labor pool itself and our ability to recruit and retain workers, particularly in 
this field.  Serving those in need and delivering improved outcomes has turned out to not 
be as simple as pouring more money into existing programs. Regardless of the root-cause, 
the public and non-profit systems in place to serve people in need have struggled to absorb 
unprecedented funding, fueling the public’s distrust and jeopardizing the program.  

The current collaborative governance agreements were intended to ensure that the 
Counties have revenue stability to plan for and provide services, but as a result, Metro has 
very limited ability to react to either poor or excellent performance except through analysis 
and publication of data voluntarily provided by the Counties or through requesting actions 
by the Counties. Metro has almost no independent ability to react to good or bad outcomes 
by redirecting funds with any urgency. This is likely inconsistent with the expectations of 
Metro residents that Metro is ultimately responsible for achieving the best return on 
investment of Metro tax dollars. 

While a critical examination of this program is vital, its potential to create a sizeable impact 
on one of the region's greatest crises must not be lost. Our hope is that the proposed 
actions and potential solutions embedded in the below response help pave that path 
forward. 

Thank you again to Auditor Evans and his team for their thoughtful work in examining this 
critical program. Management’s response to the Audit’s recommendations and a short 
conclusion follows. 



 
  

 

Page 3 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

To	ensure	timely	and	ongoing	program	oversight,	the	COO’s	Office	and	
Metro	Housing	should:	
 
Recommendation	1.		Set	up	a	process	to	ensure	each	oversight	body	gets	timely	
information	about	each	other’s	work	
	
Response:	Management agrees that a continued focus on communication amongst the 
various oversight bodies is a critical element to the success of SHS. As a regional program, 
there are varying oversight roles that include Metro Council, the three County Boards of 
Commission and the Regional Oversight Committee (Supportive Housing Services 
Oversight Committee or SHSOC). In addition to the oversight bodies, the measure 
established the Tri-County Planning Body (TCPB), a policy body responsible for creating an 
SHS Regional Plan, guiding investments of the Regional Investment Fund (RIF) and 
strengthening coordination and alignment of program implementation across the region.  
  
As expressed in the management introduction, this governance structure was established 
as a way of prioritizing oft forgotten values, like the importance of centering those most 
impacted in decision-making and the need for flexibility and autonomy in implementation. 
An unintended consequence of this construct is that layered oversight and role ambiguity 
can create significant delays in when information is exchanged, and how decisions are 
made. 
 
While the below table intends to, at high-level, distinguish the varying regional and county 
oversight roles, management agrees with audit findings that current oversight duties 
outlined in varying governing documents create some ambiguity in scope, and can 
negatively impact how information is shared.  
 

Body		 Role	

Metro Council Regional oversight body providing policy direction by:  
 Adopting Metro SHS Work Plan 
 Approving Local Implementation Plans 
 Appointing SHSOC members 
 Monitoring program outcomes, with guidance from SHSOC and 

TCPB 

SHS Oversight 
Committee 
(SHSOC)  

 Regional oversight body charged with: 
 Reviewing County Annual Work Plans and proposing changes 

as appropriate to meet goals 
 Creating annual reports and presentations to all four 

governing bodies assessing performance, challenges and 
outcomes 

 Providing Metro Council / COO recommendations to improve 
implementation and advance the goals of the program  

 Monitoring fiscal aspects of program administration 



 
  

 

Page 4 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

 Monitoring jurisdictional and provider administrative costs 
and making recommendations for changes as appropriate 

County Boards of 
Commission 

County-specific oversight body charged with: 
 Approving County LIP and recommending changes as 

appropriate to meet goals 
 Approving County budgets and SHS-specific activities  
 Overseeing county operations and county level program 

implementation 

Tri-County 
Planning Body 
(TCPB) 

Regional policy body responsible for: 
 Developing a plan to regionalize standards and metrics, system 

alignment and standards of practice 
 Approving Regional Investment Fund expenditures  
 Monitoring Regional Investment Fund and regional plan 

implementation 

  
Current processes in place to support communication between governing bodies and 
timely status updates include: 

 Monthly meetings with Metro Housing and co-chairs of all housing committees  
o Ensure co-chairs are informed of respective committee work 
o Allow for co-chairs to provide input and feedback on priorities 

 Bi-weekly briefings with Metro Councilors and Metro Housing leadership 
o Staff provide updates on implementation and oversight, quarterly and annual 

report reviews, discuss SHS policy and implementation priorities  
 Ex-officio seats on SHSOC for elected officials from each county and City of Portland 

o Non-voting members provide regular input and relay information from 
committee meetings back to their respective elected bodies 

 Annual report and general progress presentations  
o SHSOC co-chairs present to Metro Council and the County Boards of 

Commission 
 
Proposed	plan:	Metro Housing will establish a process to increase the timeliness for 
committees to learn about each other's work.	Metro staff will engage each committee to 
better understand the need for more timely information. Metro Housing will also 
implement quarterly updates on committee work from the partner committee at TCPB and 
SHSOC meetings and incorporate links to all meeting minutes in meeting materials. Below 
is a timeline that outlines details and next steps for developing a process to ensure timely 
exchange of information. Additionally, Metro Housing will build out an annual Council 
Engagement Calendar to increase communication to Metro Council (described in 
recommendation 2) and review the SHSOC committee construct (described in 
recommendation 3). 
 
Timeline:	 
January‐March	2024	–		



 
  

 

Page 5 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

 Metro staff obtain feedback from governing bodies on frequency and content of 
updates  

February	2024	‐		
 Include links to meeting minutes of other committee meetings in TCPB and SHSOC 

meeting materials 	
March	2024	–		

 Finalize Council Engagement Calendar 
 Implement quarterly updates from committee counterparts as part of TCPB and 

SHSOC meeting agendas 
 
 
Recommendation	2. Increase	the	frequency	of	program	updates	to	Metro	Council	
 
Response:	Management agrees that to best support Metro Council's SHS regional oversight 
role, ongoing and frequent engagement is critical.  As the audit points out, the complexity of 
the governance structure set up by the measure can obscure roles and responsibilities. In 
management’s experience, it can also make it difficult to sequence the delivery of 
information in a way that respects the roles and responsibilities of each governance body 
(Metro Council, County Boards of Commission, TCPB and SHSOC), sometimes resulting in 
untimely distribution of information. Critical information may sometimes be released at 
county commission meetings or committee meetings without Metro’s input. In 
management’s view, the program would benefit from the establishment of a clear policy 
prioritizing information flow of the annual regional reports to the Metro Council first, as 
the funder and ultimate oversight body for the program. 
 
There are also timing challenges that are structural. Per the IGA, counties must submit the 
annual report on October 31st of every year. Metro Housing staff and the SHSOC then 
conduct a thorough review of the report for alignment with LIPs, annual work plans and 
program compliance. Counties present the annual report to the SHSOC and then the 
committee develops a regional report in December and January. The goal of the annual 
regional report is to evaluate SHS program performance, identify challenges and 
opportunities and develop recommendations for Metro Council on how the program may 
be improved. Despite the increased frequency of committee meetings in January and 
February, four months between the receipt of county annual reports to creating and 
presenting the committee report to Metro Council is too long.  As an example, SHSOC’s first 
annual report was presented to Metro Council in June of 2023 but the findings were from 
FY 21-22. While the committee's second annual report will be presented to Metro Council 
in March 2024, the time between receipt of county reports and to presenting the committee 
report to Metro Council is still significant.  
 
While Metro Housing staff currently utilize standing bi-weekly briefings, annual report 
presentations and ad-hoc work sessions to provide program updates to Metro Councilors, 
management agrees and sees a significant benefit to creating an engagement calendar that 
increases the number of public Metro Council SHS work sessions.  
 
Proposed	plan:	Metro Housing will increase the number of public SHS work sessions with 



 
  

 

Page 6 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

Metro Council and document the plan for such engagements by establishing a Metro 
Council engagement calendar. The calendar will include key dates/timelines, SHS program 
updates, progress on committee efforts, status updates on related research (see 
recommendation 16) and other general topics of discussion. This calendar will also include 
proposals for county partners, SHSOC and TCPB to directly engage and provide updates to 
Council.  
 
Timeline:	
January	2024	–		

 Gather input from Metro Councilors on engagement needs  
February	2024	–		

 Complete annual Council engagement calendar  
March	2024	–		

 Begin increased council engagement  
 
 
Recommendation	3.	Get	input	from	Metro	Council,	Tri‐County	Planning	Body,	and	
Regional	Oversight	Committee	about	the	variety	of	experience	needed	to	provide	
independent	oversight	among	the	members	of	the	Regional	Oversight	Committee.	
	
Response:	Management agrees that at this stage in the SHS Program, a review of 
committee membership and required skills or experience would be valuable to ensure 
committee responsibilities and scope can be effectively executed. Currently, per Metro 
Code Section 2.19.280, membership standards were established to prioritize those who 
participate in delivering the system and those most impacted by programmatic and 
governance decisions (such as people with lived experience of homelessness and BIPOC 
communities). This membership construct was a valuable starting place that reflected an 
intention of advancing equity and inclusion within this program. Now that SHS is in its 
third year of implementation, it is appropriate to evaluate membership gaps to provide 
effective oversight and deliver on the committee's charge.  
 
Metro Housing currently maintains a matrix of membership requirements, tracks how 
committee membership reflects membership requirements and applies information 
regarding gaps in membership when recruiting new members. Committee membership 
incorporates staggered terms. Metro staff work directly with Council and SHSOC co-chairs 
when there is a committee vacancy to solicit guidance on the committee recruitment 
process and to obtain recommendations on membership experience to prioritize.  Metro 
Housing recognizes this recommendation as an opportunity to deepen this review to 
include a scan of overall committee duties, associated skills and experiences and potential 
impacts to independent oversight. 
 
Proposed	plan:	Metro Housing will obtain feedback from Metro Council and the SHSOC co-
chairs about current membership criteria for the SHSOC compared to committee 
responsibilities to identify where there may be gaps in representation. Based on direction 
from Metro Council, Metro Housing will make changes to membership requirements 
(Metro Council has the sole authority to make changes to membership requirements and 



 
  

 

Page 7 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

Metro Code more broadly).	Because TCPB is not an oversight body and does not have a role 
in determining the composition of the SHSOC, their feedback will not be solicited. 	
 
As part of this process, Metro Housing will also share with Metro Council and SHSOC the 
current practices to identify conflicts of interest and solicit feedback on where these 
practices may be improved upon to ensure independent oversight among members of the 
SHSOC.  
 
Timeline:		
February	2024	–		

 Gather input from SHSOC co-chairs on membership requirements and priorities 
April	2024	–		

 Gather input from Metro Council on membership requirements and priorities. 
Provide Metro Council the recommendations solicited from SHSOC co-chairs to help 
inform any changes to membership requirements  

Summer	2024	–		
 SHSOC Annual evaluation of committee membership needs and conflict of interest 

disclosure 
Fall	2024	–		

 Share evaluation results with committee members and Metro Council 
 Metro Council makes changes to Metro Code as needed to reflect updates in 

membership composition 
 
 
Recommendation	4.	Document	criteria	and	process	for	monitoring	up	to	25%	of	
county	program	activities	
	
Response:	Management agrees that clear monitoring criteria will be beneficial to the 
success of SHS. To ensure effective oversight and accountability, the SHS Workplan and IGA 
incorporate a variety of tools to support SHS compliance including but not limited to 
reporting, monitoring, program evaluation and auditing. Metro has the authority to 
monitor performance proactively, or when necessary, for cause.  
 
In service to operational oversight and accountability obligations, Metro Council approved 
additional FTE to staff a quality and compliance team that will support SHS oversight, 
accountability and quality improvement in day-to-day operations.  
 
Proposed	plan: Metro Housing will establish monitoring processes, tools and document 
monitoring criteria used in the monitoring process. Metro Housing is working on 
establishing a quality and compliance team that will support monitoring, program 
evaluation, report analysis and other quality and compliance related activities. Recruitment 
started in January 2024. This team will be responsible for documenting and overseeing 
monitoring processes (to include ongoing monitoring and ‘for cause’ monitoring) and 
establishing a regular monitoring schedule. The quality and compliance team will also be 
responsible for other areas related to quality and compliance. 



 
  

 

Page 8 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

 
To move this work forward in the interim, Metro has secured a contract with a third-party 
consultant and is currently working with them to develop monitoring practices, including 
creating a risk assessment tool and criteria for risk areas, documenting compliance with 
the 25% requirement, and outlining the monitoring processes and requirements that will 
be launched in 2024. Because there is a wide range of monitoring needs (ex: data integrity 
vs program-specific monitoring vs fiscal monitoring), the tools will establish a clearer 
framework while not limiting Metro’s monitoring authority. These tools will directly 
address this recommendation, and Metro Housing will consult with the counties (per IGA 
requirement) prior to implementation. 
 
Timeline:		
December	2023	–		

 Secure contract with third party contractor 	
January	2024	–		

 Develop scope of work that includes practices and tools to meet monitoring needs 
January	to	February	2024	‐		

 Develop monitoring framework and present to counties 
April	2024	–		

 Initiate monitoring for each county  
January	to	June	2024	–		

 Hire quality and compliance team  
 
 
Recommendation 5.	Document	criteria	and	process	for	implementing	corrective	
action	plans	
 
Response:	Management agrees that documenting criteria and a process for implementing 
corrective action plans (CAPs) is valuable for all parties. The corrective action plan is 
intended to be a collaborative operational tool designed to fix problems and avoid the 
dispute resolution process. The IGA language governing CAPs creates a broad framework to 
acknowledge the wide range of known and unknown circumstances which could trigger the 
need for a corrective action plan. Additionally, the IGAs attempt to acknowledge the unique 
demands of each plan by requiring Metro to seek input from SHSOC and the county partner 
in developing the individual plans. Management notes that the CAP process is an area that 
warrants review of the intent versus the practical application of the process, as a successful 
CAP creation process is dependent on the cooperation of the counties to engage in a 
meaningful dialogue.  
 
The active Multnomah County Corrective Action Plan (initiated in 2023) enabled Metro to 
establish and document the overall CAP process, timeline, communication/notification 
activities, reporting tools and a CAP template which will be used during future CAP 
implementations. Following the implementation of the Multnomah County CAP, Metro also 
captured lessons learned and best practices for future CAPs including enhanced role clarity, 
CAP process oversight, document integrity and communication standards. 
 



 
  

 

Page 9 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

Proposed	plan:	Metro Housing, in partnership with the Office of COO, FRS and OMA will 
continue to document CAP development and implementation processes to ensure 
transparency and program compliance. This will include process and documentation 
requirements for all CAPs, including:  
  

 A clear problem statement that describes the activity/action that is at risk or out of 
compliance (see IGA section 6.3.5 for criteria) 

 Documentation of efforts made to correct the problem prior to initiating a CAP 
(including input from SHSOC and county partner) 

 Documentation of the reason why the CAP was initiated and documentation of CAP 
notice to the partner 

 Documentation of the CAP development process including parties involved from 
each jurisdiction 

 Documentation of templates and other tools required as part of the CAP 
 Specific and measurable CAP outcomes and timeframes  
 Process for tracking CAP progress-towards-goals 
 All associated documents referenced in the CAP (ex: work plans, financial 

statements, etc.)  
 Documentation of CAP outcome and next steps as appropriate 

  
This process, the above-mentioned reporting tools and CAP template will be shared with all 
counties. Updates to steps and tools that may be required as part of future caps will also be 
documented and shared with partners. 
	
Timeline:		
March	2024	‐		

 Metro Housing to share CAP process, reporting tools and CAP template and any 
additional guidance with county partners  

 
Recommendation	6.	Ensure	the	Regional	Oversight	Committee	can	fulfill	its	
responsibilities	by:	

a.	Providing	a	full	list	of	responsibilities	assigned	to	it	
b.	Providing	sufficient	data	to	evaluate	administrative	spending	and	make	
recommendations	
c.	Providing	sufficient	data	to	evaluate	spending	on	populations	A	and	B	
d.	Including	data	and	recommendations	about	administrative	spending	and	
spending	on	populations	A	and	B	in	the	report	to	Council	
 

Response:	Management agrees that a review of SHSOC duties and evaluation of committee 
performance is important at this stage of the SHS Program. While staff have established 
tools and processes to support committee roles and functions, there are still gaps (based on 
time, capacity and the stage of program implementation) in what the committee has been 
able to complete when compared to their overarching responsibilities. For example, the 
audit cites that the committee has not to date evaluated provider administrative costs. Due 
to the significant expansion of the service provider network over the last two and a half 
years and being at the initial stages of developing data collection and reporting capacity, 



 
  

 

Page 10 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

provider level administrative costs have not yet been reported. As a result, the committee 
has not been able to fulfill their obligation to review service provider administrative costs. 
This information will be incorporated into year 3 reporting tools. 
 
As the system stabilizes, and more data becomes accessible, Metro Housing is updating 
reporting templates to obtain and share all necessary information for the committee to 
effectively execute its roles and obligations. Additionally, refinements to reporting 
templates have been made in response to SHSOC Annual Report recommendations.  
	
Proposed	plan:	Metro Housing, in partnership with the SHSOC, will review the committee 
role and responsibilities as mentioned in governing documents (including SHS measure, 
SHSOC Charter and Metro SHS Workplan) and note inconsistencies in language. Metro staff 
will also take administrative steps to update committee practices and governing 
documents as needed to reflect all duties and responsibilities outlined in governing 
documents. Metro Housing will also partner with SHSOC to review progress toward each 
duty and identify gaps and barriers to progress. The SHSOC member onboarding process 
will be documented to demonstrate the actions taken to review roles and responsibilities. 	
 
Additionally, an enhanced fiscal review will be incorporated into existing committee 
quarterly regional financial reports and presentations, including special attention to 
administrative expenditures. Expenditures specific to populations A and B will be captured 
in the year 2 SHSOC Annual Report, and future recommendations related to this data will 
be included as needed. The below timeline will address the specific actions to respond to 
each bullet embedded in this recommendation.  
 
Next steps by A-D recommendations (timeline to follow): 
 
A - Staff will review all SHSOC language related to roles and responsibilities across 
governing documents with the committee and update as needed. Updates will be provided 
to all current committee members and to future members as part of onboarding. Staff will 
update the onboarding process to review roles and responsibilities in the updated charter.  
Metro Council may amend governing documents as necessary. 
B – Beginning with the FY23-24 Q1 report which will be submitted in January 2024, Metro 
staff will discuss jurisdictional administrative expenditures as part of quarterly financial 
presentations. In the year 2 (FY22-23) annual report, Metro will include additional 
information on administrative expenditures and a comprehensive regional financial report 
will be included as an exhibit.  
C – SHSOC will review population A and B spending as part of the year 2 annual report 
process and provide recommendations as appropriate.  
D	– Information about administrative spending and spending on populations A and B will 
be a part of the year 2 annual report that will be shared with Metro Council in March of 
2024. Metro staff will include an overview of the committee’s responsibilities as part of the 
process in developing the report and associated recommendations to Metro Council. This 
will be expanded to include service provider administrative costs in year 3 annual report. 
The committee may make recommendations as they deem necessary. 
 



 
  

 

Page 11 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

Timeline  
January	2024	–		

 Compile a list of all SHSOC responsibilities as described in the various governing 
documents. A list of responsibilities will be provided to the committee and 
discussed as part of the annual report development agenda item. 

 Incorporate jurisdictional administrative spending into the year 2 annual report and 
discuss with the committee. Incorporate population A and B spending into the 
SHSOC annual regional report. 

April	2024	–		
 Metro Housing and SHSOC co-chairs review committee responsibilities and identify 

language to update in governing documents to ensure alignment and consistency 
 Metro Housing and SHSOC co-chairs review progress towards each responsibility 

and identify gaps and barriers to progress 
 Metro Housing update SHSOC onboarding process to include any updated roles and 

responsibility  
May	2024	–		

 Metro to work with Counties to update reporting templates (to include SHSOC 
reporting recommendations) 

June	2024	–		
 Metro Council amends governing documents and code as appropriate and in 

alignment with IGA (8.2.4) 
July	2024	–		

 Use updated report templates at beginning of new fiscal year 
October	2024	–		

 Include additional information on administrative costs in year 3 annual report. 
Metro will expand administrative cost reporting to include:   

o Service provider administrative costs  
o Additional detail on county administrative costs  

February	2025	–		
 Deliver third annual SHSOC regional report and presentation to Metro Council and 

County Boards of Commissioners which will include an assessment of jurisdictional 
and non-profit partner administrative costs 

 
 
Recommendation	7.		Establish	an	annual	process	for	Metro	Council,	Tri‐County	
Planning	Body,	and	Regional	Oversight	Committee	to	review	the	funding	allocations	
for	each	county	and	adjust	if	needed	
 
Response:	Management agrees that establishing a process for review of funding allocation 
percentages is an important step in adhering to IGA requirements (section 3.3 of IGA).  Part 
of that process will include identifying frequency; annually may not be the right cadence 
based on administrative complexity.  
  
Proposed	plan:	Metro Finance will lead the development of this process with the Finance 
Review Team (FRT), a technical committee charged with assessing income tax collections 
and the region’s overall financial health (IGA, section 6.2). 



 
  

 

Page 12 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

     
Timeline:	  
Fall	2024	–		

 Metro Finance will develop a process to review funding allocations with FRT 
Winter	2024	–		

 Allocation process shared with Metro Council and SHSOC 
 
 To	improve	the	reliability	and	consistency	of	program	performance	data,	
Metro	Housing	should:	
 
Recommendation	8.	Clarify	the	goals	related	to	serving	5,000	people	and	10,000	
households	
 
Response:	Management agrees that clarifying language related to goals will allow for 
clearer communication and better understanding of those goals. As noted by the auditor, 
the SHS work plan, SHS website and the Metro Housing budget differ in language such as 
people or households served. Metro Housing will review and align all goal related language 
for clarity. 
 
Each goal utilizes a unique set of services that count toward that goal which will be 
addressed in the next response. Metro Housing will identify and address inconsistencies in 
language regarding the 5,000 and 10,000 goals. 
 
Proposed	plan: Metro Housing will review documents that contain references to the 5,000 
and 10,000 goals and address inconsistencies. 
 
Timeline:	
Winter	2024	

 Metro Housing to review written materials that reference the 5,000 and 10,000 
goals and identify inconsistencies 

Spring	2024	
 Metro Housing to update all materials for consistency 

July	2024	
 Incorporate updated language in reporting tools and templates 

 
 
Recommendation	9.	Define	which	service	types	are	used	to	report	on	progress	
towards	the	5,000	and	10,000	goals.	
 
Response: Management agrees that defining which service types are used to report on 
progress towards the 5,000 and 10,000 goals is key to evaluating and communicating 
progress toward those goals. There are different service types that Metro has defined to 
capture the continuum of homeless services in the different counties. Every household 
served with the specific services below counts as 1 toward the 5,000 or 10,000 goal. 
Services that count toward the 5,000 and 10,000 goals are as follows: 



 
  

 

Page 13 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

 
Services that count toward 5,000 goal: 
 

 Permanent	supportive	housing - service intervention that includes a housing unit 
with wrap-around services and long-term rent assistance 

 Long‐term	rent	assistance - long term payment of rent for a household to support 
long term housing stability 

Services that count toward 10,000 goal: 

 Short‐term	housing	assistance includes: 
o rapid rehousing (placement into housing with services. Typically, up to 2 

years) and; 
o eviction prevention rent assistance. Typically, between 1-6 months of rent 

assistance to avoid eviction. 
 
Work taking place in standards of practice, program evaluation and monitoring will 
provide further clarity and definition of SHS services and how they advance the 5,000 and 
10,000 goals. The goal of 5,000 is primarily respective to population A and the 10,000 goal 
is primarily respective to population B.  

Proposed	plan:	Metro staff will work with county implementation partners, in partnership 
with the TCPB and SHSOC, to review definitions, clarify and document the services that 
count toward the 5,000 and 10,000 goals. Following this engagement, Metro Housing will 
update documentation and reporting templates to reflect any changes. 

Timeline:		
March	2024		

 Metro will share a memo communicating the current state of services reflected in 
the 5,000 and 10,000 goals 

May	2024		
 Metro staff will work with county partners and engage the SHSOC and TCPB to 

clarify and update service areas as appropriate 
June	2024	

 Share updates with SHSOC, TPB and Metro Council 
July	2024		

 Update definition and glossary included in updated reporting tools 
 Expand reporting tool guidance to outline which services are reflected in the 5,000 

and 10,000 goals 
February	2025	

 Delivery year 3 annual report with updated information 
 
	
Recommendation	10.	Develop	a	performance	measure	to	measure	the	quality	of	
services	provided.	
 



 
  

 

Page 14 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

Response:	Management agrees that quality services are critical to meeting the intended 
outcomes of this program. As SHS moves from its development phase to sustained program 
delivery, program evaluation, standards of practice and quality of services must be 
prioritized and will become a deeper focus area for Metro Housing. As mentioned in 
response to recommendation 4, Metro Housing is hiring a quality and compliance team that 
will support quality assurance. Metro Housing also has a team of policy staff who are 
central to advancing this work, which is currently under way.  
 
An example of this is seen in permanent supportive housing (PSH). Permanent supportive 
housing is a proven best practice and effective service intervention for those who have very 
high and persistent barriers to housing stability (defined as Population A in SHS). While 
PSH has been a regular practice in greater Portland, it has been under structured due to 
funding and capacity constraints. SHS presents an opportunity to address these gaps. Metro 
Housing has dedicated capacity and defined the scope for a new body of work that will 
establish SHS standards for PSH. This will include clarifying eligible populations, 
establishing clear definitions, levels of care and service models. As part of this work, a 
study is being conducted to clarify the cost of PSH, required infrastructure and service 
components necessary for effective service delivery and positive outcomes for PSH 
participants. Establishing standards of quality for PSH and operational oversight structures 
will be products of this effort.  
 
Metro and county implementation partners are building capacity and infrastructure to 
begin new bodies of work like the one mentioned above. Metro will use tools like data 
sharing agreements with county partners to advance program performance, efficacy, 
quality and integrity and ultimately lead to better quantitative and qualitative analysis.  
 
Proposed	plan:	Metro Housing will establish the first performance measurements that 
measure service quality in FY2024. As mentioned in recommendation 4, Metro Housing 
will hire the quality and compliance team by June 30, 2024. Recruitment of data staff was 
launched in December and will be followed by quality and compliance recruitments in 
January. These staff members will play roles in advancing quality measures. To support this 
work further, Metro Housing has secured contracts with several third-party experts who 
bring a variety of technical expertise in these areas to address immediate needs in program 
evaluation and ultimately in establishing quality measurements. 
 
Timeline:		
February‐June	2024		

 Hire quality and compliance team 
March	2024	

 Establish scope of work with consultant 
April‐September	2024	

 Research and development with consultant 
December	2024		

 Establish measurement of quality and process for evaluation 
	
	



 
  

 

Page 15 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

Recommendation 11.	Use	existing	data	to	provide	more	context	for	county	and	
regional	performance	by	adding	the	following	to	quarterly	and	annual	reports:	

 Retention	and	returns	to	homelessness	compared	to	the	number	of	people	
served	

 The	capacity	of	permanent	supportive	housing	compared	to	the	overall	need	
	
Response:	Management agrees that timely access to information is critical to effective 
oversight and successful program implementation. Housing retention and returns to 
homelessness compared to people served and the capacity of PSH compared to the overall 
need, respectively, are already included in annual reports. Note that this information was 
not included in the first annual report but will be included in all subsequent annual reports. 
This information is not currently included in quarterly reports. Data reported annually tells 
a more comprehensive and accurate story than data collected on shorter intervals. 
  
The capacity of permanent supportive housing compared to the overall need is 
intentionally only reported annually. This data element is best reported annually due to the 
nature of the measurement and time necessary to draw accurate conclusions from the data. 
However, Metro Housing does agree that tracking retention and returns to homelessness 
quarterly could add value.  
  
Proposed	plan:	Retention rates for Permanent Supportive Housing and Rapid Re-Housing, 
length of time homelessness, returns to homelessness and PSH capacity compared to need 
have been incorporated into the county year 2 annual reports and will be incorporated into 
the SHSOC regional report to be released in late winter. Metro Housing will work with 
counties to address potential barriers to reporting retention and returns to homelessness 
compared to people served quarterly. Metro Housing will update quarterly reports to 
include this information once barriers are addressed. 
  
Timeline:	 
March	2024	–		

 Include housing retention rates, returns to homelessness and PSH units created 
compared to need in year 2 annual report and share with Metro Council 

 Work with counties to update report templates 
July	2024	–		

 Implement new reporting standards in new fiscal year 
	

	

12.	Create	a	process	to	check	the	accuracy	of	county	quarterly	and	annual	reports	
and	require	counties	to	identify	if	they	have	revised	data	provided	previously	
	
Response:	Metro Housing agrees that effective review of reports and clarity regarding new 
data that changes previous quarter outcomes is critical for effective oversight and 
successful implementation of SHS. Metro Housing’s current process includes regularly 
reviewing all reports and related documents (such as quarterly and annual reports and 
budget templates) for accuracy, completeness and adherence to SHS requirements. 
Additionally, Metro staff have developed tools to evaluate county performance to annual, 



 
  

 

Page 16 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

LIP and ten-year goals, adherence to requirements, standards and other key evaluation 
areas in annual reports submitted by the counties.  
 
Management agrees that this process can be strengthened, and dedicated capacity is 
critical to support this function. The quality and compliance team mentioned in the 
responses to recommendations 4 and 10 will play a significant role in supporting and 
improving the report review and analysis process.  
 
Management agrees that future reports should indicate updates to data shown on prior 
reports but will not require counties to resubmit prior quarter’s reports. Reports are 
reflective of data collected at a specific point in time which can result in actuals changing 
over time.  
  
Proposed	plan:	Metro staff will continue to improve the report review processes by 
establishing a quality and compliance team that will focus on review and analysis processes 
improvements and improving tools to analyze reports. Metro Housing will work with 
county staff to update report templates to include updated data from previous quarters. 
 
Timeline:		
February‐June	2024	–		

 Hire quality and compliance team 
May	2024	–		

 Work with county staff to update reporting templates 
July	2024	–		

 Implement new reporting templates 
September	2024	to	April	2025	–		

 Develop additional tools to assess and evaluate reports and update report 
evaluation process 

May	2025	–		
 Update templates and process to reflect new tools 

July	2025	–		
 Implement updates to report evaluation process 

	
	
Recommendation 13.	Update	reporting	templates	to:	

 Add	data	about	the	percentage	of	the	counties’	total	spending	that	comes	from	
SHS	

 Add	line	items	for	spending	on	each	service	type	provided	
	
Response:	Management agrees that report templates need to be clear about financial 
expenditures. Regarding the recommendation to add data about the percentage of total 
spending that comes from SHS, current financial reports do not include financial 
information about other funding sources. Metro cannot obligate counties to report on non-
SHS-funding sources or activities, and SHS reports are currently only specific to activities 
and households funded by SHS.  
 



 
  

 

Page 17 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

That said, SHS was always intended to be a funding source infused into existing and new 
homeless services programs and systems. It would be beneficial for the public to 
understand the impact of SHS on homeless services as part of a broader homeless services 
system. Metro recognizes the value of sharing system-wide reporting and has expressed 
this position with county partners and encouraged system wide-reporting.  
	
Reporting templates are improved on an annual basis and those changes are implemented 
with each new fiscal year. Changes are based on feedback from the SHSOC, Metro Council 
and staff evaluation of how well the current reporting requirements and tools serve the 
needs and goals of the program and effective oversight.  
 
Regarding the recommendation to add line items to reporting templates broken down by 
service type, Metro Housing is currently taking administrative steps toward incorporating 
service type specific line items and associated expense lines into budget and reporting 
templates. 
 
Proposed	plan:	Staff will work with county implementation partners to update budget and 
reporting templates to show expenditures by service types. Metro will also explore 
opportunities to better understand the impact of SHS in homeless services system of care. 
 
Timeline:		
January‐March	2024	–		

 Gather report template feedback from key stakeholders 
May	2024	–		

 Develop report template changes in partnership with counties and explore 
opportunities to understand and communicate the impact of SHS in the system more 
broadly 

July	2024	–		
 Implement report template changes with the new fiscal year 

 
 
 
To	identify	programs	that	provide	efficient,	effective,	and	equitable	
services	to	inform	long‐term	planning,	the	Tri‐County	Planning	Body	
should:	
 
The following four recommendations are specific to the Tri-County Planning Body (TCPB). 
To provide succinct responses, we are including the following information about the role of 
the TCPB and its approach to advancing the committee charge. 
 
The TCPB was conceived of during the development of ballot measure 26-210 to ensure 
that certain systems supporting homeless services funded by the measure could be 
regionalized. Specifically, this body is charged with developing a regional plan and is 
“responsible for developing and implementing a tri-county initiative that will be 
responsible for identifying regional goals, strategies and outcome metrics related to 
addressing homelessness in the region.” 



 
  

 

Page 18 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

 
Upon the launch of the TCPB in September 2022, committee members prioritized 
identifying regional goals over developing a full regional plan in the interest of accelerating 
program implementation. Considering the growing scale of the ongoing housing crisis and 
the acute impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, the TCPB believed that urgency should be its 
driving principle in its first phase of work. This approach meant that in its first year, the 
TCPB worked with Metro and county staff to select a set of goals that could be implemented 
to address the most pressing regional needs. They are as follows: 
 

 Regional Landlord Recruitment: Increase the availability of readily accessible and 
appropriate housing units for service providers; 

 Healthcare System Alignment: Greater alignment and long-term partnerships with 
healthcare systems that meaningfully benefit people experiencing homelessness and 
the systems that serve them; 

 Coordinated Entry: Coordinated Entry is more accessible, equitable, and efficient for 
staff and clients;   

 Training: Service providers have access to the knowledge and skills required to 
operate at a high level of program functionality; the need of culturally specific 
providers will be prioritized through all program design; 

 Technical Assistance: Organizations have access to technical assistance required to 
operate at a high level of organization functionality; the need of culturally specific 
providers will be prioritized through all program design; 

 Employee Recruitment and Retention: County contracts for SHS funded agencies 
and providers will establish standards through the region to achieve livable wages 
for direct service staff. 

 
These initial goals were established in direct response to existing challenges and 
opportunities for successful implementation and regionalization of SHS. Since the above 
goals will be incorporated as major components of the overall regional plan, we remain on 
track in its development. And there is much work for the TCPB to consider in its second 
year alongside the development of the goals, including data, reporting, metrics and other 
key areas that will advance the goal of regionalization. It also means that the development 
of the plan will be incremental as certain strategies will be implemented while other parts 
of the plan remain in process. The conditions for regionalization are dynamic and require 
an iterative approach that allows for maximum responsiveness to changing demands and 
opportunities. The regional plan is a living document that will be built and added to 
throughout the program's life. The TCPB will refer Regional Plan language to the SHSOC for 
approval and incorporation into the plan and ultimately, Metro Council will adopt the plan. 
The expected incorporation of implementation strategies for the six initial goals into the 
plan is December 2025. 
 
Recommendation 14.	Research	relevant	studies	of	the	program	impacts	on	SHS’	
target	populations	
	
Response: Management agrees that research of relevant studies is a critical component in 
the success of the SHS program. It is also a foundational element in the development of the 



 
  

 

Page 19 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

Regional Plan and several bodies of research are currently active (more information 
below). The TCPB is working with Metro, county staff and a group of consultants to develop 
a plan that moves SHS from three separate county programs to a regional system of care. 
Research is incorporated into the scope of this work.  
 
Metro staff have established consultant contracts to support each goal area outlined above. 
The initial scope of work for consultants is to research national best practices and assess 
the current local landscape, challenges and opportunities. Metro staff manage the 
consultant contracts and are responsible for staffing the development of the plan. Initial 
consultant deliverables also include identifying specific opportunities and 
recommendations for advancing goals based on the results of research and local conditions. 
The TCPB receives a consultant report and presentation of research, findings and 
recommendations for their consideration which they then use to provide guidance to 
counties in each of the six goal areas. County and Metro staff then work together to develop 
a proposal including strategies, action items, timelines, goals and metrics and a budget 
framework to operationalize committee recommendations. The committee provides 
feedback and additional guidance until the proposal by counties adequately meets the 
committee's recommendations. TCPB received the presentation on the landlord 
recruitment goal from the consultant in November 2023 and provided recommendations to 
the counties. Timelines for receiving consultant reports on the other bodies of research are 
outlined below.  
 
Proposed	plan:	Metro Housing will continue to conduct research in collaboration with 
consultants as a foundational step in developing the content of the Regional Plan and bring 
the findings of that research to the TCPB.	As mentioned above, once the TCPB receives 
presentations on each goal area, they will provide recommendations and guidance to the 
counties. The counties will then work with Metro staff to develop a proposal in response to 
those recommendations. Metro Housing anticipates that the delivery of initial research to 
the TCPB in each of the six areas will be complete by the end of FY23-24 and that the 
approval of county proposals will be complete by December 2025. Below is a timeline for 
when the TCPB will receive the first set of research findings per goal area. 
 
Timeline:		
November	2023	–		

 Landlord recruitment presentation and discussion  
January	2024	‐		

 Healthcare System Alignment presentation and discussion 
March	2024	‐		

 Employee Recruitment and Retention presentation and discussion 
April	2024	‐		

 Coordinated Entry presentation 
May	2024	‐		

 Training presentation and discussion 
June	2024	‐		

 Technical Assistance presentation and discussion 
 



 
  

 

Page 20 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

 
Recommendation 15.	Research	best	practices	for	communicating	program	results	to	
increase	understanding	among	decision‐makers	and	the	public	
	
Response:	 Management agrees that researching and applying best practices in 
communicating program results and progress-towards-goals will strengthen decision-
making and improve public trust. Additionally, a key recommendation that the SHSOC 
provided to Metro Council in their first annual report was for Metro staff to lead a cross-
jurisdictional effort to improve communication about the SHS Program, to help the public 
better understand SHS implementation, progress and outcomes. 
  
Proposed	plan:	Metro Housing is developing a communications strategy that strengthens 
the ability of decision-makers and the public to track progress towards goals in the SHS 
program. The department recently hired a communications manager who is leading this 
effort. Additionally, per the recommendation of the SHSOC, Metro Housing is in the process 
of contracting a third-party communications expert to support the development of a cross-
jurisdictional communications plan. Part of the scope includes conducting research to 
ensure that communications methodologies used are grounded in research-based best 
practices. This body of work will be monitored by the SHSOC as part of tracking progress 
towards annual report recommendations. Metro staff will provide updates to the SHSOC 
and Metro Council and conduct evaluations to determine the effectiveness of the 
communications plan. 
 
Timeline: 
January‐March	2024  

 Launch procurement and select contractor to support development of 
communications plan 

March‐August	2024		
 Develop core narrative construction and best practices for communications, 

including engaging key partners and stakeholders on communication strategy 
September‐November	2024		

 Develop communications plan 
January	–	February	2025		

 Present communications strategy to SHSOC and Metro Council 
March	2025  

 Plan implementation/launch public communications efforts 
June	–	December	2025	 

 Develop evaluation process to monitor effectiveness of communications plan 
January	–	March	2026		

 Conduct evaluation of communications plan 
April‐May	2026	  

 Finalize evaluation findings 
June	2026		

 Present findings of communications plan evaluation to SHSOC and Metro Council 
 
 



 
  

 

Page 21 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 

Recommendation 16.	Advise	Boards	of	Commissioners,	Metro	Council,	and	Metro	
Housing	periodically	on	the	results	of	the	research	
	
Response: Management agrees that providing updates on the results of research would 
advance the TCPB’s charge of developing a regional plan. 
	
The TCPB was intentionally designed to provide touchpoints to all four jurisdictional 
elected bodies by conferring full membership to an elected official from each county and 
Metro Council. These TCPB members are expected to report back to their respective 
legislative bodies the progress of the TCPB, including relevant research and analysis. Also, 
Metro staff meet with Metro Councilors bi-weekly and provide TCPB updates to during 
those briefings. However, we believe that increasing the proximity of the TCPB to the 
implementing jurisdictions will accelerate the work of regionalizing homeless services. 
 
Proposed	plan:	Metro Housing will work with the TCPB co-chairs to establish a new 
process and schedule for presenting directly to county boards and Metro Council. 
 
Timeline:		
March‐May	2024 

 Develop a schedule for providing general updates and advising Boards of 
Commissioners, Metro Council and Metro Housing periodically on research findings 

 
 
Recommendation 17.	Advise	the	Regional	Oversight	Committee	and	Metro	Housing	
about	best	practices	for	communicating	program	results	to	ensure	understanding	
	
Response: While the TCPB does not have a formal role to advise the SHSOC, management 
agrees that increased collaboration between the SHSOC and the TCPB would benefit much 
of Metro Housing’s work, including implementing best practices for communicating 
program results. 
 
Metro Housing has developed structures to foster collaboration among committees and 
facilitates a monthly meeting of committee co-chairs from SHSOC, TCPB and Affordable 
Housing Bond Oversight Committee. Agendas are developed with input from co-chairs and 
address various intersecting issues. Effectively communicating program results is a critical 
component of Metro Housing’s future communications strategy, and directly intersects 
with both work of the TCPB and SHSOC. SHSOC, TCPB and Metro Council will be briefed on 
best practices as part of communication plan updates. 
 
Proposed	plan:	Metro Housing will include a new standing agenda item for monthly co-
chair meetings to facilitate input from the TCPB co-chairs on effectively communicating 
program results. 
 
Timeline:		
January	2024	



Page 22 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

 Include new standing agenda item in monthly co-chair meetings beginning where
discussion on best practices on communicating program results can take place.

TBD/ongoing	
 Information about best practices for communicating program results shared by

consultant will be shared with SHSOC and TCPB upon receipt of deliverables. 

Recommendation 18.	Use	research,	program	data	and	financial	projections	to	inform	
strategies	for	the	regional	program	

Response:	Management agrees that effective strategies must be informed by data, analysis 
and sound budgeting. These are all elements currently included in the development of any 
policy at the direction of the TCPB and will continue to be incorporated as this work grows. 

Proposed	plan:	As we enter year two of the TCPB, we remain heavily engaged in research 
and analysis through the work of our consultants and staff on each of the six regional goals. 
The scopes of work for each of the six regional goals reflect these elements. In its first year, 
the TCPB received briefings on various research and program data to inform its decision-
making, and in September and November 2023, the committee received a briefing on the 
Regional Investment Fund and projections for FY24. In the coming months, the TCPB will 
deliberate on budgeting the RIF for the first time. At that point, the TCPB will receive 
additional financial information and analysis to support their decision-making. 

As the work of the TCPB moves from research and analysis and into the development of the 
Regional Plan, the committee will approve specific strategies, a budget framework and 
metrics for each goal area. Once a county plan is approved and incorporated into the 
Regional Plan, the committee will receive quarterly progress reports and presentations on 
that component of the Regional Plan including a review of financial expenditures to assure 
alignment with the budget framework associated with that body of work. This quarterly 
review process will allow for discussion and opportunities for process improvement. 

This work is ongoing, and over the next two years, the TCPB will approve county plans 
related to each of the six regional goals based on research, program data and financial 
projections to inform their strategies. 

Timeline:		
Spring	2024	–		

 TCPB develops budget framework for landlord engagement
January	2024‐December	2025	–		

 TCPB review and approve county plans based on six regional goals and receive
quarterly updates on plans following approval 

 Document how the strategies to meet Regional Plan goals are informed by research,
program data, and financial projections 



Page 23 of 23 
Supportive Housing Services Audit-Management Response 

In closing, this program has been described as an ambitious moonshot to address 
homelessness in our region. It is not perfect, but it is Metro’s firm belief that the ambition 
inherent in the creation of this program and the faith of the public who approved it can and 
will be fulfilled. As is reflected in the auditor’s findings and management’s response, 
rigorous examination of how the SHS program has worked so far, what aids the mission 
and what detracts from its mission is a critical part of its future success and not something 
to shy away from. What is called for in this moment is persistence, discipline, and sustained 
attention. Metro may not have had a deep bench of homeless service expertise at the 
beginning of this journey, but it does have decades of experience leading the 
regionalization of systems that work better for the public when they are considered 
together. What Metro has learned through the regionalization of the solid waste system, 
parks and natural areas, and land use planning is that corrections, realignments, struggle 
and even the occasional failure are normal – so long as honest lessons can be learned and 
acted upon, these struggles are never in vain. Metro, its management and leadership, is 
committed to bringing the full strength of its institutional experience to the table along 
with the broad array of our partners to see this program through to success. 

Management expresses our gratitude to Auditor Evans and team for performing 
this audit and for the opportunity to submit a management response. 

Sincerely, 

Marissa Madrigal, Chief Operating Officer 



Office of the Metro Auditor 

600 NE Grand Avenue 

Portland, Oregon 97232 

503-797-1892 

www.oregonmetro.gov 



 
 

1 
 

 

Date:  February 6, 2024 

To: Tri-County Planning Body Members 

From:  Vahid Brown, Deputy Director of Housing and Community Development, Clackamas 

County 

Daniel Field, Director of the Joint Office of Homeless Services, Multnomah County 

 Jes Larson, Assistant Director of Homeless Services, Washington County 

Topic:  Proposal to Advance Regional Landlord Recruitment 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Tri-County Planning Body (TCPB) set a goal related to regional landlord recruitment, to 

“Increase the availability of readily accessible and appropriate housing units for service 

providers”. This included the recommendation to contract with a qualified consultant to 

identify areas where regionalization can support existing and future county efforts and submit 

recommendations. That resulted in the Focus Strategies memo presented to the TCPB in 

November 2023. This memo outlines the collective approach to advance the goal of landlord 

recruitment, and the table below provides a high-level summary of the recommendations.  

Recommendation Summary Immediate Steps Longer Term Goal 

Communication 

and education 

plan 

Regional campaign 

focused on landlord 

recruitment using 

Metro and Regional 

Investment Fund 

(RIF) resources 

alongside established 

capacity in the 

landlord liaison 

group. 

Establish a point person at 

Metro to attend landlord 

liaison meetings to begin 

planning a website and 

outreach campaign. 

Crosswalk existing 

content on county 

website. 

Metro to contract with a 

consultant to support 

longer-term goals.  

Create 

comprehensive tools 

and opportunities to 

recruit and educate 

landlords on the 

opportunities 

available via SHS 

resources, ensuring 

providers have 

concise information. 



TCPB Proposal to Advance Regional Landlord Recruitment 

 

2 of 13 

Align financial 

incentives  

Per the RLRA policies, 

the landlord 

incentives are 

aligned.  Continue to 

educate stakeholders 

and further explore 

expansion. 

Landlord Liaison group 

will coordinate additional 

training for case managers 

and landlords on existing 

aligned incentives and 

allowable expenses such 

as rental insurance. 

Schedule report to TCPB 

from Housing 

Development Center on 

the cost and outcomes of 

the first year Risk 

Mitigation Program.  

Continue to examine 

RLRA landlord 

incentives and 

consider costs to 

expand these 

landlord incentives 

to other housing 

programs. 

Tracking and 

access to unit 

inventory 

 

Fund study of 

Multnomah County 

contract with 

Housing Connectors 

to consider ways to 

regionalize the 

approach. 

Expand Housing 

Connectors contract and 

include resources to 

contract with a third-party 

for program evaluation. 

Determine if a 

regional approach is 

feasible given market 

dynamics. 

Quality problem 

solving services 

Expand services 

available to landlords 

to resolve issues with 

specific tenants and 

supporting 

communication with 

case managers.   

Clackamas County will 

pilot and lead efforts to 

expand existing programs 

and create new ones. 

Consider a regional 

“hotline” for 

landlords to call for 

immediate support, 

working closely with 

case managers and 

RLRA staff to resolve 

any issues that arise.  

Investigate 

property 

management 

needs 

Property management 

needs for affordable 

housing, particularly 

permanent supportive 

housing, is impacting 

referrals and lease up. 

Metro will commission a 

study to examine 

solutions to increase 

mission-based property 

management, with special 

attention to needs for PSH 

communities.  

Ensure a more stable 

and effective property 

management for 

affordable housing and 

permanent supportive 

housing that centers 

the needs of residents.  



TCPB Proposal to Advance Regional Landlord Recruitment 

 

3 of 13 

RESOURCES NEEDED FROM THE REGIONAL INVESTMENT FUND 

Metro and the three counties recommend utilizing $4.5-5 million from the Regional 

Investment Fund (RIF) to accomplish the initial recommendations included in this memo and 

support work underway that is advancing the landlord recruitment goal, including the Risk 

Mitigation Program and staffing. Exact cost determinations will be developed as the proposals 

are implemented, staffing needs arise within the counties, and scopes of work are defined with 

consultants. If approved by the TCPB, Metro and the counties will provide a status update 

quarterly and develop implementation plans.   

 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION AND CONSIDERATIONS 

The summary above provides the high-level proposal from the counties and Metro. As the proposal was 

developed, we considered background information influenced by defined values, the work underway, 

and other context. The memo continues and details that thought process.  

• VALUES: Reducing Service Provider Burden & Enhancing Tenant Success ..................................... 3 

• CONSIDERATIONS: Regional Coordination ...................................................................................... 4 

• CONSIDERATIONS: Centering Equity & Creating Durability ............................................................. 5 

• WORK UNDERWAY: Building On Existing Efforts To Expand Local Unit Acquisition ....................... 5 

• RECOMMENDATIONS ...................................................................................................................... 8 

• CONCLUSION .................................................................................................................................. 12 

 

VALUES: Reducing Service Provider Burden & Enhancing Tenant 

Success 

SHS funding, a valuable local resource, caters to our region’s specific needs. While numerous 

landlord recruitment programs rely on state and federal funding with rigid requirements, we 

have the opportunity to improve the effectiveness of those programs through regional 

collaboration. SHS can bolster these programs, meeting local needs and expanding efforts for 

more effective housing placement and retention.  

Service providers have expressed frustrations that stem from the constraints of under-

resourced programs. These providers bear the brunt, managing most aspects of landlord 

education, recruitment, and primary tenant support. SHS funding can alleviate this burden, and 

through strategic planning, we can uphold the vital community relationships service providers 

have forged with property owners.  



TCPB Proposal to Advance Regional Landlord Recruitment 

 

4 of 13 

Any strategies we move forward with must be centered around current and future tenants. We 

do this by ensuring sufficient service levels for case management and other wraparound 

supports, while upholding the commitments we have made to property owners. The best 

incentive we can offer to our region are services that support long-term tenant stability. Our 

priorities include expediting housing placement for those experiencing literal homelessness, 

investing in strategies to diminish racially disparate housing and retention outcomes, and 

mitigating housing discrimination experiences for prospective tenants and service providers.  

CONSIDERATIONS: Regional Coordination 

Each recommendation considers the type of regional coordination in alignment with the 

presentation from the December 2023 TCPB meeting. The chart below details the method of 

regionalism advanced by the proposal. 

Types of 

Regionalism 

This method to regionalize a recommendation advances the 

effectiveness of our work by… 

 

        

Policy 

Setting standards in definitions, allowances, and approaches that are 

universal across the region. This increases clarity for providers 

working across the region, as well as those engaging with the system, 

including clients and landlords/property management. 

Current examples of this type of coordination include the Risk 

Mitigation Program and the Point-in-Time Count. 

         

Programmatic 

Centralizing a program function within one county. This includes 

some administrative and policy coordination but can allow for local 

policy and administrative needs on top of the centralized function. 

Current examples of this type of consolidation include the Homeless 

Management Information System and the Point-in-Time Count. 

    

Administrative 

Consolidating administrative functions across the three counties. This 

could mean centralizing a function to decrease administrative costs 

and lessen impact to capacity across the three counties. 

Current examples of this type of consolidation include the Tri-County 

Request for Pre-Qualification and the Point-in-Time Count. 



TCPB Proposal to Advance Regional Landlord Recruitment 

 

5 of 13 

The counties have also ranked the proposals considering feasibility, understanding the work 

underway within the counties, our service provider system, and potential impact. Metro and 

the counties advise an iterative approach to advancing recommendations moving forward as 

the cumulative impact of multiple recommendations would impact timelines for 

implementation and the counties’ collective ability to advance recommendations related to the 

five other TCPB goals (Coordinated Entry, healthcare system alignment, training, technical 

assistance, and employee recruitment and retention).  

CONSIDERATIONS: Centering Equity & Creating Durability  

Applying an equity lens in housing and homeless services is more than just providing equitable 

services to disproportionately underserved and marginalized communities. Each county is 

supporting workforce training on the history of housing in the state and county and how 

historical discrimination in housing created inequitable disparities that are still affecting Black, 

Indigenous, and people of color (BIPOC) and underserved communities. This will include how 

racism was the foundation of planning and zoning through redlining and information on 

predatory lending practices targeted towards BIPOC communities. There will be an emphasis on 

providing education on how each voucher program/rental subsidy works and how these 

vouchers and programs work to help eliminate and rectify historical disparities. Provider 

recruitment efforts will include finding culturally specific providers, ensuring a focus on known 

culturally specific areas, specific media outlets, and areas of social media created to support 

BIPOC communities, paying special attention to schools, resources, and events within BIPOC 

communities. 

It will take our region time to create a responsive system that addresses regional and local 

needs in our high-rent, low vacancy communities. Additionally, as new initiatives launch, roles 

and responsibilities for each county and Metro must be collaboratively identified. We hope to 

utilize the expanded capacity of the Metro Housing Department and within each county to lead 

this work.    

 

WORK UNDERWAY: Building On Existing Efforts To Expand Local Unit 

Acquisition 

Unit acquisition is an essential component for any homelessness response system. The Metro 

region has several high-rent, low vacancy communities that our service providers are working 

over-time within to find housing units for people experiencing literal homelessness. It’s 

important to note the recommendations below are additive to the work underway in each 



TCPB Proposal to Advance Regional Landlord Recruitment 

 

6 of 13 

county. The county landlord liaisons meet at least once a month to share lessons learned and 

support regional approaches to our work. Metro has hired a consultant that convenes a 

monthly meeting with participation from each county’s housing authority and county staff to 

continuously ensure regional alignment and address the Regional Long Term Rent Assistance 

(RLRA) program implementation challenges (like data collection). This group updates RLRA 

policies on a quarterly basis.   

In addition, each county has already developed local strategies for unit acquisition, 

complimenting regional efforts (see below), and the three counties have launched a regional 

risk mitigation program that includes broad landlord recruitment and a package of landlord 

incentives.  

Clackamas County: Clackamas County hired a Landlord Liaison to lead landlord 

recruitment and retention for the RLRA program in May 2022.  In the fall of 2022, 

Clackamas County began our Landlord Partnership Program, where landlords agree to 

hold units exclusively for RLRA participants in return for direct referrals and financial 

incentives.  We created a website where case managers can review the units currently 

held for RLRA participants and help their participants apply. This program is unique to 

Clackamas County and has helped us establish strong relationships with many of our 

local landlords and property management companies.    

Clackamas County also developed a strong relationship with Multifamily NW (MFNW), 

which we leveraged to create a regional partnership between MFNW and the three 

counties. That partnership has already paid dividends; MFNW hosted a webinar for their 

members for the three counties to present about the RLRA program and how landlords 

could get involved. The three counties also tabled at MFNW’s annual Spectrum 

conference in September 2023, and led a breakout session about RLRA. We are planning 

another webinar with MFNW for Spring of 2024.    

To better support landlord retention, Clackamas County has implemented a few other 

programs and initiatives for RLRA:  

• Our Utility Payment Program is a free, voluntary service that can help our RLRA 
participants that struggle to manage their utility checks to pay their utilities each 
month, which often results in violations or even eviction.   

• We have started an initiative to offer every RLRA participant free renters insurance, 
based on a suggestion from MFNW’s board of directors.  We led trainings in January 
2024 for our case managers on how to help their participants sign up for renters 
insurance using SHS Flex Funds, and urging them to offer it to everyone they work 
with. 

• We have partnered with Clackamas County Resolution Services to raise awareness 
for their free eviction prevention mediation with RLRA landlords and tenants. Every 
time we get a copy of a violation notice, we mail the tenant and landlord a flyer for 
mediation.  



TCPB Proposal to Advance Regional Landlord Recruitment 

 

7 of 13 

 

Multnomah County1: The Joint Office, in collaboration with Home Forward, manages the 

implementation of seven housing voucher programs and collaborates on an eighth 

program with Veterans Affairs. These programs are funded by various local, regional, 

state, and federal programs. The seven programs are the Regional Long-Term Rent 

Assistance Program (RLRA), the Family Unification Program, Foster Youth to 

Independence Program, the Homeless Family System of Care Local Preference Program, 

Mainstream Vouchers for people with disabilities, and the Stability Voucher Program.  

The total portfolio comprises 2,337 vouchers, with RLRA being the largest program, 

currently offering 1,020 combined project-based and tenant-based vouchers. Each 

housing voucher program has its own strategy for building landlord relationships.  

In addition to existing voucher programs, the Joint Office funds several landlord 

supports for housing placement initiatives. This includes landlord incentives for the 

Move In Multnomah Program, The Housing Multnomah Now Program, and Oregon All 

In. This involves incentivizing unit acquisition with private landlords, and other landlord 

supports like the Housing Response Team for Oregon All In participants, which is 

available for landlord and tenant support on evenings and weekends.    

Washington County: In September 2022 Washington County launched its landlord 

liaison program. During the launch, trainings were developed to coach service providers 

in promoting rent assistance programs to landlords while supporting participants during 

the housing search. In February 2023 the Risk Mitigation Program (RMP) contract was 

executed by Multnomah, Clackamas, and Washington Counties. Landlords can receive 

incentives and holding fees directly from providers; this model expedites the payments 

landlords receive and assists in quicker move-in times. The landlord liaison program 

engages, educates, and supports landlords, while also serving as a connector and 

promoter for rent assistance programs. An additional resource that is provided to the 

landlords is the option to list their units on an internal website for providers when they 

are assisting in the housing search process with participants. This approach has helped 

in recruiting landlords to list their units with Washington County and there have been 

70+ units listed so far. 

The three counties and the Housing Development Center (HDC) created a training to 

educate landlords on the RLRA program in addition to the RMP. We partnered with 

MultifamilyNW (MFNW) to conduct a webinar for landlords, participate in the floor 

exhibition, and present at their 2023 Spectrum conference. Additionally, the counties 

 
1 Further details about landlord engagement projects can be found in the Joint Office’s FY24 adopted 

budget (multco.us/budget/fy-2024-adopted-budget) under program offers 30100A, 30309, 30310, 30311, 

30400B, 30400E.   

https://www.multco.us/budget/fy-2024-adopted-budget


TCPB Proposal to Advance Regional Landlord Recruitment 

 

8 of 13 

and HDC also presented during the 2023 Housing Oregon conference. We will continue 

to foster these partnerships and collaboration, and we will plan to present to Housing 

Oregon once again in 2024 and develop new webinars. In 2024, we will be expanding 

our outreach efforts to engage other landlord groups to promote the RLRA program. In 

Washington County, we participate in the monthly landlord forum that is presented by 

the Westside Crime Prevention Coalition in partnership with attorneys from Warren 

Allen, LLC. 

In addition to the landlord incentives, providers have access to additional flex funds to 

assist households with housing retention, providers can purchase renters insurance and 

assist with other housing retention costs. Through our monthly learning community, we 

also provide additional resources such as information on how to connect with the 

Beaverton Center for Mediation and Dialogue, a free service for Washington County 

residents that can assist with landlord/tenant mediation services. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

The three counties bring forward recommendations to advance at the February 2024 TCPB 

meeting, building on the years of landlord engagement work across the region. The November 

2023 Focus Strategies memorandum was considered alongside the recommendations of county 

staff that have led this work. Please visit the appendix for a crosswalk of the recommendations 

in that memorandum with the proposal below. 

1. Develop a comprehensive communication and education program focused on housing 

providers   

● Our system currently relies on case managers to educate landlords about the different 
rent assistance programs. Service providers have requested that an overarching 
communication campaign would bring housing providers together under one source of 
information, and consequently would reduce the workload of case managers, whose 
focus can shift to their primary work of supporting tenants.  

● This recommendation was built on the May 2023 TCPB recommendation to “Develop a 
regional communications campaign to recruit new landlords, including specific outreach 
and engagement to culturally specific media and BIPOC community groups”. This would 
include: 
○ Marketing support, including a website as requested by service providers. Service 

providers have also requested tools and materials to direct housing providers to, 
where they can learn about the various subsidy and support services programs, 
their requirements, and the available incentives for participation. 

○ Establishing a website or webpage that provides information on all the current rent 
assistance programs and the associated incentive and protection packages, perhaps 
hosted on Metro’s website, that catalogs all of the programs and incentives. Metro 
would work with the counties, the state, and our local HUD representatives to 

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/sites/default/files/2023/10/26/2023-tcpb-goals-and-recommendations-20230510.pdf


TCPB Proposal to Advance Regional Landlord Recruitment 

 

9 of 13 

gather the information on all of the rent assistance programs. Questions from 
housing providers can be passed to the Metro Housing Department and can flow 
into recommendations for a housing provider training program. 

● Type(s) of regional alignment:  

○         Programmatic: A regional communications and outreach plan ensures a 

common approach across counties.  

○     Administrative: Metro will support the functions of hiring a consultant and 

ensuring a central information hub (website).  
● Potential activities supported by the RIF: 

○ Securing a consultant to develop communication and education materials and a 
recruitment strategy in collaboration with landlord organizations. 

○ Supporting the landlord liaison in each county, including the convening of subject 
matter experts to influence a communication and education strategy.  

○ Marketing to landlords and landlord organizations, including to support the 
development of a communication and education strategy.  

● Other Notes: 
○ Other TCPB goals impacted: Provider-based events and activities support the 

training and technical assistance goals.  
○ Tri-counties to work with Metro to identify a consultant, develop a scope of work, 

and define roles. 
 

2. Evaluate and align the types of housing provider financial incentives   

● Each county follows the established landlord incentive guidelines outlined in the RLRA 
policies. Currently, the following incentives are allowable within Washington, 
Clackamas, and Multnomah County. The landlord repair fund allows landlords to submit 
claims for up to $1,000 for required repairs and a minimum $500 landlord incentive for 
renting to a participating RLRA household. Presently, RLRA participant flex funds allow 
for increased security deposits to be paid to landlords in addition to purchasing renters 
insurance for participants. As a part of the above communication and education goal, 
information regarding existing landlord incentives and allowable flex fund usage will be 
added to websites, outreach materials, and training courses. 

● We will additionally be investing in expanding access to and awareness of existing 
resources. As a part of the communications and education plan, information on existing 
mediation services such as the City of Beaverton and Resolutions NW will be included in 
website and training materials. Coordinating with case managers to utilize long standing 
successful supportive programs in coordination with SHS services is a part of the 
landlord liaison program.   

● This recommendation was built on the May 2023 TCPB recommendation to “Develop a 
regional communications campaign to recruit new landlords, including specific outreach 
and engagement to culturally specific media and BIPOC community groups”. This would 
include: 
○ Provider training to help remove barriers and support those doing the work to build 

a positive foundation for future tenants and their landlords, including building 
capacity to better recruit and negotiate with landlords and property management. 
This may include a regional convening of providers.  

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/sites/default/files/2023/10/26/2023-tcpb-goals-and-recommendations-20230510.pdf


TCPB Proposal to Advance Regional Landlord Recruitment 

 

10 of 13 

○ Assessing the cost and trade-offs of developing an overarching incentive and 
protection package that all of the rent assistance programs in each county and/or 
regionally use, which would allow SHS funding to address resource gaps in many of 
those programs and reduce administrative burden of operating several individual 
programs.   

● Type(s) of regional alignment:  

○         Policy: Ensure landlord incentives are included in RLRA vouchers, namely 
renters insurance and promotion of the Risk Mitigation Funds, would be taken 
across the region. Counties may explore feasibility of expanding financial incentives 
beyond RLRA to other housing programs, pending cost.  

● Potential activities supported by the RIF: 
○ Securing a consultant or staff to train case managers on barrier removal and 

encourage signing participates up for renters insurance. The creation of a 

comprehensive regionalized onboarding training for case managers would allow for 

increased knowledge of the SHS implementation, housing continuum, and unique 

resources available in each county. That knowledge would have a direct and 

immediate impact on the goals mentioned in this summary, and lead to increased 

alignment of SHS implementation, as best practices of case management and the 

accessing of regional resources is standardized. 

○ Ensure integration with public outreach strategy (recommendation one). 

○ Support conversations and research to determine feasibility of expanding financial 
incentives. 

● Other Notes: 

○ Other TCPB goals impacted: Provider-based events and activities support the 
training and technical assistance goals.  

○ Schedule report to TCPB from Housing Development Center on the cost and 

outcomes of the first year Risk Mitigation Program. 

 

3. Consolidate the systems for tracking and providing access to unit inventory  

• Consolidating unit inventory tracking efforts provides an opportunity to relieve 

provider level challenges while creating opportunities to improve system-wide 

tracking and housing outcomes. Through Housing Multnomah Now (HMN) Landlord 

Engagement Program, Multnomah County is partnering with Housing Connector to 

pilot an online platform to create new and maintain existing housing opportunities 

for households engaged by Oregon All In (OAI) and HMN service providers. 

• Type(s) of regional alignment:  

o         Programmatic: This could lead to a platform to support unit access 
efforts across the region. 

o     Administrative: One county will run a pilot using a unit inventory 
platform, providing valuable information to providers across the region.  

• Potential activities supported by the RIF: 
o Piloting the use of an online unit inventory platform. 
o Analyzing results from the pilot and determining impact of broader 

adoption.  

• Other Notes: 



TCPB Proposal to Advance Regional Landlord Recruitment 

 

11 of 13 

o Multnomah County will lead this effort. 

4. Prioritize quality problem-solving services    

• To recruit and retain landlords, our system needs to be responsive to concerns and 

problems that arise during tenancy. Case managers are currently responsible for 

most of this work, with support from the Landlord Liaisons, but Clackamas County 

will explore creating a regional “hotline” for landlords to call that would add another 

layer of support and take some strain off case managers.  This landlord support line 

would ideally operate 24/7 and would have trained staff to answer questions and 

coordinate between landlord, case manager, and others to quickly address 

problems.   

• Types of regional alignment:  

o         Programmatic: A hotline ensures a common approach across 

counties and will avoid confusion from landlords that have units in 
multiple counties. 

o     Administrative: One county will lead the planning and contracting on 

behalf of the region.  

• Potential activities supported by the RIF: 
o Establishing a pilot landlord support line, and potentially managing a 

regional contract for such a support line.  

o Expanding training for case managers on how to best support landlords 

when they have problems will also improve landlord retention.   

• Other Notes: 
o Other TCPB goals impacted: Provider-based events and activities support 

the training and technical assistance goals. 
o Clackamas County will lead this effort. 

5. Investigate needs for property management  

• Property management needs for affordable housing, particularly permanent 
supportive housing, is impacting referrals and lease up. Our system would be more 
successful in recruiting PSH commitments from affordable housing partners and 
securing PSH slots, if property management was a more stable and effective service 
that could be contracted. There are very limited property management options in 
the region, and funding is not sufficient for PSH level of services. PSH is an important 
focus, and it’s an issue many affordable projects are struggling with. Integrating 
Rent Well and tenant education should be considered.  

• Types of regional alignment:  

o     Administrative: Metro is consolidating the administrative lift by 

leading this study.  

• Potential activities supported by the RIF: 
o Contracting with an entity to examine property management needs in 

collaboration with the counties and the state.   

• Other Notes: 
o Other TCPB goals impacted: Pending study outcome, this could impact the 



TCPB Proposal to Advance Regional Landlord Recruitment 

 

12 of 13 

training and technical assistance goals. 
o Metro will lead this effort. 

The proposals below are not prioritized for regional advancement in the near future; however, they are 

recommended as next steps in our continued work towards this TCPB goal. The counties and Metro 

found value in the ideas, but they have not been prioritized as the first recommendations needed to 

advance unit acquisition goals for the region. The Counties recommend that these action areas be 

considered next, when the initial recommendation actions have been fully evaluated and are 

successfully underway. 

6. Consolidate partnership formation responsibilities 

• Multnomah County is currently implementing a similar approach through Housing 
Connector. All counties will monitor that approach and may determine a third party 
is needed to evaluate that program.  

• The counties will revisit this recommendation in FY 25-26 as a potential follow up 
action to the recommendations above. 

7. Explore expanding agency leasing for people with the greatest barriers  

• Although block/agency leasing can be an effective strategy for unit acquisition, the 
counties believe this is not a priority to regionalize. Each county may explore their own 
strategies in the realm of block leasing, as there are many models to follow that work 
for different goals and circumstances.  

• We hear from providers the need for housing options for people with very intense 

needs, such as severe and persistent mental illness or acute substance use disorder.  

Agency leasing is one option, but the counties want to explore expanding transitional 

housing, respite housing, and integration with the health system to address these needs 

with wrap around services.   

 

CONCLUSION 

This memo represents the first proposal on TCPB goals from Metro and the counties. We’re 

eager to move forward some of the recommendations listed and will bring back 

implementation plans as we work with each other and consultants to develop action items and 

next steps. We encourage the TCPB to be mindful of the number of recommendations that may 

come forward related to the other goals. The more we collectively add to our plates, the less 

room we’ll have to advance recommendations from the five other TCPB goals. We look forward 

to the collaborative conversation to move forward our shared goals.  

  



TCPB Proposal to Advance Regional Landlord Recruitment 

 

13 of 13 

Appendix: Crosswalk with Focus Strategies Unit Access Memo  

A.      Apply an equity lens to all program design and implementation work 

Included in the county’s existing work and supported through staff positions, local 

advisory bodies, community engagement, and technical consultants.  

B.      Develop a comprehensive communication and education program for housing providers  

 Included in recommendation one. 

C.       Consolidate partnership formation responsibilities  

Included in recommendation seven that is not prioritized for advancement in the near 

future.  

D.      Rationalize the system of financial incentives  

Included in recommendation two. In addition, the following incentives are accessible and 

aligned within Washington, Clackamas, and Multnomah County. The landlord repair 

fund allows landlords to submit claims for up to $1,000 for required repairs, landlord 

incentives that include holding fees, and a minimum $500 landlord incentive for renting 

to a participating RLRA household. Currently, flex funds allow for additional deposits to 

be paid to landlords in addition to purchasing renters insurance for participants.  

E.       Explore expanding agency leasing for those with the greatest barriers   

Included in recommendation eight that is not prioritized for advancement in the near 

future 

F.       Prioritize quality problem solving services   

Included in recommendation four. 

G.      Consolidate key aspects of tracking and providing access to unit inventory 

Included in recommendation three.  

H.      Invest in unit acquisition services beyond housing provider partnerships  

Integration with Rent Well and other programs to be considered as part of multiple 

recommendations.  



© 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved. Gartner is a registered trademark of Gartner, Inc. or its affiliates. This presentation, including all supporting materials, 

is proprietary to Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates and is for the sole internal use of the intended recipients. Because this presentation may contain information that is confidential, 

proprietary or otherwise legally protected, it may not be further copied, distributed or publicly displayed without the express written permission of Gartner, Inc. or its affiliates.

DRAFT

February 2024

Engagement #: E000653 | Version 2

HMIS Technology 
Strategic 
Sourcing Analysis

Recommendations and 
Final Report Executive 
Summary



2 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653 DRAFT

Gartner partnered with Multnomah County IT to conduct a 
Strategic Sourcing Analysis of the Tri-County HMIS Implementation

Context:

The Tri-County’s current Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) was implemented in 2006 with the primary 

purpose of data collection for HUD reporting and administration. Since that time, the homelessness response system has 

changed dramatically, including changes to the overall homeless services landscape, regionalization of services, and recent 

State and Regional investments in Housing Services that will advance the system over the next 7-10 years.

Project Goal and Objectives:

▪ Establish a comprehensive understanding of the Tri-County HMIS current state and future state vision.

▪ Identify the business capabilities required in the future state vision.

▪ Identify gaps between the current HMIS usage and the future-state vision for the HMIS.

▪ Provide insights into the current market of HMIS products and solutions available.

▪ Provide recommendations and a final report to guide the Tri-County area toward achieving their HMIS vision.



3 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653 DRAFT

Findings from provider, participant, program staff, system 
administrators, IT, County, and Regional Leadership formed the 
foundation of this HMIS analysis. 

Step 2: IdentifyStep 1: Understand Step 3: Research Step 4: Analyze

Developed a Business Capability 

Model (BCM) for the Tri-County 

homelessness response system’s 

needs for the HMIS.

Completed a Gap Analysis 

identifying which of the defined 

capabilities are performed within the 

HMIS.

Structured a Market Scan 

Framework based on the BCM and 

Vision to apply against potential 

HMIS vendors.

Performed a Market Scan analyzing 

the top five best-fit HMIS 

solutions based on the Market 

Scan Framework.

Identified key project findings 

about the Tri-County HMIS and its 

support system.

Crafted Recommendations and a 

roadmap to address key findings as 

part of a Final Report.

Conducted 20+ stakeholder 

interviews and reviewed 

documentation to inform a Current 

State Summary and Future State 

Vision for the Tri-County HMIS.



4 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653 DRAFT

Stakeholders consistently envision an HMIS that supports all the 
care delivery needs of a modern homelessness response system.

Facilitate cooperation 

within and across 

systems of care

Provide easy access to 

the information needed 

to make strategic 

decisions

Ensure compliance 

with HUD and other 

reporting requirements

Enable equitable 

access for people 

seeking care

Provide an effective 

tool to support people 

providing care

Enable the goals of 

each county 

throughout the 

Tri-County area

Provide a consistent 

tool for standardized 

data collection and 

analysis

Facilitate regional 

strategies and data 

standardization across 

the homelessness 

response system



5 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653 DRAFT

Key Takeaways

The Legacy HMIS cannot fully support the expanded HMIS vision. 
The HMIS impacts the homelessness response system’s 
effectiveness and limits its insights.

The entire Tri-County regional homelessness response system relies on the HMIS, a siloed, 

outdated, compliance-focused platform with poor quality data as its single source of insight.

The HMIS hinders the Tri-County area’s ability to effectively demonstrate the impact of 

funding being spent, measure the effectiveness of housing interventions, ensure 

equitable care, and efficiently meet compliance reporting requirements. 

The HMIS is poorly designed for current needs – users are actively working around and 

against the system, creating security, data quality, and client care issues.

Functional and technical limitations of the legacy HMIS hamper the ability of the Tri-County 

homelessness response system to achieve its vision for the HMIS as a tool that supports care 

delivery.

1

2

3

4



6 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653 DRAFT

There are significant business capability gaps in the legacy HMIS 
solution – only 8 out of 50 capabilities are fully performed within 
the HMIS.



7 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653 DRAFT

Few business capabilities are done exclusively in the HMIS, and 
many are not done inside the current HMIS at all.

The HMIS does not fully support many essential business capabilities, dramatically increasing the efforts required to 

complete them and the burden placed on providers and county staff. These capabilities include:

Outreach & Engagement

▪ Population & Service Mapping

Housing Management

▪ Housing Voucher Management

Coordinated Entry

▪ Housing Prioritization

Care Coordination

▪ Case Conferencing

▪ Care Transition Management

▪ Communication Support

Participant Management

▪ Grievance Tracking

Provider Management

▪ Provider Data Sharing Agreements

▪ Provider Performance Management

Participant Self-Service

▪ Information Access & Viewing

▪ Information Submission & Updates

Fund Management

▪ Fund Profile Management

Reporting & Analytics

▪ Dashboarding

▪ Data Analysis & Visualization

Several of these capabilities are critical to achieving the expanded HMIS Vision.



8 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653 DRAFT

Technical limitations of the current HMIS restrict the ability to 
perform many business capabilities within the current solution.

The current HMIS does not support:

Data warehousing for collecting data from 

multiple systems of care
5

Integrations with other solutions for 

efficiently sharing information
4Mobile compatibility for access in the field1

Customized analytics and dashboarding 

for drawing insights
6

Geospatial data for logging services2

File imports for easily entering bulk data3

As a result of these limitations, the current HMIS solution hampers the Tri-Counties’ ability to work towards 

their collective vision for the HMIS.



9 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653 DRAFT

Improvements can be made to the legacy solution to help address 
some of the gaps. 

Key capabilities that re-configuring the system may improve:

Housing Inventory 

Management

Participant Self-Service

Eligibility

Dashboards
Data Analysis & 

Visualization

Case Conferencing

Data Input & Output

Caseload Management

Key pain points to 

address with the legacy 

vendor:

▪ Lack of data visibility

▪ Resolution of duplicate 

records

▪ Minimizing creation of 

duplicate records

The Tri-Counties will need to determine the appropriate level of resources to invest in the legacy solution 

given that it cannot meet all the Counties’ desired capabilities. 



10 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653 DRAFT

Key Takeaways

There are solutions in the market that are likely to better meet the 
Tri-Counties’ HMIS vision and needs.

There are two primary HMIS vendors that service the 15 Continua of 

Care (CoCs) with the largest homeless counts. These vendors are the 

most likely to meet the Tri-Counties’ HMIS vision and needs.

There are additional vendors that may also meet the Tri-Counties’ 

needs but are less experienced with complex CoCs or are less HMIS-

focused. 

1

2

These solutions all offer significant functional and technical benefits over 

the Tri-Counties’ legacy HMIS solution.
3



11 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653 DRAFT

Criteria Vendors

OVERALL

Functional Needs

Technical Needs

Vendor / Product Alignment

Other large, complex Continua of Care use primarily two vendor 
solutions that are better aligned to the Tri-Counties’ HMIS needs.

Level of Fit L M H

H

LH

H

H

H

M

M

M

M

M

L

H

H

H

H

M

Denotes Tri-County legacy HMIS vendor

H

H

Other than the Tri-County implementation, all HMIS for the 15 HUD-defined Continua 

of Care with the largest homeless counts as of 2023 are provided by Bitfocus or 

Eccovia or have a custom local solution.

H



12 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653 DRAFT

Key Takeaways

Implementation of a new HMIS will be required to provide the 
Tri-Counties with the desired functional and technical capabilities 
to achieve the expanded HMIS vision.

The Tri-Counties will need to prioritize the business and technical 

capabilities required for the HMIS and determine the best procurement 

strategy to acquire the solution that best supports and enables the HMIS 

Future State Vision. 

The HMIS procurement will require business process reengineering to 

understand how to operationalize the expanded HMIS vision and ensure 

the effectiveness of the new HMIS.

1

2

Identifying and addressing participant, provider organization, and staff 

needs in advance of implementation will be critical for success. 3



13 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653 DRAFT

Identified recommendations position the Tri-County to achieve its 
expanded HMIS vision. 

The recommendations on the following pages ensure:

All short and 

long-term HMIS 

decisions are 

focused toward 

achieving the 

same vision

A fully capable 

HMIS solution 

enables the HMIS 

vision in the 

long-term

The right 

stakeholder 

representation is 

involved in HMIS 

decision-making 

at the right levels

Limited 

investments 

improve use of 

the legacy HMIS 

in the short-term

A comprehensive 

strategy ensures 

the value of the 

HMIS data to the 

Tri-County 

homelessness 

response system

1 2 3 4 5



14 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653 DRAFT

Recommendation Urgency Effort Complexity

REC-01: Discuss and approve HMIS governance model Do Now Low Complex

REC-02: Initiate and operationalize HMIS governance model Do Next Medium Moderate

REC-03: Formally adopt and socialize expanded HMIS vision Do Next Low Moderate

REC-04: Complete transition of legacy HMIS administration Do Soon Low Moderate

REC-05: Prioritize enhancements to address legacy HMIS gaps Do Soon Medium Moderate

REC-06: Prepare for procurement and contract for new HMIS Do Soon Medium Complex

REC-07: Develop and implement data and reporting strategy Do When Ready High Complex

REC-08: Prepare for and successfully implement new HMIS Do When Ready High Complex

Gartner has identified 8 recommendations to best position the 
Tri-Counties to achieve its expanded HMIS Vision. 



15 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653 DRAFT

Contacts

Gartner
Min Chong

Associate Director

State and Local Government

Gartner Consulting

Phone: (651) 497-1130

Email: Min.Chong@gartner.com

Client
Sim Ogle

Deputy Chief Information Officer

Multnomah County IT

Phone: (503) 988-1265

Email: sim.ogle@multco.us

Gartner
Chris Ragan

Senior Managing Partner

State and Local Government

Gartner Consulting

Phone: (916) 420-1860

Email: Chris.Ragan@gartner.com

Gartner
David Lynch

Consultant

Gartner Consulting

Phone: (815) 978-6887

Email: David.Lynch@gartner.com

Gartner
Wadie Rophael

Expert Partner

Gartner Consulting

Phone: (916) 792-5689

Email: Wadie.Rophael@gartner.com

Client
Dan Cole

IT Portfolio Manager

Multnomah County IT

Phone: (971) 678-0879

Email: daniel.l.cole@multco.us

Client
Maegan McHenry

IT Project Manager

Multnomah County IT

Phone: (503) 467-9722

Email: maegan.mchenry@multco.us



METRO SUPPORTIVE HOUSING SERVICES TRI-COUNTY PLANNING BODY 

Monthly progress report | February 2024 

METRO SUPPORTIVE HOUSING SERVICES TRI-COUNTY PLANNING BODY 
Monthly progress report | February 2024 

 1 

 

The goal of this report is to keep the TCPB, the Supportive Housing Services Regional Oversight 
Committee, Metro Council and other stakeholders informed about ongoing regional coordination 
progress. A more detailed report will be provided as part of the SHS Regional Annual Report, 
following submission of annual progress reports by Clackamas, Multnomah, and Washington 
Counties.  
   
TRI-COUNTY PLANNING BODY REGIONAL GOALS*  

Goal Progress 

Unit/landlord recruitment and retention Staff from the counties will return to the TCPB in 
February 2024 with the prioritization requested on 
the recommendations informed by the areas of 
further exploration identified by Focus Strategies 
and the TCPB. Metro and county staff will then work 
together on creating an implementation plan for the 
TCPB’s approval.  

Coordinated Entry The Coordinated Entry Regional Alignment 
Workgroup (CERAW) continues to meet monthly, 
with the third meeting on February 12th. At the 
January 8th CERAW meeting, consensus on four 
major areas of collaboration emerged. These items 
are undergoing further refinement ahead of 
presentation to TCPB. On January 29th, we held the 
first meeting of the data sharing workgroup, focused 
on both sharing Coordinated Entry data across 
counties and on sharing Coordinated Entry data with 
the healthcare system. Work is beginning on 
gathering and utilizing input from those with lived 
experience throughout the process.  
 

Healthcare system alignment The new leadership, meeting, and workgroup 
structure is operating. On January 29th, we held the 
first meeting of the data sharing workgroup, focused 
on both sharing Coordinated Entry data with the 
healthcare system and sharing Coordinated Entry 
data across counties. Planning for implementation 
of the Medicaid Waiver is focused on the 
administrative structure and flow of funding, and it 
continues at the regional leadership meetings. 
Homebase has met with staff from the counties to 
learn about their priority healthcare/housing 
projects and identify opportunities for pilot projects 
that support the work of the system integration 



2  METRO SUPPORTIVE HOUSING SERVICES TRI-COUNTY PLANNING BODY 
Monthly progress report |February 2024 

 

project teams. There is nearly consensus on a list of 
major work areas. 

Training + Technical Assistance The cooperative procurement with the Counties to 
increase the pool of qualified technical assistance 
providers and capacity-building support is on track 
to open later in February. If you are aware of 
consultants, firms, or nonprofit service providers 
who may be interested in applying to provide those 
services, please email Ash Elverfeld, Technical 
Assistance and Training Program Manager, at 
ash.elverfeld@oregonmetro.gov for more 
information. Cole Merkel has started as the Metro 
Housing’s new Regional Capacity Manager. In the 
coming weeks the team will be posting to hire the 
remaining three positions for the Regional Capacity 
team. 

Employee Recruitment and Retention Homebase will reconvene the Stakeholder 
Workgroup in February. Homebase continues to 
engage staff from the counties, service providers, 
and Metro to inform recommendation 
development.  
 

*A full description of regional goals and recommendations are included in Attachment 1. 

  



3  METRO SUPPORTIVE HOUSING SERVICES TRI-COUNTY PLANNING BODY 
Monthly progress report |February 2024 

 

EXISTING REGIONAL PROGRAMS AND COORDINATION EFFORTS 

People housed through the RLRA program as of September 30, 2023 

 

The data comes from the SHS quarterly reports, which includes disaggregated data (by race and ethnicity, 
disability status and gender identity) and can be accessed here: https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-
projects/supportive-housing-services/progress 

Risk Mitigation Program: All RLRA landlords are provided access to a regional risk mitigation 
program that covers costs incurred by participating landlords related to unit repair, legal action, 
and limited uncollected rents that are the responsibility of the tenant and in excess of any deposit 
as part of the RLRA Regional Landlord Guarantee. 

The following information is derived from the counties’ FY2022-2023 annual reports 

Landlord Liaison and Risk Mitigation Program: In January 2023, Metro and tri-county program 
staff began meeting monthly to coordinate Landlord Liaison and Risk Mitigation Program education 
activities. Together, staff shared existing engagement tools and identified innovative methodologies 
for expanding unit availability across the region. Training for existing landlords is coordinated 
regionally and staff continues to coordinate to identify strategies for expanding unit availability. 

Regional Point-in-Time Count: In January 2023, the counties conducted the first-ever fully 
combined regional Point-in-Time Count. This tri-county coordinated effort included creating a 
shared methodology and analysis, a centralized command structure, and unified logistics around 
the recruitment and deployment of volunteers. As a result of the combined Count, analyses include 
regional trends in unsheltered homelessness, sheltered homelessness, and system improvements 
made possible by regional investments in SHS. 
An initial summary of the 2023 Point-in-Time Count data can be found in this May 2023 press release 
from Multnomah County: https://www.multco.us/multnomah-county/news/news-release-chronic-
homelessness-number-falls-across-tri-county-region-2023. 

Regional Request for Program Qualifications: This program year also included a Regional 
Request for Programmatic Qualifications to procure new and diverse organizations as partners for 
service provision. Tri-county partners worked to ensure broad engagement and technical 
assistance to support the full participation of new and emerging organizations, especially culturally 

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/supportive-housing-services/progress
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/supportive-housing-services/progress
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/supportive-housing-services/progress
https://www.multco.us/multnomah-county/news/news-release-chronic-homelessness-number-falls-across-tri-county-region-2023
https://www.multco.us/multnomah-county/news/news-release-chronic-homelessness-number-falls-across-tri-county-region-2023


4  METRO SUPPORTIVE HOUSING SERVICES TRI-COUNTY PLANNING BODY 
Monthly progress report |February 2024 

 

specific service providers. 60 applications were qualified to create a broad network of 167 tri-
county pre-qualified service providers with diverse expertise and geographic representation. 

Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) Regional Implementation: Starting in 
2023, an updated Privacy Notice & Policy created a more trauma-informed and person-centered 
approach to obtaining participant consent for data sharing while maintaining a high level of data 
privacy. Next steps included moving toward regional visibility and more comprehensive integration 
of each of the counties’ HMIS systems. 



1  TCPB GOALS AND RECOMMENDATIONS| May 2023 

 

TRI-COUNTY PLANNING BODY GOAL AND RECOMMENDATION LANGUAGE 

May 10th, 2023 

 

COORDINATED ENTRY  

Goal: Coordinated Entry is more accessible, equitable and efficient for staff and 
clients. 

Recommendations: Map the unique challenges and successes of each of the three Coordinated 
Entry Systems. 

Assess opportunities to create connectivity among the three Coordinated 
Entry Systems to improve equitable access and work towards regionalizing 
some tools within Coordinated Entry. 

Explore opportunities for co-enrollment with other systems. 
  
REGIONAL LANDLORD RECRUITMENT   

Goal: Increase the availability of readily accessible and appropriate housing units 
for service providers. 

Recommendations: Contract with a qualified consultant to identify areas where regionalization 
can support existing and future county efforts and submit recommendations. 

Develop a regional communications campaign to recruit new landlords, 
including specific outreach and engagement to culturally specific media and 
BIPOC community groups.   

 
HEALTHCARE SYSTEM ALIGNMENT 

Goal: Greater alignment and long-term partnerships with healthcare systems that 
meaningfully benefit people experiencing homelessness and the systems that 
serve them. 

  

Recommendations: Metro staff convenes and coordinates with counties and key healthcare 
systems stakeholders to identify opportunities that integrate the Medicaid 
waiver with the Supportive Housing Services initiative. Bring draft proposal 
with next steps and timeline to committee within 6 months.  

 
TRAINING  

Goal:  Service providers have access to the knowledge and skills required to operate 
at a high level of program functionality; the need of culturally specific 
providers will be prioritized through all program design.  

 



2  TCPB GOALS AND RECOMMENDATIONS| May 2023 

 

Recommendation:  Counties and Metro coordinate and support regional training that meets the 
diverse needs of individual direct service staff, with sensitivity to the needs of 
BIPOC agencies.  

 
TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE    

Goal:  Organizations have access to the technical assistance required to operate at a 
high level of organization functionality; the need of culturally specific 
providers will be prioritized through all program design.  

 

Recommendation:  Counties and Metro coordinate and support regional technical assistance and 
investments in capacity building especially among culturally specific 
providers.   

 
EMPLOYEE RECRUITMENT AND RETENTION 

Goal: County contracts for SHS funded agencies and providers will establish 
standards throughout the region to achieve livable wages for direct service 
staff. 

 
Recommendations: Map current wage and benefit conditions. 

 
Draft a housing-worker wage framework that provides guidance to Counties 
and SHS-funded agencies and providers and includes contracting evaluation 
and alignment. 

Consider ways to allow for differential pay for lived experience, bilingual 
employees, and culturally specific organizations. 

Consider ways to address challenges faced by organizations with multiple 
funding streams. 

Assess reasonable scale of outcomes and case load as it relates to 
compensation. 

Within each Supportive Housing Services (SHS)-funded agency, monitor the 
distribution of pay from lowest to highest paid staff to ensure improvements 
in pay equity. 

 
 



Supportive Housing Services Oversight Committee Meeting Summary         
 

Page 1 

 

 

Meeting: Supportive Housing Services Oversight Committee Meeting 

Date: January 8, 2024 

Time: 9:30 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. 

Place: Virtual meeting (Zoom)  

Purpose: Metro tax collection and disbursement update; Multnomah County Corrective Action 
Plan (CAP) update through October; presentation of FY24 Q1 reports; discussion of 
first draft of the annual regional report; and update and discussion on FY22 and 
FY23 recommendations. 

 
Member attendees 

Co-chair Susan Emmons (she/her), Dan Fowler (he/him), Jenny Lee (she/her), Felicita 
Monteblanco (she/her), Jeremiah Rigsby (he/him), Mike Savara (he/him), Co-Chair Dr. Mandrill 
Taylor (he/him), Becky Wilkinson (she/her) 

Absent members 

Carter MacNichol (he/him) 

Elected delegates 

Metro Councilor Christine Lewis (she/her), Multnomah County Commissioner Jessica Vega 
Pederson (she/her) 

Absent elected delegates 

Washington County Chair Kathryn Harrington (she/her), Clackamas County Chair Tootie Smith 
(she/her), City of Portland Mayor Ted Wheeler (he/him) 

Metro 

Israel Bayer (he/him), Finn Budd (they/them), Yesenia Delgado (she/her), Liam Frost (he/him), 
Breanna Hudson (she/her), Rachael Lembo (she/her), Patricia Rojas (she/her) 

Kearns & West Facilitator 

Ben Duncan (he/him)  

 

Welcome and Introductions 

Co-chairs Dr. Mandrill Taylor and Susan Emmons provided opening remarks and welcomed the SHS 
Oversight Committee to the meeting.  

Ben Duncan, Kearns & West, introduced himself as a neutral third-party facilitator and facilitated 
introductions between Supportive Housing Services (SHS) Oversight Committee members.  He 
noted that there is no quorum for meeting summary approval, but once more members join, the 
Committee will return to that agenda item.  

Patricia Rojas, Metro, shared that the Metro Housing Department has been hiring and recently filled 
four key positions. She noted that three policy positions are in the open recruitment or interview 
process.  



Supportive Housing Services Oversight Committee Meeting Summary         
 

Page 2 

 

Yesenia Delgado, Metro, shared that Metro is reviewing annual reports and finalizing the 
recruitment process to identify and hire candidates to support data work based on 
recommendations from the Committee. She shared that Metro would have more staffing updates at 
the next meeting.   

 

Conflict of Interest Declaration 

Becky Wilkinson and Dan Fowler shared a potential conflict of interest. 

 

Public Comment 

Maggie Skenderian provided verbal public comment.  

 

Metro Tax Collections and Disbursement Update 

Rachael Lembo, Metro, shared that Metro collected almost $100 million this year, of which $90 
million has been distributed to the counties. She clarified that this year’s collections cover 
September, October, and November.   

 

Discussion: Multnomah County Corrective Action Plan (CAP) Update 

Yesenia shared that the CAP update is through October 31 and that multiple items are complete, 
one item, Housing Multnomah Now, is at risk, and other items are on track. She noted that Metro 
and Multnomah County meet regularly to discuss CAP items.  

Dan Field, Joint Office of Homeless Services Director, Multnomah County, highlighted that the 
investment in organizational health dollars went to United Way at the end of the last calendar year, 
which will be dispersed in 60 days. He shared that the organizational health dollars will help 
providers keep their workforce on track and that the dollars allow for maximum flexibility. He 
noted that there are challenges with Housing Multnomah Now and that they are developing plans to 
address them.   

Kanoe Egleston, Joint Office of Homeless Services, Multnomah County, shared that the second 
Housing Multnomah Now location is open where 25 individuals have been assessed and 1 person 
housed. She noted that four additional site locations have been identified and they are now 
identifying providers for those sites. She shared they will come back next month with a more robust 
update.  

Dan Field added that Governor Kotek will hold a press conference tomorrow to share how Oregon-
All-In dollars were spent across the state. He noted that Multnomah County hit its mark and is now 
focused on driving Housing Multnomah Now.  

Felicita Monteblanco asked how long providers will have to spend the organizational health dollars 
from United Way and if they know how much funding they will receive.   

Dan Field replied that providers do not know how much money they will get, and neither does 

Multnomah County. He stated that they informally briefed the partners on the formula for 

allocation, but until the formula is run, they don’t know how many funds providers will receive. 

He elaborated that the formula divides $10 million between provider full-time employees 

(FTE) focused on work in the homeless and housing space. He shared that providers will be 



Supportive Housing Services Oversight Committee Meeting Summary         
 

Page 3 

 

asked to spend the funds this calendar year and that they have until June to declare their 

spending strategy. He stated that they don’t anticipate spending issues and that most dollars 

will go to short-term strategies for retention and training.  

Susan asked when the money would go out, if it would be as a grant, if this could be renewed in the 
next fiscal year, and if the formula only included SHS-funded FTEs.  

Dan Field replied that they anticipate the money going out as a lump sum in less than 60 days, 
which would be late February or early March. He reflected that there is a national discussion 
around the issue of nonprofit workforce and health, and if the County decides to fund this for 
an additional year it would look to strengthen community practice around organizational 
health and bring in technical assistance, national expertise, and evidence-based strategies. He 
clarified that the formula only included SHS-funded FTEs.  

Susan noted that a lump sum is good and reflected the difficulty in focusing on capacity 
building in a short timeframe.  

Becky asked if they anticipate getting on track for Housing Multnomah Now spending.   

Dan Field replied no, not as currently outlined, which is why they are developing different 
scenarios to broaden work. He stated that Multi-Agency Collaborative Director, DeAnna 
Negrete is working closely with Kanoe and the team and is very talented. He stated that there 
would be more of an update at the next meeting.  

Susan appreciated Dan Field’s transparency and asked if they were thinking about going back to 
long-term providers to ask them what they think about approaches.  

Dan Field clarified that things are going well but are going more slowly than initially thought. 
He stated that they are engaging with providers daily to think of alternatives to expand the 
work. He shared that they are not abandoning Multnomah Now but rather just making 
midcourse adjustments.  

Ben Duncan, Kearns & West, reflected that some Committee recommendations related to 
organizational health. He asked if the community of practice model Dan Field described could be 
applied across other jurisdictions at a regional level and what were other key learnings. He also 
asked if the FTEs described only account for FTEs in Multnomah County and how that would work 
for providers that operate across the region.  

Dan Field replied that it would be only Multnomah County FTEs, and if an employee worked 
50% in Washington County and 50% in Multnomah County, that can be classified as 0.5 FTE. 
He shared that Multnomah County contracted with United Way to get the dollars out as 
quickly as possible and to set them up for a potential larger-term strategy to build on the work 
underway. He considered plugging United Way into Metro’s work on organizational health 
and pulling them in around June to talk about their work and lessons learned.  

Ben noted that enough Committee members have joined the meeting to meet the quorum.  

The Committee approved the December Meeting Summary.   

 

Presentation: FY24 Q1 Update 

Yesenia presented the FY24 Q1 program progress summary. She shared that counties have been 
scaling up programs and infrastructure to get folks housed and prevent entry into homelessness. 



Supportive Housing Services Oversight Committee Meeting Summary         
 

Page 4 

 

She reminded the Committee that quarterly reports are reviewed against the counties’ local 
implementation plans (LIPs) and annual work plans. She shared two recent stories including a new 
shelter opening in Cornelius and stated that the Metro Communications Team is working hard to 
share stories with the larger community. She detailed program highlights and successes for each 
county and shared a progress-to-goals snapshot, including households and individuals served in 
each program. She shared that overall challenges include workforce recruitment and retention, 
participants presenting with higher-acuity health needs, and data analysis. She shared that looking 
ahead, there will be a Q2 presentation from the counties and that the FY25 Annual Work Plans are 
due in April.  

Susan asked what rapid rehousing is.  

Yesenia replied that rapid rehousing are housing placement services such as supporting 
someone finding an apartment and other things that come with finding housing and provides 
retention services for up to 24 months.  

Susan asked if Metro would evaluate if 24 months is enough time.  

Yesenia replied that the additional data staff Metro is hiring will be to track retention rates 
and service areas. She stated that rapid rehousing will always be an available service and is 
intended for those with lower acuity needs. She reflected that Susan’s question brings to light 
the families that need more wrap-around services and support, which is where Permanent 
Supportive Housing (PSH) and other services come in.   

Patricia added that they have flexibility with SHS funds and that 24 months is not a hard cut-
off.  

Rachael presented finance updates and reminded the Committee of their financial oversight 
responsibilities. She shared that regional spending has doubled compared to last year and that they 
are expecting higher tax collections than budgeted, which will cause Metro’s 5% of net collections 
for administration to be decreased to 3%. Rachael detailed spend-down plans and actuals for each 
county, noting that the numbers exude built infrastructure costs. 

Felicita recommended having the county administration definition in the report glossary.  

 

Discussion: First Draft of the Annual Report  

Kris Smock, Kristina Smock Consulting, introduced herself as the consultant contracted to draft the 
Annual Report. She shared that Committee members have until January 15 to provide feedback on 
the first draft of the Report to be incorporated into the revised draft that will be shared on January 
22. She added that there will be additional feedback opportunities during the January 29 meeting. 
She asked for feedback on framing, clarity, tone, and if anything is missing.  

Felicita thanked Kris for her work and suggested including updates on the recommendations from 
last year. She remembered discussing multiyear capacity-building investments and shared it’d be 
nice to include an update in the report.  

Kris replied that would be great feedback for the following agenda item.   

Susan suggested adding a strong statement either in the introduction or recommendations, that 
SHS represents an unprecedented amount of funding and flexibility, and that jurisdictions haven’t 
embraced the opportunity for flexible funding. She reflected that previously Multnomah County 



Supportive Housing Services Oversight Committee Meeting Summary         
 

Page 5 

 

Commissioner Susheela Jayapal shared how Multnomah County did contracting and noted it’s hard 
to pivot.  

Dr. Taylor stated that goes back to tone and the need for a strong statement. He reflected that the 
draft had a more empathetic and optimistic tone and asked if the Committee wanted to lean into a 
tone of urgency.  

Felicita agreed with Susan and appreciated the reminder in the Report that one of the SHS measure 
guiding principles is to innovate, evolve, and improve systems.   

Kris stated that she could add a statement at the beginning of the transmittal letter. She shared that 
if the Committee made leveraging flexibility a recommendation, she could include it in the 
recommendations discussion. She reflected that this idea related to the challenges around county-
wide bureaucratic systems in place. She stated that the tone is a balancing act and had intended an 
urgent tone in the transmittal letter but could word things more strongly.  

Dan Fowler wondered if the Committee were to ask the counties if they are more flexible now than 
before the measure if they say yes or no. He shared that he has heard from providers they are 
running low on funds. He stated that not all counties and programs are the same and noted that the 
Committee should balance being specific without being critical and calling out certain counties and 
programs.  

Kris shared that there was a previous suggestion for a public-facing shorter document that 
summarizes the Report and that she is working with the Metro Communications team to create 
that. She added that it’s important to have the Population A and B data and that those will be added 
to the report once the numbers are ready, ideally in the next draft.  

Susan stated the Committee should focus their attention on reviewing the transmittal letter and 
recommendations. She summarized the conversation by stating that funding flexibility hasn’t been 
embraced and that there should be tougher language and a greater sense of urgency.  

Ben reminded the Committee they could choose to make county-specific recommendations.   

Kris reiterated that if members have limited time, to focus on the transmittal letter, introduction, 
and any particular issues they are interested in and send suggestions over email.  

 

Discussion: FY22 Recommendations and FY23 Process  

Yesenia provided an overview of the Committee’s role and responsibilities and reminded the 
Committee of the FY22 recommendation categories: regional communication strategy; 
budgeting/financial reporting and expectations; workforce issues; program expansions; and data, 
reporting, and evaluation. 

Israel Bayer, Metro, detailed the regional communication strategy and shared that Metro will be 
offering communications support for service providers and counties. He stated that Metro is 
making significant progress toward the strategy, including expanding its communications team to 
five staff and developing a scope of work to hire a consultant who will develop a communications 
strategy for the department by the end of December. 



Supportive Housing Services Oversight Committee Meeting Summary         
 

Page 6 

 

Felicita asked what the measures of success would be for this strategy.  

Israel replied that the scope of work would identify metrics of success. He added that being 
able to identify numbers and articles being written is important. He reflected that it is most 
important to speak to the consciousness of voters to see that housing is a human right and 
infrastructure to support a healthy society.  

Patricia added that all Committee recommendations will have goals and metrics that are 
specific to measuring progress.  

Jerimiah Rigsby asked if the Committee would see a draft communications plan in the summer or 
what the timeline would be.  

Israel responded that Metro is hoping to have an outline of work in August and a finalized plan 
in December.  He noted that there will be communications projects this year and they aren’t 
waiting for the strategic plan to get started. 

Rachael provided updates on the budgeting/financial reporting and expectations 
recommendations. She highlighted that seven elements of the recommendation were achieved, and 
two elements are in process: clarity on future financial obligations and clearly articulated financial 
expenditures to outcomes, including Population A and B spending. 

Dan Fowler shared Rachael mentioned earlier that the overhead cost assumptions have been 
lowered which is a good message to share with the public.  

Rachael clarified that the cost of tax collection hasn’t changed, but since the tax revenue is 
higher than originally anticipated, the percentage of revenue allocated to tax collection has 
decreased.  

Liam Frost, Metro, provided updates on the recommendation related to workforce issues in the 
work plan and shared an overview of the work the Tri-County Planning Body (TCPB) is doing, 
highlighting that four of the TCPB’s recommendations overlap with the Committee’s 
recommendations, including workforce training. He shared that Metro staff will present more 
information on the TCPB at the next meeting and that the housing department is building out a six-
person regional capacity team.  

Yesenia provided updates on the multiyear capacity-building investment recommendation. She 
shared that Clackamas County provides multi-year contracts, whereas Multnomah and Washington 
County renew contracts annually. She shared that counties are analyzing their processes to identify 
any opportunities for a multi-year funding program.   

Liam provided updates on the wage equity recommendation and shared that one of the TCPB’s 
goals is to ensure SHS contracts achieve livable wages for service provider staff. He elaborated that 
Metro is working with Homebase to conduct a scan of service provider compensation practices and 
that Metro is coordinating Stakeholder Workgroup meetings. He added that Multnomah County 
completed its wage equity study in August 2023.  

Susan stated she would like to see a list of recommendations and written responses for each update 
in the meeting packet before the January 29 meeting.  



Supportive Housing Services Oversight Committee Meeting Summary         
 

Page 7 

 

Ben supported that idea and suggested Metro use a format similar to the Multnomah County 
CAP chart. 

Felicita liked that idea.  

Patricia confirmed that Metro has a chart format they can use to share with the Committee.   

Liam provided updates on the program expansion recommendation and noted that it overlaps with 
the TCPB’s recommendation in aligning the health care and homeless service systems. He shared 
that Metro is working with county leadership and Health Share to identify and implement 
strategies.  

Yesenia provided updates on the data, reporting, and evaluation recommendation. She shared that 
Metro has made updates to the annual reporting template and has contracted with Homebase to 
establish a compliance framework. She added that Metro is building out its data and compliance 
team to support data review and analysis. She shared that staff would continue to provide the 
Committee with quarterly updates on recommendations.  

 
Next Steps  
Susan shared that it would be helpful to start getting one meeting packet with all the materials in it, 
including the updated annual report, last year's recommendations, and the progress update chart.  

Ben shared that the next steps include:   

• Oversight Committee to share Annual Report feedback by 1/15 to Kris 

• Metro to share recommendation updates in a written response 

• Metro to provide one meeting packet moving forward 

• Next Meeting: January 29, 9:30 am-12 pm 

o Potentially a hybrid meeting 

o Receive Committee recruitment update 

o Receive detailed Housing Multnomah Now update 

o Receive TCPB presentation  

  

 

Adjourn 

Adjourned at 12:00 pm. 





The following materials were received 

during the meeting. 



Public Comment  
Tri-County Planning Body  
February 14th, 2024 
 
My name is Andrew McGough and I’m the Executive Director of Worksystems, the Workforce 
Development Board that serves Washington and Multnomah counties. 

As the Workforce development Board, we are authorized by the Governor in collaboration with local 
elected officials to invest and manage certain pots of federal and state resources to improve the 
quality of the regional workforce. We are not a direct service organization. Rather we fund and 
coordinate services through a broad network of community-based, public agency, and education 
service providers who provide the training and supports people need to connect and succeed in the 
regional labor market.  

While we have services to address the needs of most job seekers, our resources are prioritized to 
serve people in poverty, including individuals experiencing housing instability and/or 
homelessness. Partners across our network work together toward the shared goal of helping the 
populations we serve to enter career-track employment in high-demand, middle-income jobs.  

Currently we have over 40 funding sources working together to build a better public workforce 
development system. The Multnomah/Washington County system consists of: 

• 5 Comprehensive WorkSource Centers 
• 3 Express Centers, including express centers at Central City Concern, and the Washington 

and Multnomah County jails. 
• Over 30 community-based and education partners 
• 7 government agency partners 

Our model, which combines the cultural and population competencies of community-based 
organizations and connects them to State agency and education partners, served about 25,000 
people last year. 

A few months ago, we were asked by the Mayor’s Office to look for solutions to connect houseless 
and formerly houseless residents to work as part of the region’s broader efforts to end 
homelessness. 

While the City is a major proponent and investor in our model, they wanted us to look for ways to 
expand the model beyond traditional employment by including access to non-standard work.  The 
City recognized that many people aren’t ready, or may never be ready, for traditional employment 
and would benefit from access to non-standard work.  

We surveyed the landscape to see what kinds of work activities are being supported by public 
investments to help connect homeless and other vulnerable populations to work. As the 
coordinator of the public workforce system, we have a clear understanding of how certain 
resources and partners are knit together to help transition low-income residents to traditional 
career track employment. We do not, however, directly engage with all the public investments being 
made to connect people to work and especially non-standard work. 

But what if we were able to organize all of our public investments intended to connect people to 
work – from a couple hours picking up trash to a wage subsidy to complete the final training needed 
to land a job with a local semi-conductor manufacturer – and we worked together to identify shared 



Public Comment  
Tri-County Planning Body  
February 14th, 2024 
 
priorities, meet people where they are, increase opportunities, and build clear pathways for people 
to advance when they are ready? 

FlexPDX is a program to realize this vision – to align public investments, build clear, accessible 
pathways, and solve shared regional challenges.  

If someone without work feels able to do even a few hours today, FlexPDX meets them where they 
are. Immediate work provides a chance to prove reliability and start moving up a ladder of better 
skilled, better paid, assignments. There is support from Work Navigators who may have lived 
experience and connections to Career Coaches when individuals are ready for advanced work, 
training, and private sector placement. 

Our region’s CBO’s are key. Each has its own focus, strengths, and relatability for people in need. 
Each must be empowered to serve their target populations in their own way. But we must also build 
better connections between our CBO network to maximize opportunities and build pathways 
between activities and organizations. 

Our diverse CBO eco-system needs enabling infrastructure that handles administration, allowing 
seamless progression between organizations as an individual becomes more confident and 
capable. There must also be detailed, real time, reporting of budgets, activities, and outcomes.  

The solution is FlexPDX and these are its key components: 

Work Navigators: Individuals, including those with lived experience, trained in accordance with 
Worksystems’ Career Coaching model and based at CBO’s around Portland. Each manages a case 
load of people needing help with labor market entry and early-stage progression. 

 A ladder of skills and work: Too often, people needing support come out of a program with skills 
and experience but lack a connection to further work. We are working with multiple CBO’s and 
public agencies to assemble a comprehensive ladder of work – from no barrier hourly work to 
licensed occupations. The goal is to build a skills and organizational progression for people to move 
through, entering at the appropriate level, organization and time, and moving up and over as skills 
and competencies are acquired with a goal of ultimately achieving unsupported, employment at 
the top. 

 An online platform: Developed originally in British government programs to widen labor market 
access, our FlexPDX platform aligns people with opportunity hour-by-hour with each person in 
control of their availability, types of work, travel area, and other parameters. Each CBO has a 
version of the app and web system configured for their rules, branding, and processes. 

 Reporting: Taxpayers and elected officials need to see what is being done to address regional 
issues. Our platform will generate granular reports on what is being spent, where activity – such as 
city beautification – is happening, what skills are being gained by the workers, and how many 
people are entering the labor market. 

 

 



Public Comment  
Tri-County Planning Body  
February 14th, 2024 
 
 

Who is involved in FlexPDX? 

  

• Worksystems: The public workforce board covering Washington and Multnomah counties 
leads the program. 

• Cultivate Initiatives: Our first CBO partner providing input into early decision making. 
• Regional Oversight Panel: CBO’s are being approached about being part of a group 

overseeing implementation of FlexPDX. 
• MM4A non-profit: Technology partners who emerged from British government programs to 

serve non-standard workforces at scale. 
• Portland State University: PSU’s Center for Homelessness and Action is conducting 

research to identify publicly subsidized work, activities, and resources. 

We would be honored to offer an in depth review of this initiative and consider ways we could work 
with the Tri-County Planning Body to implement and scale the model. 



TCPB Proposed 2024 Work Plan 
Dra� 2.13.2024 
 

TCPB Work Plan recommenda�ons: 

• An annual work plan will provide the commitee with project clarity, and staff �me to plan and 
priori�ze progress for each of the six TCPB goals. There will be addi�onal areas of regional work 
that the commitee will consider and those will be added to this workplan, as those 
opportuni�es, may arise.  

• Generally, each agenda will focus on: 1) a progress update (a discussion/informa�on item for the 
commitee), that may involve preliminary recommenda�ons, or 2) an implementa�on plan 
(requiring commitee ac�on), for one regional goal. This pace will help Coun�es and Metro to 
move the work forward and keep the commitee informed. 

• The annual workplan includes two financial overviews of the RSIF a year, to keep the commitee 
informed on budget and expenditure trends. 

• At the end of the work plan year, one mee�ng focuses on an evalua�on of the goals, and 
considera�on for next year’s work plan. 

• Agenda items below are tenta�ve and subject to change as necessary. Mee�ngs may need to 
be cancelled at the discre�on of staff to ensure that TCPB mee�ng are as produc�ve and 
frui�ul as possible.   

Dra� Work Plan schedule: 

Note: goals are numbered and listed in the order of understood ‘readiness’. This can and should be 
discussed further by staff and reorganized as needed before presented to the TCPB. 

Tri-County Planning Body – 2024 Work Plan 
Dra� 2/13/2024 

 
 

Month Meetings 
January 1/10 TCPB Meeting 

• Goal 2: Healthcare Systems Alignment Update 
February 2/14 TCPB Meeting 

• SHS Audit  
• Goal 1: Regional Landlord Recruitment and Retention  
• HMIS Strategic Sourcing Analysis Update 

March 3/13 TCPB Meeting 
• Goal 3: Coordinated Entry Update 

April 4/10 TCPB Meeting  
• Goal 4 and 5: Training and Technical Assistance Update 

May 5/8 TCPB Meeting  
• Goal Update or Implementation Plan 

June 6/12 TCPB Meeting 
•  Goal Update or Implementation Plan 

July 7/10 TCPB Meeting 



• RSIF Financial Update 
August 8/14 TCPB Meeting 

• Goal Update or Implementation Plan 
September 8/14 TCPB Meeting 

• Goal Update or Implementation Plan 
October  10/9 TCPB Meeting 

• Goal Update or Implementation Plan 
November 11/13 TCPB Meeting 

• Evaluation of goals, recommendations for 2025 work plan 
December  12/11 TCPB Meeting 

• 2025 Draft Work Plan review 
• RSIF Financial Update 

 
 



Metro Regional Supportive Housing Services
Tri-County Planning Body| February 14th, 2024

Meeting will start at 4:00pm



Welcome and 
Opening Remarks



Agenda

4:00pm Welcome and Introductions

4:10pm Public Comment

4:15pm Supportive Housing Services Audit 

4:35pm Regional Landlord Recruitment and Retention

5:15pm HMIS Strategic Sourcing Analysis Update – Multnomah County

5:55pm Closing and Next Steps

6:00pm Adjourn



Public Comment



Worksystems

Andrew McGough



Benefits
• Maximizes capacity and expertise to “meet people 

where they are” in a culturally and population 
responsive environment

• Increases Scale & Efficiency

• Aligns Resources (Financial & Non-Financial)

• Enables Mutually Developed Guidelines, Outcomes & 
Oversight

• Reduces Fragmentation and Duplication

• Promotes Systemic Solutions & Collective Impact

• Accelerates Action 

• Supports Networking & Learning

• Creates Shared Accountability

• Addresses Labor Shortages

Worksystems, the Portland 
Metro Workforce Development 

Board

Coordinating a regional workforce 
system that promotes individual 

prosperity and business competitiveness•Population Expertise
•Outreach
•Recruitment
•Training
•Placement

Service Providers

•Advancement & Retention
•Support Services
•Career Coaching and Case 
Management
•Mentoring

•Fund Management
•Industry and Community 
Engagement
•Systems Coordination
•Procurement/Compliance

•Resource Development 
•Research
•Communities of Practice
•Tracking & Reporting
•Continuous Improvement
•Technical Assistance
•Investor support

Worksystems

•Identify Shared Goals & 
Outcomes
•Establish population 
and service priorities

•Oversee Progress/Results
•Problem Resolution
•Continuous Improvement

Successful 
Workers

•Supported
•Welcomed
•Successful

•Prepared
•Skilled
•Trained

Workforce 
Development Board



The Public Workforce System

Beaverton WorkSource 
Center

241 SW Edgeway Dr.

N/NE WorkSource Center
37 N Webster

Tigard WorkSource Center
11950 SW Garden Pl., Suite 100

SE WorkSource Center
6401 SE Foster Rd.

Gresham WorkSource 
Center

18633 SE Stark



FlexPDX: Key Components

WORK 
NAVIGATORS 

A LADDER OF 
SKILLS AND WORK 

AN ONLINE 
PLATFORM 

REPORTING



Supportive Housing 
Services Audit 



Regional .
 Landlord .

 Recruitment . 
Proposal .



February 2024 Regional Landlord Recruitment

TCPB Goal
Increase the availability of readily 
accessible and appropriate housing units 
for service providers.



Considerations 

• Racial equity

• Compliance with Charter

• Feasibility

• Staff capacity

• Infrastructure

• Local Implementation Plan Alignment

• Budget

• Unintended consequences

• Duplicative

February 2024 Regional Landlord Recruitment

TCPB Filtering Criteria



Types of  Regionalism 

Policy
Setting standards in definitions, 

allowances, and approaches that 
are universal across the region. 

This increases clarity for providers 
working across the region, as well 

as those engaging with the system, 
including clients and 

landlords/property management.

February 2024

Programmatic
Centralizing a program function 
within one county. This includes 
some administrative and policy 

coordination but can allow for local 
policy and administrative needs on 

top of the centralized function.

Regional Landlord Recruitment

Administrative
Consolidating administrative 

functions across the three 
counties. This could mean 

centralizing a function to decrease 
administrative costs and lessen 

impact to capacity across the 
three counties.



Regional Investment 
Fund Proposals



Communication and education plan

Secure consultant

Marketing 

Develop communication and education materials and a recruitment strategy in collaboration with 

landlord organizations

Funds to support a marketing plan to landlord and landlord organizations  

Support county landlord liaisons

Resources to continue and expand landlord liaison work withing the counties 

February 2024 Regional Landlord Recruitment



Align financial incentives 

Training on existing incentives

Develop and implement a training series to ensure case managers understand and offer all allowable incentives. 

This overlaps with the training and technical assistance goals.

Expanding incentives feasibility 

Integration with communication and education plan

Support convenings and research to understand the ability to expand incentives to other housing programs.

This work will happen in coordination with the comms and education plan with landlords.

February 2024 Regional Landlord Recruitment



Tracking and access to unit inventory 
Multnomah County pilot

Housing Connector

Fund Multnomah County’s partnership with Housing Connector as a pilot to determine value of a platform 

to track unit access and outcomes. 

Study pilot’s impact

Analyzing results from the pilot and determining impact of broader adoption. 

February 2024 Regional Landlord Recruitment



Quality problem solving services
Clackamas County pilot

Landlord support line 

Fund Clackamas County’s landlord support line with the potential to make the support line regionwide.

Integrate best practices into provider training (align financial incentives proposal)

Ensuring case manager trainings include how to best support landlords when they have problems will also 

improve landlord retention. 

February 2024 Regional Landlord Recruitment



Investigate property management needs
Metro led effort

Fund study

Contracting with an entity to examine property management needs in collaboration with the counties and 

the state. 

February 2024 Regional Landlord Recruitment



RIF Investment*
$7.2-7.5** million for these proposals and 
support work underway in alignment with the 
landlord recruitment goal. 

• Exact cost determinations will be developed as the 

proposals  are implemented  

• If approved by TBPC, Metro and the counties will develop 

implementation plans for the proposal and provide a 

status update quarterly. 

February 2024 Regional Landlord Recruitment

*Roughly $37-49M is in the RIF currently
**Full RMP funds now included



Questions? 
Recommend approving RIF 
resources and advancing these 
proposals to development 
implementation plans.

February 2024 Regional Landlord Recruitment





The Tri-County Planning Body requested the counties to return with a regional plan/proposal 
about what areas could be prioritized with information as to why any areas would not be 
prioritized. This plan/proposal would consider the Focus Strategy memo, survey results from 
the December meeting and meeting summary from when the Landlord Recruitment Goal 
Language was approved.

We want to recognize that while this document is not what was requested, we see promising 
opportunities. We ask that Metro assume leadership and work with the counties to create an 
actual implementation plan, which includes the recommendations adopted at our prior TCPB 
meetings, based on the Focus Strategies report.  If a recommendation is not viable, we ask 
Metro to identify it and explain why not.  We further ask Metro to inform us when it can 
present such a plan for our consideration.



© 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved. Gartner is a registered trademark of Gartner, Inc. or its affiliates. This presentation, including all supporting materials, is 
proprietary to Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates and is for the sole internal use of the intended recipients. Because this presentation may contain information that is confidential, 
proprietary or otherwise legally protected, it may not be further copied, distributed or publicly displayed without the express written permission of Gartner, Inc. or its affiliates.

February 2024
Engagement #: E000653 | Version 2

HMIS Technology 
Strategic 
Sourcing Analysis
Recommendations and 
Final Report Executive 
Summary



25 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.
RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653

Gartner partnered with Multnomah County IT to conduct a 
Strategic Sourcing Analysis of the Tri-County HMIS Implementation

Context:
The Tri-County’s current Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) was implemented in 2006 with the primary 
purpose of data collection for HUD reporting and administration. Since that time, the homelessness response system has 
changed dramatically, including changes to the overall homeless services landscape, regionalization of services, and recent 
State and Regional investments in Housing Services that will advance the system over the next 7-10 years.

Project Goal and Objectives:
 Establish a comprehensive understanding of the Tri-County HMIS current state and future state vision.

 Identify the business capabilities required in the future state vision.

 Identify gaps between the current HMIS usage and the future-state vision for the HMIS.

 Provide insights into the current market of HMIS products and solutions available.

 Provide recommendations and a final report to guide the Tri-County area toward achieving their HMIS vision.



26 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.
RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653

Findings from provider, participant, program staff, system 
administrators, IT, County, and Regional Leadership formed the 
foundation of this HMIS analysis. 

Step 2: IdentifyStep 1: Understand Step 3: Research Step 4: Analyze

Developed a Business Capability 
Model (BCM) for the Tri-County 
homelessness response system’s 
needs for the HMIS.
Completed a Gap Analysis 
identifying which of the defined 
capabilities are performed within the 
HMIS.

Structured a Market Scan 
Framework based on the BCM and 
Vision to apply against potential 
HMIS vendors.
Performed a Market Scan analyzing 
the top five best-fit HMIS 
solutions based on the Market 
Scan Framework.

Identified key project findings 
about the Tri-County HMIS and its 
support system.
Crafted Recommendations and a 
roadmap to address key findings as 
part of a Final Report.

Conducted 20+ stakeholder 
interviews and reviewed 
documentation to inform a Current 
State Summary and Future State 
Vision for the Tri-County HMIS.



27 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.
RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653

Stakeholders consistently envision an HMIS that supports all the 
care delivery needs of a modern homelessness response system.

Facilitate cooperation 
within and across 
systems of care

Provide easy access 
to the information 
needed to make 

strategic decisions

Ensure compliance 
with HUD and other 

reporting 
requirements

Enable equitable 
access for people 

seeking care

Provide an effective 
tool to support people 

providing care

Enable the goals of 
each county 

throughout the 
Tri-County area

Provide a consistent 
tool for standardized 
data collection and 

analysis

Facilitate regional 
strategies and data 

standardization across 
the homelessness 
response system



28 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.
RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653

Key Takeaways

The Legacy HMIS cannot fully support the expanded HMIS vision. 
The HMIS impacts the homelessness response system’s 
effectiveness and limits its insights.

The entire Tri-County regional homelessness response system relies on the HMIS, a siloed, 
outdated, compliance-focused platform with poor quality data as its single source of insight.

The HMIS hinders the Tri-County area’s ability to effectively demonstrate the impact of 
funding being spent, measure the effectiveness of housing interventions, ensure 
equitable care, and efficiently meet compliance reporting requirements. 

The HMIS is poorly designed for current needs – users are actively working around and 
against the system, creating security, data quality, and client care issues.

Functional and technical limitations of the legacy HMIS hamper the ability of the Tri-
County homelessness response system to achieve its vision for the HMIS as a tool that 
supports care delivery.

1

2

3

4



29 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.
RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653

There are significant business capability gaps in the legacy HMIS 
solution – only 8 out of 50 capabilities are fully performed within 
the HMIS.



30 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.
RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653

Few business capabilities are done exclusively in the HMIS, and 
many are not done inside the current HMIS at all.

The HMIS does not fully support many essential business capabilities, dramatically increasing the efforts required to 
complete them and the burden placed on providers and county staff. These capabilities include:

Outreach & Engagement
 Population & Service Mapping

Housing Management
 Housing Voucher Management

Coordinated Entry
 Housing Prioritization

Care Coordination
 Case Conferencing
 Care Transition Management
 Communication Support

Participant Management
 Grievance Tracking

Provider Management
 Provider Data Sharing Agreements
 Provider Performance Management

Participant Self-Service
 Information Access & Viewing
 Information Submission & Updates

Fund Management
 Fund Profile Management

Reporting & Analytics
 Dashboarding
 Data Analysis & Visualization

Several of these capabilities are critical to achieving the expanded HMIS Vision.



31 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.
RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653

Technical limitations of the current HMIS restrict the ability to 
perform many business capabilities within the current solution.

The current HMIS does not support:

Data warehousing for collecting data from 
multiple systems of care5

Integrations with other solutions for 
efficiently sharing information4Mobile compatibility for access in the field1

Customized analytics and dashboarding 
for drawing insights6

Geospatial data for logging services2

File imports for easily entering bulk data3

As a result of these limitations, the current HMIS solution hampers the Tri-Counties’ ability to work towards 
their collective vision for the HMIS.



32 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.
RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653

Improvements can be made to the legacy solution to help address 
some of the gaps. 

Key capabilities that re-configuring the system may improve:

Housing Inventory 
Management

Participant Self-Service

Eligibility

Dashboards Data Analysis & 
Visualization

Case Conferencing

Data Input & Output

Caseload Management

Key pain points to 
address with the 
legacy vendor:

 Lack of data visibility
 Resolution of duplicate 

records
 Minimizing creation of 

duplicate records

The Tri-Counties will need to determine the appropriate level of resources to invest in the legacy solution 
given that it cannot meet all the Counties’ desired capabilities. 



33 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.
RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653

Key Takeaways

There are solutions in the market that are likely to better meet the 
Tri-Counties’ HMIS vision and needs.

There are two primary HMIS vendors that service the 15 Continua of 
Care (CoCs) with the largest homeless counts. These vendors are the 
most likely to meet the Tri-Counties’ HMIS vision and needs.

There are additional vendors that may also meet the Tri-Counties’ 
needs but are less experienced with complex CoCs or are less HMIS-
focused. 

1

2

These solutions all offer significant functional and technical benefits over 
the Tri-Counties’ legacy HMIS solution.3



34 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.
RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653

Criteria Vendors

OVERALL

Functional Needs

Technical Needs

Vendor / Product 
Alignment

Other large, complex Continua of Care use primarily two vendor 
solutions that are better aligned to the Tri-Counties’ HMIS needs.

Level of Fit L M H

H

LH

H

H

H

M

M

M

M

M

L

H

H

H

H

M

Denotes Tri-County legacy HMIS 
vendor

H

H

Other than the Tri-County implementation, all HMIS for the 15 HUD-defined Continua 
of Care with the largest homeless counts as of 2023 are provided by Bitfocus or 
Eccovia or have a custom local solution.

H



35 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.
RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653

Key Takeaways

Implementation of a new HMIS will be required to provide the 
Tri-Counties with the desired functional and technical capabilities 
to achieve the expanded HMIS vision.

The Tri-Counties will need to prioritize the business and technical 
capabilities required for the HMIS and determine the best 
procurement strategy to acquire the solution that best supports and 
enables the HMIS Future State Vision. 

The HMIS procurement will require business process reengineering to 
understand how to operationalize the expanded HMIS vision and ensure 
the effectiveness of the new HMIS.

1

2

Identifying and addressing participant, provider organization, and staff 
needs in advance of implementation will be critical for success. 3



36 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.
RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653

Identified recommendations position the Tri-County to achieve its 
expanded HMIS vision. 

The recommendations on the following pages ensure:

All short and 
long-term HMIS 
decisions are 
focused toward 
achieving the 
same vision

A fully capable 
HMIS solution 
enables the HMIS 
vision in the 
long-term

The right 
stakeholder 
representation is 
involved in HMIS 
decision-making 
at the right levels

Limited 
investments 
improve use of 
the legacy HMIS 
in the short-term

A comprehensive 
strategy ensures 
the value of the 
HMIS data to the 
Tri-County 
homelessness 
response system

1 2 3 4 5



37 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.
RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653

Recommendation Urgency Effort Complexity

REC-01: Discuss and approve HMIS governance model Do Now Low Complex

REC-02: Initiate and operationalize HMIS governance model Do Next Medium Moderate

REC-03: Formally adopt and socialize expanded HMIS vision Do Next Low Moderate

REC-04: Complete transition of legacy HMIS administration Do Soon Low Moderate

REC-05: Prioritize enhancements to address legacy HMIS gaps Do Soon Medium Moderate

REC-06: Prepare for procurement and contract for new HMIS Do Soon Medium Complex

REC-07: Develop and implement data and reporting strategy Do When Ready High Complex

REC-08: Prepare for and successfully implement new HMIS Do When Ready High Complex

Gartner has identified 8 recommendations to best position the 
Tri-Counties to achieve its expanded HMIS Vision. 



38 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.
RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653

Recommendation

REC-01: Discuss and approve HMIS governance model

REC-02: Initiate and operationalize HMIS governance model

REC-03: Formally adopt and socialize expanded HMIS vision

REC-04: Complete transition of legacy HMIS administration

REC-05: Prioritize enhancements to address legacy HMIS gaps

REC-06: Prepare for procurement and contract for new HMIS

REC-07: Develop and implement data and reporting strategy

REC-08: Prepare for and successfully implement new HMIS

Potential Timeline for Recommended Activities

2024 2025

FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR



39 © 2023 Gartner, Inc. and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.
RESTRICTED | Engagement: E000653

Contacts

Gartner
Min Chong
Associate Director
State and Local Government
Gartner Consulting
Phone: (651) 497-1130
Email: Min.Chong@gartner.com

Client
Sim Ogle
Deputy Chief Information Officer
Multnomah County IT
Phone: (503) 988-1265
Email: sim.ogle@multco.us

Gartner
Chris Ragan
Senior Managing Partner
State and Local Government
Gartner Consulting
Phone: (916) 420-1860
Email: Chris.Ragan@gartner.com

Gartner
David Lynch
Consultant
Gartner Consulting
Phone: (815) 978-6887
Email: David.Lynch@gartner.com

Gartner
Wadie Rophael
Expert Partner
Gartner Consulting
Phone: (916) 792-5689
Email: Wadie.Rophael@gartner.com

Client
Dan Cole
IT Portfolio Manager
Multnomah County IT
Phone: (971) 678-0879
Email: daniel.l.cole@multco.us

Client
Maegan McHenry
IT Project Manager
Multnomah County IT
Phone: (503) 467-9722
Email: maegan.mchenry@multco.us



Closing and Next Steps



Next Steps

• Post approved meeting summary online

• Next meeting: March 13, 2024



Meeting Adjourned



file:///C/Users/detersm/Downloads/GMT20240215-000405_RecordingnewChat.txt[2/20/2024 10:11:56 AM]

01:09:44 Metro Housing Department: Hello everyone, please ensure your chat is set to "Everyone" instead 
of "Hosts and panelists." Thank you.
01:15:33 Metro Housing Department: From Yvette Hernandez to All Panelists 04:13 PM
Hi Hunter
01:16:01 Metro Housing Department: Thanks for greeting the familiar faces, please ensure your chats are 
set to "Everyone!" Thank you.
01:16:22 Metro Housing Department: From Vahid Brown (he/him) to All Panelists 04:15 PM
taking a call from our EOC, brb
02:30:37 Eboni Brown: I want to yield and allow members to ask questions
02:40:54 Metro Housing Department: From Cristina Palacios to All Panelists 05:39 PM
I like to talk. I raise my hand but others go in front of me
without raising their hand
02:47:16 Eboni Brown: I don’t need to be called on but do we want to vote to move forward or regroup 
next month?
03:07:55 Zoila Coppiano: I agree
03:09:40 Eboni Brown: I agree
03:14:34 Eboni Brown: Okay bye thanks
03:14:38 Zoila Coppiano: 
03:18:13 Vahid Brown (he/him): thanks all, have a good evening

Zoom Chat


	Binder1.pdf
	2024-02-14-tcpb-meeting-packet.pdf
	b9b67b90-3f20-40f1-8de6-c7d57deb49ec.pdf
	Welcome and Introductions
	Public Comment

	82aceae6-a1d1-40bf-8a74-525d9c5e4f7d.pdf
	Default Section
	Slide 1: HMIS Technology Strategic Sourcing Analysis  Recommendations and Final Report Executive Summary
	Slide 2: Gartner partnered with Multnomah County IT to conduct a Strategic Sourcing Analysis of the Tri-County HMIS Implementation
	Slide 3: Findings from provider, participant, program staff, system administrators, IT, County, and Regional Leadership formed the foundation of this HMIS analysis. 
	Slide 4: Stakeholders consistently envision an HMIS that supports all the care delivery needs of a modern homelessness response system.
	Slide 5: The Legacy HMIS cannot fully support the expanded HMIS vision.  The HMIS impacts the homelessness response system’s effectiveness and limits its insights.
	Slide 6: There are significant business capability gaps in the legacy HMIS solution – only 8 out of 50 capabilities are fully performed within the HMIS.
	Slide 7: Few business capabilities are done exclusively in the HMIS, and many are not done inside the current HMIS at all.
	Slide 8: Technical limitations of the current HMIS restrict the ability to perform many business capabilities within the current solution.
	Slide 9: Improvements can be made to the legacy solution to help address some of the gaps. 
	Slide 10: There are solutions in the market that are likely to better meet the Tri-Counties’ HMIS vision and needs.
	Slide 11: Other large, complex Continua of Care use primarily two vendor solutions that are better aligned to the Tri-Counties’ HMIS needs.
	Slide 12: Implementation of a new HMIS will be required to provide the  Tri-Counties with the desired functional and technical capabilities to achieve the expanded HMIS vision.
	Slide 13: Identified recommendations position the Tri-County to achieve its expanded HMIS vision. 
	Slide 14: Gartner has identified 8 recommendations to best position the  Tri-Counties to achieve its expanded HMIS Vision. 
	Slide 15: Contacts



	add-to-meeting-packet-additional-materials.pdf
	tcpb-02-2024-public-comment-002-revised.pdf
	2024-tcpb-work-plan.pdf
	2024-02-14-tcpb-slides.pdf
	Metro Regional Supportive Housing Services�
	Welcome and �Opening Remarks
	Agenda
	Public Comment
	Andrew McGough
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Supportive Housing Services Audit 
	Regional .� Landlord .� Recruitment . �Proposal .
	TCPB Goal
	Considerations 
	Types of Regionalism 
	Regional Investment Fund Proposals
	Communication and education plan
	Align financial incentives 
	Tracking and access to unit inventory �Multnomah County pilot
	Quality problem solving services�Clackamas County pilot
	Investigate property management needs�Metro led effort
	RIF Investment*
	Questions? 
	Slide Number 22
	Slide Number 23
	HMIS Technology Strategic Sourcing Analysis��Recommendations and Final Report Executive Summary
	Gartner partnered with Multnomah County IT to conduct a Strategic Sourcing Analysis of the Tri-County HMIS Implementation
	Findings from provider, participant, program staff, system administrators, IT, County, and Regional Leadership formed the foundation of this HMIS analysis. 
	Stakeholders consistently envision an HMIS that supports all the care delivery needs of a modern homelessness response system.
	The Legacy HMIS cannot fully support the expanded HMIS vision. �The HMIS impacts the homelessness response system’s effectiveness and limits its insights.
	There are significant business capability gaps in the legacy HMIS solution – only 8 out of 50 capabilities are fully performed within the HMIS.
	Few business capabilities are done exclusively in the HMIS, and many are not done inside the current HMIS at all.
	Technical limitations of the current HMIS restrict the ability to perform many business capabilities within the current solution.
	Improvements can be made to the legacy solution to help address some of the gaps. 
	There are solutions in the market that are likely to better meet the Tri-Counties’ HMIS vision and needs.
	Other large, complex Continua of Care use primarily two vendor solutions that are better aligned to the Tri-Counties’ HMIS needs.
	Implementation of a new HMIS will be required to provide the �Tri-Counties with the desired functional and technical capabilities to achieve the expanded HMIS vision.
	Identified recommendations position the Tri-County to achieve its expanded HMIS vision. 
	Gartner has identified 8 recommendations to best position the �Tri-Counties to achieve its expanded HMIS Vision. 
	Potential Timeline for Recommended Activities
	Contacts
	Closing and Next Steps
	Next Steps
	Slide Number 42


	zoom-chat.pdf
	Local Disk
	file:///C/Users/detersm/Downloads/GMT20240215-000405_RecordingnewChat.txt



